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AREH
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HIGHLIGHTS
=]

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31st March

PMBHE

BE=A="+—HIFE

2019
—ZE-hF

HK$ million
BEET

Change
1t

Revenue

Gross profit

Operating profit

(Loss)/profit for the year

(Loss)/profit attributable to
owners of the Company

Basic (loss)/earnings per
ordinary share (HK cents)

Proposed final dividend per
ordinary share (HK cents)

Gross profit margin

Operating Profit margin

Net (loss)/profit margin

2020
—E-ZF
HKS$ million
BE#ET

A 2,325.0
EF 241.6
H A T 4.8
FE(EB),&F (88.2)
NAEIHEAE AEL

(B18), &= (90.3)
BRI BRER

(B1B),/ BFRCEW) (14.08)
EETRTERRERE

() —
ESTES 10.4%
CE | P 0.2%
F (BB aF &= (3.8)%

2,882.6
275.1
74.3
4.4

13.9

2.00
9.5%
2.6%
0.2%

-19.3%
-12.2%
-93.5%
N/A TE A

N/A i
N/A i
N/A i
+09p.p. B

-2.4 p.p. E‘Eﬁ
N/A i@

REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS

@ Construction Materials

@® Building and Design Solutions

Engineering Plastics

Property Investment and Project Management

FIRERFZIA

® EEMH

® BEEEMLRASE
TREE
FHERENIABREE

11.9%

80.2%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEERE

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated NN RBABMEZERBERARI(ARE ) REWE
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Nal(GE AEE DR TISFE 2 LEZERE Y
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries BHEME -

(collectively, the “Group”) for the respective years as

hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT GEEZR

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
“E_EF  ZE-NE ZE-N§g ZE—tF CE-RE

=ZA=+—-B =B=t—-H =A=+—-H =A=+—-H =RA=+—H

LEE HEE HFE EFE IEEE

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET FET FET FET

Revenue WA 2,325,031 2,882,605 3,032,852 3,022,923 3,380,161
Operating profit/(loss) mERT/ (B1R) 4,812 74,268 (90,680) 400,749 212,535
Net finance costs FHBER (78,400) (75,718) (65,698) (117,121) (63,339)

Share of results of investments FEMRIREZREAEZ
accounted for using equity REZEE

method — net — 58 (12,947) 19,276 14,366 (36,511) (2,927)
(Loss)/profit before BRETIET A
income tax (B#B),/ & (86,535) 17,826 (142,012) 247 117 146,269
Income tax (expense)/credit — FiEH (% H),/ HE (1,616) (13,447) 1,772 (147,981) (75,005)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR)/&F (88,151) 4,379 (140,240) 99,136 71,264
Attributable to: JEAh
- Owners of the Company S YNGIEFE N (90,309) 13,888 (147,712) 101,776 70,105
- Non-controlling interests —FEE s 2,158 (9,509) 7,472 (2,640) 1,159
(88,151) 4,379 (140,240) 99,136 71,264
Dividends g — 12,825 10,057 30,490 17,950

2019/20 Annual Report | i e



AFMBRE

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL SEEERRE
POSITION
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
RIBEZEF RNIZE-NE RIE-NF RIZE—tF RIZE—~E
=A=+—-8 =BA=+—-H =A=t—-8 =A=+-HB =BA=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FAET FAET
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,792,413 1,907,672 1,604,281 1,581,056 2.110,217
Current assets MBEE 940,636 1,088,949 1,527,607 1,802,843 1,421,542
Current liabilities MENBRE (857,014)  (1,070,938)  (1,350,186)  (1,666,950)  (1,118,640)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (959,267) (812,247) (694,261) (586,051)  (1,351,616)
Net assets BESFH 916,768 1,113,436 1,087,441 1,130,898 1,061,503
Equity: R
Share capital A 64,123 64,123 64,055 64,188 64,064
Reserves G 741,722 926,223 993,648 1,045,323 995,360
Capital and reserves TREHEBA
attributable to FER A
owners of the Company L 805,845 990,346 1,057,703 1,109,511 1,059,424
Non-controlling interests FEIEHI MR 110,923 123,090 29,738 21,387 2,079
Total equity R e 916,768 1,113,436 1,087,441 1,130,898 1,061,503
BEBRABRAT

e Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE7#H#



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ITEHMES

Streamline business structure to
effectively maneuver the volatile
market environment

= ES 2T
TR B TS RY
5 PR

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

weiEE

B

Dear Shareholders, B -

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of AABRREBBAERBER AT LENB QA
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited and its (B AEEDNESES((EFg]) REAKE
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby present the HE_Z-TF=-A=T—HLEFE(XFEDZ
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended KEZEEER -

31st March 2020 (the “Year”).
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
ITEMES

It has been an extremely challenging twelve months for the
Group, as major macro events totally disrupted the status
quo, threatening businesses with fast-changing consumption
and investment patterns. For example, as the Sino-U.S. trade
tension fluctuated between constructive discussion and
occasional retaliation last year, the clash between the two
super economic powers have led to a general reservation
in investment in the global market and particularly in China.
There was hope of a reviving operating environment when
the two reached a phase one agreement in December,
yet the positivity was soon fizzled out due to onset of
the COVID-19 pandemic. Under the pandemic, business
operations were suspended and investment plans were
shelved, which has led to a lower take-up rate of commercial
property space in major financial hubs such as Shanghai.
As take-up rate remains the key determinant of a property's
value, and that fair value gain has been a key financial
contributor to the Group’s Property Investment and Project
Management Business, we were unavoidably being affected.

In Hong Kong, the rising number of socio-political activities,
together with the COVID-19 pandemic, have essentially
suspended the bill-passing process in the Legislative
Council and the Finance Committee. Originally looking
forward to the approval of off-site prefabrication projects
as a key growth driver of our Construction Materials
Business, the latest development has hit us hard. And
despite our dedicated effort in securing projects from the
private sector as compensation, it was also slowed by the
prevailing COVID-19, where numerous construction sites
have suspended their operations. Our Building and Design
Solutions Business was also severely impacted, as reducing
foot traffic has also led to shrinking sales.

From the last twelve months, we believe the key lesson is
that the macroeconomic environment could be wild and
unpredictable, and the only way to ease market pressure is
to streamline our operations to ensure maximum flexibility.
During the Year, we tried to minimise our operational gearing
by removing our headquarter in Shanghai, scaling down the
loss-making Engineering Plastics Business and renegotiating
bank loans’ interest rates, such that we can maneuver this
volatile market to the best of our abilities.

e Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ER AR AR
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Looking forward, business visibility remains low, and there
are still many uncertainties that we need to navigate. On
the one hand, we may be back to square one on the trade
deal as Sino-U.S. tension grows; on the other hand, we may
have yet experienced the full financial impact of COVID-19
as microeconomic issues slowly surface. Nevertheless,
the Group will continue to maintain its focus on business
operation, while keeping an eye on suitable market
opportunities that favour a light-asset operation with lower
capital commitment and risk.

Difficult times calls for unity, dedication and commitment. |
would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
my fellow Board members for their contributions, to all staff
for their dedication and hard work, and to our shareholders
for their support under the challenging environment. The
Group will continue to pursue excellence and strive to
deliver sustainable and greater returns to its shareholders
and stakeholders.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ITEHMES

BRI - RHERFARAR - BRI EDF R
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TR WK DA

For the year ended 31st March 2020 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded a net loss of approximately HK$88.2 million,
and a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$90.3 million on revenue of approximately
HK$2,325.0 million, versus a net profit of approximately
HK$4.4 million, and a profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$13.9 million, on revenue of
approximately HK$2,882.6 million last year. The change from
profit to loss for the Year is mainly attributable to a one-off
impairment charge of approximately HK$20.0 million against
the property, plant and equipment; and we recognised a fair
value gain, net of tax of the Group’s investment properties
of approximately HK$81.6 million in last year. Gross profit
for the Year was approximately HK$241.6 million, as
compared to approximately HK$275.1 million last year, while
gross profit margin increased to approximately 10.4% from
approximately 9.5% last year.

The basic loss per ordinary share was HK14.08 cents for the
Year, versus the basic earnings per ordinary share of HK2.17
cents last year.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final

dividend in respect of the Year (2019: HK2.00 cents per
ordinary share).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Dual-drivers in property and
construction materials business
to capture HK-Shanghai synergies

SEI TR EHEE N E R R ER

RRIREBEREE

BUSINESS REVIEW
Overview

Year 2019/20 came with significant challenges in the form
of macro unpredictability. That the social incidents in Hong
Kong, trade conflicts between major nations and the recent
outbreak of coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") have put
tremendous pressure on the Group’s performance. To cope
with these acute challenges, management has implemented
various measures which includes tightening control on
operating costs, streamlining operation process and
organisational structure, improving management efficiency
on inventories procurement and turnover, developing an
effective leasing strategy and increasing liquidity. In the
midst of this erratic economic environment, the Group strived
to maintain its long-term competitive advantages, with a
particular focus on the Property Investment and Project
Management Business.

Following the formation of a co-investment venture (the “HSO
Venture”) with Reco Wisteria Private Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of GIC (Realty) Private Limited
(“GIC") which is wholly-owned by the Minister for Finance
of the Government of Singapore) and the completion of its
first acquisition of Longyu International Plaza last year, the
Group has successfully formed a co-investment venture
(the “Skyline Venture”) with Apollo Skyline Holding Limited
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of one or more private
equity funds managed and/or advised by affiliates of Apollo
Global Management, Inc. (NYSE: APO) (“Apollo”)) in the Year
for the purpose of acquiring the majority of the gross floor
area of Great Wall Financial Building, which is located in the
central business district of Huangpu, Shanghai.

In the Year, the HSO Venture has successfully rebranded
and renovated the commercial building and renamed it as
Central Parkeding’an. The renovation has not only added
value to the quality of the commercial premises, but has also
diversified its tenant mix and improved the rental yields and
occupancy rates.

BEE W RO

E 3 JE) -
M=

RN CRFEREBSEREN AR BN
—F BEENHEENH  KEZHMNESERAR
RIMBENTRESH([2019BRBEEZHE ) GH
AEBNREENNEEN - REUZEUE - &
BEECRDSEER  ETEREERAERE
B BEEEREREREE WEEERENME
HEENME  FIEERNHEERBTREARSE
T - MERBERFETR  AEENEIRNFEBER
BENEBEERET  BARBERBZRMBF

% -

& 2 B2 Reco Wisteria Private Limited (E A& Minister
for Finance of the Government of Singapore &
BB GIC (Realty) Private Limited ([GIC])FET
MEEE2EWNB AR K £RAKERE(HSOS
ERANEREFERETREEREREES 2 5HEK
BBig - AEBERAFE D Apollo Skyline Holding
Limited (& Apollo Global Management, Inc. (4147
BEHR ST APO)([Apollo)) Z BB AR EE K,/
SREFR A ZELEREES CHESE
MR A E) I L — R E 1 % ([ Skyline &
ERAE)  BRKBLR EEEBERZOEERA
ZRMSBAE 2 KEMD BEEE o

RAFEE - HSO R &R AR B E E B E L
K#FE WERRTAEE « FL - BHITENE
RAZBEETCEE  BHEE RESHEPA
¥ Zul YRSEERJFEMEEEK -
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BEE R D

Despite the short-term uncertainties arising from the outbreak
of COVID-19, which have suppressed both occupancy
and rent rates of commercial buildings, the Group remains
cautiously optimistic in the medium to long-term growth in
demand for premium-grade offices in Shanghai. The Group
will maintain its long-term strategy in trawling suitable
investments projects in the Shanghai commercial property
market to capture stable and recurring income.

For the Group’s Construction Materials Business, while
the combined negative effects of the weak demand of
automotive sectors in Mainland China, the social incidents
in Hong Kong and the outbreak of COVID-19 have caused
a decrease in overall segment revenue of approximately
13.9%, it is gradually picking up the momentum in profit
growth. Excluding the one-off reversal of provision for
onerous contracts of approximately HK$40.7 million last
year, the percentage of gross profit margin of Construction
Materials Business increased from approximately 2.3% last
year to approximately 4.0% in the Year.

Moreover, the Group’s Building and Design Solutions
Business also continued to thrive through the challenging
market environment. Through cultivating close business
relationships with our brand partners and improving the
quality of our customer services, its profit before income tax
increased for approximately 19.4% as compared to last year.

Property Investment and Project Management Business

Our Property Investment and Project Management Business
is adept at identifying undervalued or under-utilised
commercial properties for unlocking and creating values
through alterations and additions works, together with the
provision of quality property management services.

Being a niche market player, our Property Investment
and Project Management Business consists of (i) direct
acquisitions of properties for investment such as our
wholly-owned Central ParkePudong; and (ii) investments in
properties via partnerships or investment funds where the
Group takes equity stake and acts as a general partner and/
or an investment manager to earn fee income. As of 31st
March 2020, the Group has partnerships with two leading
private equity funds, GIC and Apollo, on two revitalisation
projects, Central ParkedJing’an and Great Wall Financial
Building, respectively.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ER AR AR

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, supported by the collaborated efforts from
our revitalisation team and partners, the HSO Venture with
GIC has completed the renovation of its first investment
property in May 2019 and successfully rebranded it as
Central Parkeding’an which is a Grade A-office premises
situated in the prime location in Shanghai with 3 metro lines
connections. Despite strong competition in the Shanghai
leasing market, the occupancy rate and average daily rent
rate of Central ParkeJing’an has outperformed by showing
steady increment since the completion of renovation. During
the Year, the Group shared a loss of approximately HK$12.9
million for its investment in HSO Venture, as compared to the
share of profit of approximately HK$20.7 million. The change
from profit to loss of the HSO Venture in the Year as there
was fair value gain recognised for the investment property
held by the HSO Venture last year.

In November 2019, the Property Investment and Project
Management Business has reached another milestone
as it successfully formed a co-investment venture with
Apollo. Following the formation of the Skyline Venture, its
wholly-owned subsidiary entered into sales and purchase
agreements to acquire the majority of the gross floor area
of an under-utilised commercial building in Shanghai,
commonly known as Great Wall Financial Building in
December 2019. As of 31st March 2020, the Group owned
an effective equity stake of 5% in the Skyline Venture.

Great Wall Financial Building is a high-rise landmark located
in the heart of the central business district of Huangpu,
near the intersection of Dapu Road and Xujiahui Road with
a 5-minute-walk from metro station. As a regional landmark
commercial complex, Great Wall Financial Building is host
to Pullman Shanghai Skyway Hotel (a 5-star hotel managed
by Accor Hotel Group), office buildings, conference halls,
catering facilities and retail outlets.

BEE W RO
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BEE R D

During the Year, our Property Investment and Project
Management Business recorded a profit before income tax
of approximately HK$6.3 million on revenue of approximately
HK$93.5 million, versus a profit before income tax of
approximately HK$82.5 million on revenue of approximately
HK$100.0 million last year. The reduction in profit before
income tax is due to the fair value gain of approximately

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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HK$108.9 million from Central ParkePudong last year, as
compared to a minimal fair value loss of approximately
HK$0.8 million in the Year.

Our track record in Shanghai
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Building and Design Solutions Business

Our Building and Design Solutions Business is dedicated
to provide comprehensive value proposition with design,
installation, inventory management, logistics, as well as
technical support services provided for sanitary wares and
fittings and kitchen products. We offer an extensive branded
product portfolio, which gives us a strong base to respond
to the rising consumer demand for high-quality lifestyle
products and enhanced hygiene awareness amidst the
COVID-19 pandemic.

During the Year, the Building and Design Solutions Business
recorded a profit before income tax of approximately
HK$26.1 million on revenue of approximately HK$275.9
million, versus a profit before income tax of approximately
HK$21.9 million on revenue of approximately HK$346.8
million last year. The drop in revenue was due to the
completion of several major real estate and hotel projects
in Hong Kong and Macau last year, together with the
postponement of new hotel upgrade projects due to the
social incidents in Hong Kong as well as the recent outbreak
of COVID-19. Meanwhile, the improvement in profit before
income tax was mainly attributable to the improvement in
gross profit margin and cost containment measures in the
Year.

Construction Materials Business

The Construction Materials Business comprises (i) Hong
Kong construction products processing and distribution;
(ii) reinforcing bar processing and assembly business
conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiary, VSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited; and (iii) PRC surface
critical coil processing and distribution.

The Group has completed the sale of its steel recycling
business operated through a wholly-owned subsidiary,
He Tai Steel Co., Limited, and the steel processing
business in Mainland China operated through its associate,
Changshu Baoshunchang Steel Processing Co., Ltd., with
an aggregated loss on disposal of HK$41,000 recognised
during the Year.
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Facing a volatile market environment throughout the Year,
including the continuous fluctuation in steel price, the
adverse impact arising from the trade conflicts between
major trade nations, the slow down in construction projects
in Hong Kong as a result of social incidents and the recent
outbreak of COVID-19, our Construction Materials Business
is unavoidably affected. During the Year, Construction
Materials Business recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$1,864.8 million, down by approximately 13.9% compared
to last year. Excluding the revenue contributed by the steel
recycling business which was disposed by the Group in April
2019, revenue dropped by approximately 8.2% year-to-year,
as the revenue growth from our Hong Kong construction
product distribution and reinforcing bar processing business
was offset by the decline in revenue from our PRC'’s surface
critical coil processing and distribution business, primarily
caused by the slack in demand from the automotive sector.

Profit before income tax of the Construction Materials
Business was approximately HK$8.2 million for the Year,
versus a profit before income tax of approximately HK$20.6
million in last year as there was the reversal of provision
for onerous contracts of approximately HK$40.7 million last
year. Excluding the aforementioned one-off impact, the gross
profit margin increased from approximately 2.3% last year to
approximately 4.0% this year with profit before income tax
also increased by HK$28.3 million in the Year.

Engineering Plastics Business

Adhering to the Group’s strategy on scaling-down the
Engineering Plastic Business in order to focus on the Group’s
core competencies, Engineering Plastics Business recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$90.8 million in the Year, as
compared to approximately HK$268.7 million in last year
under the unstable economic environment. Benefited from
our concerted efforts on cost containment directives and
measures to screening out customers with too low margin
and/or too high credit risks, the business has recorded a
profit before income tax of approximately HK$1.9 million,
which represents a turnaround from a loss before income tax
of approximately HK$7.4 million in last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Given the combined effect of social incidents and the
outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong, existing construction
projects as well as the launch of new government and private
construction projects have been delayed. Management
has since undertaken an assessment on the impairment of
property, plant and equipment at the end of the Year and
has decided to reset the base of the growth in utilisation of
the Group’s Tsing Yi plant in the near term, in order to reflect
the latest challenging market conditions. As a result, a non-
cash impairment charges of approximately HK$20.0 million
was recognised during the Year.

OUTLOOK
Property Investment and Project Management Business

While COVID-19 has driven up the vacancy rates of
commercial properties and put pressure on rent, the Group
is still cautiously optimistic on the medium to long-term
growth in demand of premium-grade offices in Shanghai,
a city which has a strategic locational advantage and is
regarded as the key financial and economic hub of Mainland
China.

The Group will maintain its focus on the Shanghai market as
a niche market specialist in property revitalisation and value
optimisation and aims to continue to excel in the industry
with a growing and proven track records.

Building and Design Solutions Business

The Group will continue to offer one-stop, high-quality and
well-designed product solutions to our value customers.
Our latest line of sanitary products and fittings will allow us
to capture market opportunities arising from the change in
housing size and the increasing hygiene awareness in Hong
Kong. Leveraging the strong market presence of our brand
partners and our close cooperation with suppliers, along with
our project strategy, we will continue to target sizable and
iconic projects in Hong Kong and Macau.
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Construction Materials Business

We expect the global steel market to remain volatile
due to the uncertainties arisen from trade tension and
geopolitical issues. Also, China's automotive steel demand
is likely remain weak, as its production output continues
to be impacted by environmental initiatives and industry
consolidation. The Group will continue to search for the most
cost-efficient steel supply around the globe and improve
margin for its steel distribution business.

Despite the unpredictable global steel market and the
decline in building and construction expenditure in Hong
Kong in previous years, primarily caused by the completion
of various key construction projects and the staggering
of upcoming government projects pending for funding
approval, the Group remains cautiously optimistic on the
medium to long-term development of the industry in Hong
Kong.

The Hong Kong Government is expected to raise the annual
capital works investment to over HK$100 billion in the next
few years, encompassing public housing projects, hospital
redevelopment and expansion and new towns development.
In addition, favourable policies were also introduced to
support industry upgrade, including the introduction of the
HK$1 billion “Construction Innovation and Technology Fund”
and the promotion in adopting technologies and innovative
methods in the construction industry.

The Group will continue the integration of its steel
processing and distribution businesses, and will raise its
efforts in streamlining the process flow, seizing opportunities
for cross-selling, and providing one-stop solutions to its
customers in order to further reduce overhead cost and
diversify income sources. The Group believes that these
combined policies, together with the rebound in market
demand upon the launch of major construction projects
in Kai Tak and Chek Lap Kok area, will present a solid
foundation for future profit growth.

Engineering Plastics Business

Our Engineering Plastics Business has been undergoing
a major re-organisation over the past few years. Going
forward, the Group will continue to scale down its operation
in an attempt to divert our resources and capital to the core
business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Position

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2019,
as at 31st March 2020, the Group’s total assets decreased
from approximately HK$2,996.6 million to approximately
HK$2,733.0 million. The Group’s inventories increased from
approximately HK$290.7 million to approximately HK$354.9
million, with the average inventory days of supply increased
to 62 days. The trade and bill receivables decreased from
approximately HK$480.5 million to approximately HK$358.9
million, with average overall day of sales outstanding
decreased to 48 days. Net assets value of the Group
decreased from approximately HK$1,113.4 million to
approximately HK$916.8 million, mainly attributable to the
loss for the Year and the translation loss arisen from the
depreciation of RMB for the Group’s investments in Mainland
China. Net assets value per ordinary share was equivalent to
approximately HK$1.26 as at 31st March 2020.

Compared with the financial position at 31st March 2019,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits, decreased by approximately HK$36.5 million to
approximately HK$129.2 million, while borrowings decreased
by approximately HK$76.9 million to approximately
HK$1,415.6 million as at 31st March 2020. Current ratio
increased from 1.02 to 1.10, with gearing ratio (net debt,
which is total bank borrowings minus pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents, divided by capital and
reserves attributable to owners of the Company plus net
debt) slightly increased from 57% to 61%. The Group will
continue to monitor its working capital closely and take
various measures on cost containment and operational
efficiency improvement.

Financial Resources

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The
Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate and foreign
exchange risks; cost efficient funding of the Company and
its subsidiaries; and yield enhancement from time to time
when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group has
always adhered to prudent financial management principles,
including the selection of investment securities according to
the Group’s treasury investment policy.
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The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported
by its bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st
March 2020, about 50.2% of the Group's interest-bearing
borrowings were denominated in HK dollar, about 32.5%
in RMB and about 17.3% in US dollar. These facilities are
either secured by the Group’s inventories held under short-
term trust receipts bank loan arrangement and/or pledged
bank deposits and/or corporate guarantee provided by the
Company. All of the above borrowings were on floating rate
basis. Interest costs of import bank loans were levied on
interbank offered rates plus very competitive margin. RMB
loans of the Group have been obtained from domestic and
foreign banks in the amount of RMB421.5 million. Interest
costs of RMB banking facilities were based on standard
loan rates set by the People’s Bank of China adjusted with
competitive margin.

Charges on Assets

As at 31st March 2020, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$9.1 million (2019: HK$38.9 million) which were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s bill payables; and (ii) investment
properties of approximately HK$1,324.3 million (20109:
HK$1,404.9 million) which were pledged as collaterals for
certain bank borrowings and bill payables (2019: bank
borrowings) of the Group.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK
dollars, US dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK
dollars and the US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its
exposure to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not
material. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will continue
to match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise
exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major
non-HK dollars currency exposures. It is the Group’s policy
not to enter into any derivative transaction for speculative
purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in Note 39 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statement, as at 31st March 2020, the
Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the Year.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group’s financial condition, results of
operations, and business prospects may be affected by
certain risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining
to the Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our
control. The followings are the major risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other possibly risks
and uncertainties which we are not aware of or which may
not be material at present but may turn out to be material in
the future.

Financial Risks

The Group’'s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of RMB, the Group will continue to match RMB
payments with RMB receipts to minimise exchange exposure.
Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major
non-HK dollars currency exposures. The Group always
monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalents to ensure the ability to finance the
Group’s operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in
cash flows to mitigate liquidity risk.
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Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from
inadequate or deficiency in internal processes, people
and systems or from external events. The Group has clear
responsibility and accountability rests with every function at
divisional and departmental levels. The Group are governed
and guided by good standard operating procedures,
proper authorisation policies and reporting framework.
Our management will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time to adjust potential risk response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, competitive environment of steel industry,
performance of property markets and regulatory changes in
regions where our business carry on or investments locate,
which would not be mitigated even with careful and prudent
investment strategy and strict procedure.

Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a
great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great
place to work for our employees.

HUMAN CAPITAL

The Group is focusing on building an elite team to help
lead the Group to future success. Our growth strategy has
always included a strong sense of commitment to people.
We provide competitive remuneration package to attract
and motivate the employees. We always provide a safe and
pleasant working environment with constant learning and
growth opportunities.

As at 31st March 2020, the Group employed 267 staff.
Total staff costs including contribution to retirement
benefit schemes incurred during the Year amounted to
approximately HK$120.6 million. During the Year, no options
have been offered and/or granted to directors and our
employees under the share option scheme adopted on 11th
August 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees. The Group adheres to the principle of recycling
and reducing. It implements green office practices such
as double-sided printing and copying, setting up recycling
bins, promoting using recycled paper and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical
appliance.

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being
and safety.

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, as “Heart to
Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Group in 2010.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures
and monitoring of risk, which help ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
Environmental, Social and Governance Report no later than
five months after the end of the financial year in compliance
with the provisions set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to
our shareholders. We recognise that employees are our
valuable assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in
development of our employees to create loyalty and love to
the Company. We understand the importance of maintaining
good relationship with our stakeholders (employees,
customers, suppliers and business partners) to achieve
our long-term goals. To accomplish this, we continue to get
closer to our stakeholders, build lasting relationship, and
keep good communication to understand their needs and
share with them our business development. During the Year,
there was no material and significant dispute between the
Company and its stakeholders.

APPRECIATION

We are grateful to our dedicated employees, loyal
customers, suppliers, banking partners and shareholders for
their constant support.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
It believes that high standards of corporate governance
provide a framework and solid foundation for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage
business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’
interest in general. The Company has applied the principles
and complied with the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) except for CG Code provision A.2.1 for the year
ended 31st March 2020 (the “Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Company’s Model
Code during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also
applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and
up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
57 to 60 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. One of the Independent
Non-executive Director has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Each of
the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. The Board members have no financial,
business, family or other material relevant relationships with
each other.

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-executive Directors consist of eminent business
executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who
provide independent advices to the management through
their wide range of skills and experiences. The Executive
Directors have regular meetings with general managers of
respective business units and key staff of support units to
discuss major business plans and review operational and
financial performance. The Independent Non-executive
Directors are also invited to participate in special review
meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, to oversee
various aspects of the affairs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
as well as other significant policy and financial matters.
The daily operations of the Group’s business are executed
by the management of the respective business units under
the instruction and supervision of the Executive Committee
which has its specific written terms of reference.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and
interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. Individual attendance records of each Director at
the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the general
meeting during the Year are set out below:

TREGMSE

EXSTZRAEMAKEREREG  FELER
5 2FMTHRS EFE0RENZEER
REAZEEWER) BEXAREXRS  tEEAR
AREMEEZRRNABEEFTEERRLETR -
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Number of meetings attended/held
HE/ BIeaR 2R

Remuneration Audit ~ Nomination General
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EXg® §MZEEE ERZEE REZEE BRAE
Executive Directors: HiTEE :
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew BB LA 4/4 1 NATER 1/1 1/1
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — (Z/EREEHITE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu i 44 NATER  NATER  NATER 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: — BUHHTEE
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny BERIELE 4/4 11 2/2 11 11
Mr. Xu Lin Bao RHELE 4/4 11 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike REEE 44 NJATER 2/2 11 11
Mr. Li Yinquan FEREE 4/4 11 22 N/ATER 11
Total number of meetings held BTEREY 4 1 2 1 1
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Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to give all Directors an opportunity to attend, and
are structured to encourage open discussion. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes and resolutions of the Board are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes and
resolutions, together with any supporting board papers, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely
basis. The Directors are free to have access to the
management for enquiries and to obtain further information
when required. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills and knowledge, and familiarity with the Group through
ongoing participation at Board and Board Committees
meetings. All Directors also have access to external legal
counsel and other professionals for independent advice at
the Company’s expense if they require it.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
All Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices organised by professional bodies and/
or independent auditors to further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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All Directors have confirmed that they have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by attending seminar or conference relating to
the Company’s business or corporate governance and
regulations or by reading materials relevant to their duties
and responsibilities during the Year.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

TEERHRE

EREFCHEIANAFEANDEBLEERALQA

EBREREAMRPIZAN R SHAMNERRM
HBERETZER 2HEEEREETRERD
) o

EXBRZEPHIWNT

Name of Directors

HITEE -
PR A

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu BFHELE
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHRTEF -
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny El e
Mr. Xu Lin Bao RMERE
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike PE S n
Mr. Li Yinquan FEIREE

(FEFEENTE)

Reading
journals, Attending
updates, workshops,
articles seminars,
and/or conferences
Site Visit materials and/or forums
RIEEATI -
B¥ESM - HEIAES -
XER /B HEE- 2%
5 i 2 22 HEAER & SimiE
v v v
v v v
v v v
v v _
v v _
v v _

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Under
the Policy, the Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. Selection of candidates will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives, which would include
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
backgrounds, professional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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At present, more than half of the Directors on the Board
are Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board
composition reflects various cultural and educational
backgrounds, professional development, length of service,
knowledge of the Company and a broad range of individual
attributes, interests and values. The Board considers the
current composition has provided the Company with a good
balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of its business. The Board will continue
to review its composition from time to time taking into
consideration specific needs for the Group’s business.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers
within the Group.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew. CG
Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual. The Board believes
that the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue to
provide the Group with strong leadership, efficiency usage of
resources as well as allow for effective planning, formulation
and implementation of the Company’s business strategies
which will enable the Group to sustain the development of
its business efficiently. The day-to-day management and
operation of the Group will continue to be the responsibility
of the management team under the monitor of the Executive
Committee and Mr. Yao's leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

According to the CG Code, the non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-
election. The Company’'s Independence Non-executive
Directors are appointed for a term of three years and
shall determine upon expiry subject to renewal by mutual
agreement prior to the expiry of the term. All Independent
Non-executive Directors (including all other Directors) are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting at least once every three years according to
the Company’s Bye-laws.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of
which has its specific written terms of reference. Minutes of
all committee meetings and resolutions are taken and kept
by the Company Secretary and, together with any committee
papers, are available to all Board members. The committees
are required to report to the Board on their decision and
recommendations where appropriate.

Executive Committee

Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The Company has adopted a terms of reference of the
Executive Committee in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations applicable
to the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;
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(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out
the duties on the corporate governance functions of the
Company in accordance with its terms of reference.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
and Mr. Li Yinquan, all being Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being an Executive
Director. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure for Directors and senior management and to ensure
that they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution
to the Group’s overall performance, having regard to the
interests of shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Non-executive Directors. No Director or any of his associates
may be involved in any decisions as to his own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of
reference that is in compliance with the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting out its
authority, duties and responsibilities are available both on
the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited (the "HKEXx").

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and determined the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for senior management of
the Company.
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The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting
is stated in the table under “The Board” of this report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of four
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tam
King Ching Kenny (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr.
Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike and Mr. Li Yinquan.
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny is an Independent Non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may
also be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to
discuss special projects or other issues, which the members
consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the HKEx.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2019 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2019 and
recommended to the Board for approval;
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(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the
scope of the audit;

(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2019 and their review on the Company's
condensed consolidated financial statements for the six
months ended 30th September 2019;

(v) reviewed reports from the internal auditor of the
Company regarding their review on the internal control
of the Group; and

(vi) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Audit Committee meetings is stated in the table
under “The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, includes the Executive Director, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee)
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, being
Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Yeung
Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for formulating policy and making recommendations to the
Board on nominations, appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
accessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee has specific written
terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG Code.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee setting
out its authority, duties and responsibilities are available
both on the websites of the Company and the HKEXx.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of Directors, reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
stated in the table under “The Board” of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which
sets out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors. Below are the criteria to select
and recommend candidates for directorship and nomination
procedures and the process.

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall evaluate potential
candidate(s) for election as member(s) of the Board on the
basis of the entirely of their credentials and in light of the
criteria set forth below:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) accomplishment, qualifications and experience relevant
to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in
the Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the
Board and its committees to discharge his duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board;
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(vi) requirements for the Board to have sufficient
independent non-executive directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the independence of
the candidates, if applicable, with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
and

(vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i) the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs
of the Board for additional or replacement Board
members, solicits ideas for possible candidates from
a number of sources, including capable individuals
personally known to and recommended by the members
of the Board and research undertaken by or on behalf
of the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the
Company, as described in (iv) below;

(i) if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate(s), based on the criteria set out in above
selection criteria, and determine whether such
candidate(s) is/are qualified for directorship;

(iii) the Nomination Committee shall select and rank
desirable candidates by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company, and make recommendations
to the Board for directorship; and

(iv) for any person nominated by a shareholder for election
as a Director at any general meeting in accordance with
the Company's Bye-laws, the Nomination Committee
shall apply the same criteria as set out in the above
selection criteria to evaluate and determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.
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The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out
in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board
and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that Board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and
efficiently. The Company Secretary also advises the Board
on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. All Directors may call
upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation
of the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze is the Company Secretary of the
Company. She is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
Ms. Wong undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible for
developing and maintaining the system of internal controls of
the Group to protect shareholders’ interest and to safeguard
the Group’s assets by setting appropriate policies and
reviewing the effectiveness of major control procedures for
financial, operational, compliance and risk management
areas.
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During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm to assist the Board and the Audit
Committee in ongoing monitoring and in performing the
internal audit functions for the Group. The Board and the
Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls on all major operations,
including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions, and have considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial function, and
their training programs and budget, by reviewing the internal
audit reports prepared by the independent professional firm
and management letters submitted by external auditor. Also,
the Board and the Audit Committee met with the internal and
external auditors and management to discuss findings from
their works and recommendations.

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure
obligations as to inside information and has a policy with
regard to the principles and procedures for handling
and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the requirements under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the
need for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting
system and procedures. The Company has taken reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of the inside
information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group who
are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information their duties and obligations in respect of
dealings in the securities of the Company.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the

system of internal controls and risk management was
operating effectively during the Year.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external
auditor of the Company, provided the following services
to the Group and their respective fees charges are set out
below:
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HK$'000
Types of services RIS FET
Audit fee for the Group AEBEZER 2,738
Taxation services RIS RS 194
Total Rk 2,932
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND WENEZHRE 2EE

REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
A statement by the auditor about its reporting responsibilities
is set out in the independent auditor’s report included in this
annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. The Company has
its shareholder’'s communication policy established to
ensure effective and timely dissemination of information
to shareholders and the investment community. The
management from time to time meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations. The
Group also promotes communications with non-institutional
shareholders through public announcements of key
developments of the Company as prescribed under the
Listing Rules, annual general meeting and other general
meetings of the Company. Such general meetings are
presided over and led by the Chairman, supported by other
Directors. The Company’s user-friendly website, http://
www.hkshalliance.com, provides investors with the latest
news, corporate profile, business information and financial
information including announcements, circulars and annual
and interim reports.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and
the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM") to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.
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(B) Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to
which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be
given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to
shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent
to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement
on each such shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings
of the Company, provided that the copy shall be
served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be
given, as the case may be, in the same manner and,
so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of
the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be
served or given at that time, it shall be served or given
as soon as practicable thereafter.
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Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists,
or two or more copies which between them contain
the signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited
at the registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before
the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

(C) Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
For other enquiries, shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company, for the attention of Company
Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-05, 11th Floor, East
Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a

Director are made available at the Company’s website (http://
www.hkshalliance.com).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy which aims to
set out the approach with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and profits retained in the
business for various purposes.

In determining dividend payment ratio in respect of any
particular financial year or period, the Board will take into
account a desire to maintain a constant and stable dividend
level with an overall objective of maximising shareholders’
value over a longer term, and will consider the following
factors in declaring or recommending dividend to the
shareholders from time to time:

(i) financial results of the Company and its subsidiaries;
(i) shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;

(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(viii) statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws
of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws);

(ix) tax considerations; and
(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or
recommend in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the factors under the Dividend
Policy and there can be no assurance that dividend will be
declared or paid in any particular amount for any particular
financial year or period.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Dividend Policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March
2020 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering
plastics; and property investment and project management
businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information
by business segments and geographical markets are set
out in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 70 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (2019: HK2.00 cents per ordinary
share).

During the Year, no interim dividend was declared and paid
to the shareholders by the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Friday, 14th August 2020 (the “2020 AGM"). The register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
11th August 2020 to Friday, 14th August 2020, both days
inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM. During this
closure period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM,
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
branch share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 10th August 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) covering an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators, the
future development in the Group's business, the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, the Group’s
environmental policies and performance and its compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations are provided in the
“Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which shall
form an integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2020 and as at the date of this report,
there were 641,232,315 ordinary shares of the Company
issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company
are respectively set out in Notes 32 and 33 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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ESEHRE

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 34 and 40 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2020, approximately HK$53,986,000 (2019:
Same) of the reserves and approximately HK$17,229,000
(2019: HK$30,198,000) of the retained earnings were
available for distribution to the Company’s owners.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND LAND USE
RIGHTS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and land use rights of the Group
during the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16,
respectively, to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures are set out in Notes 20 and 21, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2020
are set out in Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$3,220,000 (2019: HK$659,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report are as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’'s Bye-
laws, Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew and Mr. Tam King Ching
Kenny will retire from office by rotation at the 2020 AGM and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at such
meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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ESEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”"))
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in Shares and options of the Company

EEREG AEROREEE 2%
mRRE

N2
e

RZZBZZF=ZA=+—0 BEFRAQAZER
TTHRABRAR B K EAEMBEBEE(EERE
BEE GO B HRERG]]) S XV #8) 2kt
MR MR A 2 s /)\F@%ﬁ(a)m
BESRBEGIEXVEE7RESD F YA
EARBARBBHARSMERAB([BRAM])
(BRREESRPEGRI ZZSRERRBLR
{ERB 2 B RORR) + 3 (b) BAFIARERE SR
HIBROIF 35216 T UFE 2 ERMA « 3 (c)iR
BE A AR LR AN E AR A J)MTﬁ+Fﬁ%zZ
EMBERTAESETESFXSORETA([RE

Al ) i 7B & A X R BB 52 P 2 M s Bk )’S%EJZXD
T

ERRzBROREREZER

Number of
Attributable interest to Number of ~ Approximate  share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity the Directors Shares  percentage (Note c) Interest
BREHE
EEE af ESEEL RtgE  BRE (fiitc) CHE 5
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.93% - 89,337,806
Andrew Perfect Capital International Corp. (Nofe a)
aBsE 2412 Perfect Capital International Corp. i 1EEA 2 45 (F%)
LR (Hiita)
Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.70% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Nofe b)
5242412 7 Huge Top Industrial Ltd. 7% BRERE 2 ER(BE)
(Hiztb)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% — 3,918,000
BHBEAA 100% (B#)
283,679,806 44.24% — 283,679,806
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 2,246,622 2,246,622
vkt ERBAA 100% (E#%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% - 5,246,622
RIELE BHBEAA 100% (B#)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
Shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is a sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these Shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (*Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top.
Mr. Yao is a sole director of Huge Top.

c. Details of the interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2020, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the 18 years of age to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate, and no Directors
or chief executives of the Company or their respective
spouses or children under 18 years of age had been granted
any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company nor exercised any such right.

ESEWME

Hrat -

a. BB AE(ThEE D) EBHEE2EHS 2 Q) Perfect
Capital International Corp. ([ Perfect Capital |) BE&#545
ZERAD © Bk Th Perfect Capital 2 ME—E 5
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ESEHRE

PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st
March 2020, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following
entities had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

B EXTEFRED - HERD REEE 2 #ES R
KR - BEZERN R_E_FF=H
=+—B  BARFIREES MG R 336 &
FERERME - NIIEER I KA
THEAREBEESLMEGEIEXVIE2REID
RAMARRWE ZEEIAR

Name

Capacity
HB KA 14

Number of
Shares
R EE

Approximate
percentage

BMOBEDLE

Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.93%
BB A
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.70%
a2kl N o - e
279,761,806 43.63%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.70%
EmEAA
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.96%
B e E=EAA
Note: Htat -
a. These Shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned a. ZER DA Huge Top#A ° Perfect Capital 4 Huge

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2020, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The share option scheme adopted since 12th November
2001 (the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated
on 11th August 2011. Upon termination of the 2001 Share
Option Scheme, no further options will be granted by the
Company thereunder but in all other respects the provisions
of the 2001 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and
all options granted prior to such termination shall continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. The
Company has adopted another share option scheme on
11th August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date (i.e. 11th August 2011) and will expire on 10th
August 2021. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme were contained in the Company’s circular dated 8th
July 2011.

Details of the movements in the share options granted to
the Company’s employees (including Directors) under the
2001 Share Option Scheme and 2011 Share Option Scheme
during the Year were as follows:

2001 Share Option Scheme

ESEHRE

B ERHE

R-ZZEZ—F+— AT - HRAZBREFTS( =
ZE-FEREAEDER _Z——F/\A+—
BRI - — BT —FREREBIRILE - ARF
TEBR_TT-FREREIIROBELE  HH
ZFTAEMARRIDAB R - MR R LR
ZFTARBRE - DR B MR ATIRIRFRITEE - AR
AR =T ——F)\A+—HEM S —AEBRAETE
([ZT——FBERETE]) - —T——FHBRIE
2B EERB2EALAAEBEELEMK
SREREBFAREIN SAEBATHZES
ARRARINAEBZEEANER - —F——
FREEASZAZXMERMBMA —_T——%F
NA+T—R)EF R+ EFE AR _FT—_—4%F
NATRER - —F——FRBBRE 8 Z KIS
HRAQARIBHA-Z——FtANBZREK -

WAEE BB TT—ERREH R =T ——
FRREH AT ALTIER (REEE) 2 BRIE
SEHHEDT :

—ETFEREE

Number of share options

BREZA
Name or Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of Exercise price Beginning during during (o [VIglale} during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share Note  of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
SHEEES
HER RTEH BHH BRTEE Jiif3 KEEY AFERF AFEGE AFEAN  AFEEH REER
Employees:
B8
In aggregate 18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to ~ HK$0.470 1 625,803 — — (625,803) — —
17th September 2019
#&t “ZTAFAATNRB “ETNFAAT/\RE 0.470 87T
ZE-NEAATLR
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 9,089,528 — —  (9,089,528) — —
12th October 2019
#it “TTNETATZH ZETNETAT=AE 04043
“2-NE+ATZH
Sub-total 9,715,331 — —  (9,715,331) — —
bt
Others:
Hit:
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 3,116,553 — —  (3,116,553) — —
12th October 2019
it “ERAFTATEH ZETNETATZHE 04043
“2-NETA+ZH
Total of 2001 Share 12,831,884 — — (12,831,884) — —

Option Scheme
—T2-FRRE

sHélsEt
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2011 Share Option Scheme

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

- — ERRRE

Number of share options

BREZA
Name or Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of Exercise price Beginning during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share Note  of the Year the Year the Year the Year JUEREEY the Year
SEENS
S5 &THH BHH BRTER W AEES AFERT AEEGE  AFEAN  AFEHH KEER
Director:
B2
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
15th November 2022
BFEEE ZZ-ZEf-AtAE ZE-Z£T-ATREE 0537ER
ZE-F+-AThAH
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
—Z-n¥-A=+H ZE-RE-AZTHE 0928
—Z-RE-ATAR
Sub-total 2,246,622 — — — — 2,246,622
it
Employees:
Es:
In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,097,027 — — — — 1,097,027
15th November 2022
#t “F-Et-AtAR SF-TFEt-A1AEE  0S7HR
“E-#+-A+EA
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,100,000 — — — — 1,100,000
19th January 2025
#it E-R¥-ACtH ZI-RF-A-HAE 0.928%
—Z-f-A+AR
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 4 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000) — —
19th January 2025
it “Z-1%-A=+H ZT-RF-AZHHE 0928
—Z-RE-ATAR
Sub-total 3,197,027 — — (1,000,000) — 2,197,027
st
Others:
Hif
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622
26th November 2023
Hit ZE-ZFt-AZ B ZE-SHT-BITHHE 104381
=FT-RZTRA
Total of 2011 Share 6,690,271 — — (1,000,000 — 5,690,271

Option Scheme
“T—FERE
BEH)
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Notes:

1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th
December 2014 under the share option schemes were adjusted for the
open offer completed in December 2014.

2. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and
5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th of November in the years
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively and the years onwards
till 15th November 2022.

3. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the
extent of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd
and 4th tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th
January 2025.

4. The share options were vested in three tranches, with each tranche
covering one-third of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-third of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd and 3rd
tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years 2016,
2017 and 2018 respectively and the years onwards till 19th January
2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the Year are set
out in Note 38 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or
may compete directly or indirectly with the businesses of the
Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 22.3% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 42.9% of the Group’s total
purchases. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 10.0% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest
in the five largest suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2020 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in December 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999. He is also the chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive
director of Kader Holdings Company Limited which is a
company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and
Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd. which
is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and
the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr.
Yao serves as the Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National
People’'s Congress of the People's Republic of China, the
chairman of Hongkong-Shanghai Economic Development
Association, the vice-chairman of Shanghai Federation of
Industry & Commerce, the board member of Fudan University
and the chairman of the council of Lingnan University. He
was awarded “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace
by Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in
2008 and “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao
graduated from the University of California, Berkeley with a
bachelor’'s degree in science and Harvard Graduate School
of Business with a master in business administration.

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015 and is a director of its certain
subsidiaries. He joined the Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is
responsible for the daily operations of the business of the
Group and has held various sales and marketing and supply
chain positions in the plastics and steel businesses of the
Group. He was the general manager of Group’s plastic
business from April 2003 to November 2011 and the general
manager of the Group's steel business from December
2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau graduated from Curtin University
of Technology in Australia with a bachelor’'s degree in
commerce (marketing and management).
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EENSHREEABER

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent
non-executive director of other listed companies on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, CCT Fortis
Holdings Limited, Greater Bay Area Investments Group
Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Starlite Holdings
Limited, West China Cement Limited and Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam serves as a member of the
Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive Committee
in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He was also a Past President of The Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam graduated from
Concordia University, Canada with a bachelor's degree in
commerce.

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 71, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the vice chairman of
the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy of Social
Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China Real
Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of
China Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the
chairman of Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the vice
chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association (the
5th and 6th session) and the chairman of executives of Yi-
ju China Real Estate Research Center. He graduated from
Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in EMBA. Mr. Xu is
a senior qualified economist.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ER AR AR
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung is an independent
non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He has over 40 years’ working experience in the
banking industry of Hong Kong and the mainland China. Mr.
Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group in 1972 and
advanced himself in the organisation by taking up different
positions under various business streams including personal
banking, sales and services, operations as well as branches,
regional network and personal wealth management. Since
2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to Shanghai and took
up the role of Branch Manager Shanghai and Head of
Personal Financial Services China of HSBC. In June 2006,
he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited and
appointed as the Head of Personal Financial Service and
Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung was appointed
as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of Personal
Financial Services and Wealth Management in May 2007. He
retired from HSBC Group in January 2014. Mr. Yeung is the
Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce in
Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference Committee (the 11th and 12th
session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded the “Magnolia
Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai Municipal
Government to recognise his outstanding contributions to
the economic and social development, and international
exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a Professional
Diploma in Company Direction by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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EENSHREEABER

Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 65, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2018. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Mr. Li serves as an independent non-
executive director of other listed companies on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, Genertec
Universal Medical Group Company Limited, Million Cities
Holdings Limited, Kimou Environmental Holding Limited and
China Everbright Bank Company Limited (which is also listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Lizhi Inc. which is
a company listed on NASDAQ. He served respectively as
the general manager of financial department, chief financial
officer, vice president of China Merchants Group and chief
executive officer of China Merchants Capital Investment
Co., Ltd from 2000 to 2017. He also served as an executive
director of other listed companies on the main board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China Merchants
Port Holdings Company Limited and China Merchants
China Direct Investments Limited, and China Merchants
Energy Shipping Co., Ltd. which is a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, and as a non-executive director
of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. which is a company
listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Li graduated from
Shaanxi Institute of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s
degree in economics. He was also awarded a master degree
in economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (formerly known as Graduate School of the
People’s Bank of China) and a master degree in banking
and finance for development from Finafrica Institute in Milan,
Italy.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ER AR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 208, which
comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March 2020;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

VR R SRS

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

e  Valuation of investment properties
e Recognition of deferred income tax assets

° Impairment of property, plant and equipment
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

VR R SRS

ERETSEHGE)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BARETEIR

M R IE RS E St = 1E

Valuation of investment properties

RENENGEE

Refer to notes 4(a) and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements

2R B BE N T 4(a) R 15

As at 31st March 2020, the carrying amount of
the Group’s investment properties in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) was approximately
HK$1,324.8 million and a fair value loss of
approximately HK$88,000 was recognised in the
consolidated income statement during the year.
Also, the Group’s joint venture had an investment
property with a carrying amount of HK$3,878.5
million as at 31st March 2020 and a fair value loss
of approximately HK$1.9 million was recognised
during the year. The Group performed valuations on
the investment properties of the Group and its joint
venture as at 31st March 2020, with the assistance
of two independent professional valuers based on
the income capitalisation approach and/or the direct
comparison approach.
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We focus on this area because the valuations are
dependent on certain key assumptions including
market rents, term and reversionary yields and market
prices etc., which require significant management
judgement.

BMEINZEE  BAFEDEARE THRRR &
BEhHEEe HR KREXMHEST MEFTEEREEN
BEARHE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuations of the investment properties included:

B EEEHREMENGEMETHNRF R

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

- AMEBMINEEEMNER RN RFBEE

- Assessing the methodologies used and the key
assumptions with the assistance from our in-
house valuation specialist; and

- EHRMABHEZEROHBET - SHEGEEMERNT
ERFERE

- Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions, including market rents, term and
reversionary yields and market prices etc.,
adopted by the valuers by comparing with
relevant comparable market data and industry
research.

- EBHEBEB AT L BATISEIR RITERR - s
BRIFEANEERRNAGEN  BiEMEHES - B
R W ERHES -

We found the key assumptions were supportable by
the available and comparable market evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

VR R SRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EREFETSEHGE)

Key Audit Matter

(Continued)
BREETSIEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

EARE ORI R ETTE R (E)

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

EEFRBREERR

Refer to notes 4(b) and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements

2R E B BRANT T 4(b) K 22

As at 31st March 2020, the Group has recognised
deferred income tax assets of HK$50.3 million
in relation to the cumulative tax losses of certain
subsidiaries of the Company in different jurisdictions.
RZZEZZEF=A=+—H BB} BIAMLZRDT
FRPEEERNE THE QRS R IEEBRRRLEMN
1S M & E £ 50,300,000 % 7T °

The recognition involved management’s judgement
on the estimation of whether there would be sufficient
taxable profits in future periods to utilise the tax
losses. Key assumptions adopted in management
assessment included forecasted revenue growth
rates and forecasted operating margins.
HRAREMSHEESREBBREARRBERE AR
%) & SR M5 g M) DA M PR B0 745 JE5 48 4t HI i o 3R R RY 14 P R
MEF 2 RBEIEFABAL R E RFEBILEER -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on recognition of deferred income tax
assets included:

BRI ERREMSHEENE R BT EMETHNIEFE
7

- Obtaining management’s profit forecast and
discussing with management about the key
assumptions considered in the profit forecast;

- BUSEEERANTER & EE IR E 5w H s N R F
ZEMNEEMR

- Assessing the reliability of management’s profit
forecast by comparing the actual results for the
current year to prior year profit forecast; and

- BBUBRAFEERFEHBAEFE MR - TG
EIREH RN TR AT M 0 R

- Assessing the key assumptions applied in
the management assessment as to whether
there will be sufficient taxable profits in future
periods to support the recognition of deferred
tax assets, including comparing the forecasted
revenue growth rates and operating margins to
historical and recent performance.

- RHMEEEEMARKEHERE A B MERTOS N B
HRBELEMEREERANEIERR - BRESTEAR
ARBRRREEENBESIRFEFL LR -

We consider management’'s judgement in the
recognition of deferred income tax assets to be
supportable by the available information.
HPRREEEREEMSHEERANHBSIRAE
B H o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

VR R SRS

ERETSEHGE)

Key Audit Matter

(Continued)
BREETSIEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)

EARE ORI R ETTE R (E)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

W% - BERRERE

Refer to notes 4(c) and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements

2B AN T 4(c) K 14

The carrying value of property, plant and
equipment of the Group as at 31st March 2020 was
approximately HK$49.0 million.
RZE_ZTF=RA=+—H  BE5EYZ% BEIHHE
K EREE 44 49,000,000 47T ©

Management has performed an impairment
assessment on certain property, plant and equipment
as at 31st March 2020 to determine the recoverable
amount using value-in-use calculation. Based on the
results of the assessment, it is concluded that there
is impairment amounting to approximately HK$20.0
million.

RZZBEZZF=A=+—HEREEHETYUE BEX
REETREN G REABEASEZEETHAKE S
B o RBFVAER - T B BRIEAX % 20,000,000 7T -

We focused on this area due to the significance of
the balance, the existence of impairment indicators
and the determination of recoverable amount
of these assets, using value-in-use calculation,
require significant judgements and estimates by the
management about the future results of the related
business and the discount rate applied to the cash
flow forecast.

BAETEIULER  AREEREEREAN - FERED
R REREBEBEAELIETZSEENAIRE SR -
EREAMMEAEBNARREEREBNE S REBTERN
BRIR KA BRI R k5t -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment on impairment of property, plant and
equipment included:

BMYE  BERXERENEEENLTETHRET
B

= Obtaining, understanding and evaluating
management’s impairment assessment process;

- WS TRYHEEEBARERGEZR

- Testing the mathematical accuracy of the value-
in-use calculation of the cash flow forecast
and assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology used;

- RRASRE\ANEREEAENRBEREI T
HETAAEARGHEE

- Assessing the key assumptions used in the
future cash flow forecast, including revenue
growth rate and terminal growth rate, based on
the historical performance of the Group and the
development plan based on our discussion with
the management;

- BE E5RENBERRUAREERENRESMAN
BERERAZ AMEARKRRREREFANFEEREK
BREBAERERFOKBIERE

- Assessing the discount rate by benchmarking
them to the rates used by similar companies in

the market.
- UWMSLEEUARMA/MEREAEYE  FF{HER
>__%«__< o

We consider management’'s judgement in the
impairment of property, plant and equipment to be
supportable by the available information.
BMRRERERYE  BELAREBRENHEFIRE
BRI X H -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

VR R SRS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the “Corporate Information”, “Highlights”,
‘Five-Year Financial Summary”, “Chairman’s Statement”,
‘“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate
Governance Report”, “Report of the Directors” and “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” sections, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, and the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” section, which is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

VR R SRS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B2 HEHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’'s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is lvan Au.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26th June 2020

VR R SRS
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

4= A g >
N = .IIU.

For the year ended 31st March 2020 HZE—Z -ZF=HA=+—HItFE

2020 2019
—_ ? —% ﬂi :Q_jlai
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER THET
Revenue WA 5 2,325,031 2,882,605
Cost of sales HEKA 7 (2,083,428) (2,607,507)
Gross profit E 241,603 275,098
Selling and distribution expenses HERMHIML 7 (11,803) (19,226)
Reversal of/(impairment loss) CREEREBRER,/
on financial assets - net (T A) — %8 7 3,020 (4,262)
General and administrative expenses —ﬂx&ﬁﬂ%ﬁ 7 (217,810) (298,720)
Other (losses)/gains - net it (E518) /W — 3% 6 (10,110) 12,513
Net fair value (loss)/gain on Txﬁ%%ZQ/’M“T
investment properties (BR)/ WaFE 15 (88) 108,865
Operating profit RERR 4,812 74,268
Finance income BB 10 1,216 4,920
Finance costs HHER 10 (79,616) (80,638)
Share of results of investments ElhEEREARL
accounted for using the equity method - net REZFEE—FE 21 (12,947) 19,276
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATE B AT (B5E) R A (86,535) 17,826
Income tax expense PR S 11 (1,616) (13,447)
(Loss)/profit for the year E (&8 &5 (88,151) 4,379
(Loss)/profit attributable to: B (EB18), /&7 -
Owners of the Company ADAERA (90,309) 13,888
Non-controlling interests JEHERIM 2,158 (9,509)
(88,151) 4,379
(Loss)/earnings per ordinary share RRAAEBAEEFEAE
attributable to owners of the REBR(H8)/ BRI
Company for the year
Basic (loss)/earnings per share SREA(HER) /BF 13 HK(14.08) cents®fll  HK2.17 centsi{ll
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE(BE) /B 13 HK(14.08) centsBfli  HK2.15 centsi&{ll

& BB P RO P R — G BIRE -

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSNE INCOME
n‘/-ﬁ %ETE o

As at 31st March 2020 R—ZE-FF=H=+—H

2020 2019
—BECBF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FTHER
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER)w=F (88,151) 4,379
Other comprehensive loss: Hib2HEEA :
Items that may be reclassified HEMEH ) BERER
subsequently to profit or loss: Z1ERB
— Change in fair value of financial —BRARBETA
asset at fair value through other Hith2ERA 2 27l
comprehensive income BEANBEE (82) (142)
— Currency translation differences —EHEN =5 (88,438) (74,415)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHM2HEER (88,520) (74,557)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEXHEBRER (176,671) (70,178)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: FE{Y 2 HEEHAEE -
— Owners of the Company S VNETEZY =N (170,433) (55,283)
- Non-controlling interests —IEERIEE R (6,238) (14,895)
(176,671) (70,178)
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income FiARE B E R 5 IR B BE P A B e — OFBOGE o

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e ISR R

As at 31st March 2020 R=ZE-FF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F#&T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE VN 14 48,979 116,767
Investment properties HEME 15 1,324,824 1,413,227
Land use rights - b {5 A 16 — 9,019
Right-of-use assets ERREE 17 32,090 —
Intangible assets mEAE 18 1,493 2,602
Investments accounted for using EEREAR
the equity method ZIE 21 313,823 299,747
Prepayments, deposits FENFIE - 2k
and other receivables H th & W AR 5K 27 18,038 19,084
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTSHEE 22 53,104 47,082
Financial asset at fair value through BEARBEGT AHM
other comprehensive income PEHKAZECRHEE 23 62 144
Total non-current assets IERBNE ELARE 1,792,413 1,907,672
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - Ze2 Kk
other receivables H fth R U BR 5K 27 81,843 115,410
Inventories FE 25 354,859 290,659
Trade and bill receivables FEW BR TR & BB 26 358,932 480,523
Financial asset at fair value BAREBERA
through profit or loss BalorEE 24 15,820 36,698
Pledged bank deposits B IRIRITIT K 28 9,137 38,884
Cash and cash equivalents BehIREEE 28 120,045 126,775
Total current assets MEEELT 940,636 1,088,949
Total assets EEHAR 2,733,049 2,996,621
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EaRkE&E
Equity attributable to owners EXAREEA
of the Company LR
Share capital fEEN 32 64,123 64,123
Reserves G 34 741,722 926,223
805,845 990,346
Non-controlling interests FEEHI MR R 110,923 123,090
Total equity A 916,768 1,113,436
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSlTlON (CONTINUED)
n‘/T\ A X j%ﬁﬂjﬁ;ﬂr% (n\,\)

As at 31st March 2020 R—ZE-FF=H=+—H

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Accrued liabilities JEETEE
and other payables N E b AT AR K 30 11,144 15,246
Deferred income tax liabilities FREMERAE 22 89,541 92,162
Borrowings BE 31 855,083 704,839
Lease liabilities HERE 17 3,499 —
Total non-current liabilities IEREN B EARRE 959,267 812,247
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables FERTER R R R 29 166,929 189,093
Receipts in advance TE U IE 51,296 27,956
Accrued liabilities JEETEE
and other payables R E AT AR K 30 47,170 52,819
Current income tax liabilities EHSHAE 7,371 13,360
Borrowings BE 31 560,555 787,710
Lease liabilities HEBE 17 23,693 —
Total current liabilities mEIBEERE 857,014 1,070,938
Total liabilities BEHAE 1,816,281 1,883,185
Total equity and liabilities EErEEHAE 2,733,049 2,996,621
The above consolidated statement of financial position i &R & B 75 AR Ot 2R R B BE BT /O B 5 — B BIAE o

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the ?v?éﬁﬂ”z#ﬁ?\%ﬁﬁ’\_g_ SFENAZTNBEE
Board of Directors on 26th June 2020 and were signed on its EeffE  WREKRE

behalf.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew Lau Chi Chiu

PkE 278

Chairman Executive Director
*E HITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARBEDE

For the year ended 31st March 2020 HZE—Z -ZF=HA=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RARER A
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserves  earnings Total interest equity
BA  Hitfie  RERA B FEGMER EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAn Thr TEL THBx S
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(MeE32)  (HsE34)  (KiaEs4)
As at 1st April 2018 RZE-NEMA-A 64,055 642,796 346,180 1,053,031 29,220 1,082,251
Profit/(loss) for the year ERRT/(B58) — — 13,888 13,888 (9,509) 4379
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EER
- Change in fair value of financial —BAREESAEMZERAL
asset at fair value through other TREEZAAEER
comprehensive income (Note 23) (Pi3E23) — (142) — (142) - (142)
- Currency transaction differences —RHER = — (69,029) — (69,029) (5,386)  (74,415)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2A(BR)/WALE —  (69,171) 13,888 (55,283)  (14,895)  (70,178)
Transactions with owners in their ~ HBANEERAL
capacity as owners SHETHRS
Exercise of share options TiEERE 68 276 — 344 - 344
Lapse of share options R B = (5,244) 5,244 - - -
Share-hased payment IR RER 2% - 2,311 — 2,311 - 2,311
Capital injection from non- SR i
controlling interests LEE — — — — 110,036 110,036
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETRE - 1,275 (1,275) - - -
Dividends paid to owners BRAREHEEA
of the Company ZIRE — — (10,057)  (10,057) — (10,057)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling ~ fF— M BAFERHIEER
interest of a subsidiary ZIRE = = — — (1,271) (1,271)
Total transactions with owners in their BB AUEBEE AMFRHEST
capacity as owners MR 515 68 (1,382) (6,088) (7,402) 108,765 101,363
As at 31st March 2019 RZZ-h%=F=1-H 64,123 572,243 353,980 990,346 123,090 1,113,436
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
REEREERE)

For the year ended 31st March 2020 BZ - -TF = A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREARE

Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves  earnings Total interest equity

Rx  Hithke  REEA AR FEENEE ERAR

HK$'000  HK$°000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TARL Thn Thn TER TER TER
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(Mas2)  (HEsd)  (HiaEsd)

As at 1st April 2019 RZE-AEMA-A 64,123 572,243 353,980 990,346 123,090 1,113,436
Change in accounting policy (Note 2.2) &3HEBIZE)(fizE2.2) - - (3,239) (3,239) (12) (3,251)
Restated balance as at 1st April 2019 RZE—-NFNA—-BEJIEH 64,123 572,243 350,741 987,107 123,078 1,110,185
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BR)/ & - —  (90,309)  (90,309) 2,158 (88,151)
Other comprehensive loss Hth2EAE
- Change in fair value of financial —BARBEHALREKAZ
asset at fair value through other SREEZDAERE
comprehensive income (Note 23) (M3E23) - (82) - (82) - (82)
- Currency transaction differences —EBELER - (80,042) - (80,042) (8,396)  (88,438)
Total comprehensive loss PEEBRRE - (80,124)  (90,309)  (170,433) (6,238)  (176,671)

Transactions with owners in their ~ BEANEREANGRETHRS
capacity as owners

Lapse of share options Rz BhE - (1,336) 1,336 - - -
Share-based payment IARRAD B ERE 2 T 1t - 1,996 - 1,996 - 1,996
Capital reduction from BIE M A

non-controlling interests LRE = = — — (5,917) (5,917)
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETRE = 45 (45) - - -
Dividends paid to owners BERAATHEEA

of the Company bl & - - (12,825)  (12,825) - (12,825)
Total transactions with owners in their BB ANEEE ABFHET

capacity as owners MR 7EE - 705 (11,534)  (10,829) (5917)  (16,746)
As at 31st March 2020 RZB-FF=F=1-H 64,123 492,824 248,898 805,845 110,923 916,768

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity iR AR B E R B EPEMT A A — OF R o
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\/-_R IE@/)ILE%

For the year ended 31st March 2020 HZE—Z -ZF=HA=+—HItFE

2020
—7—75*5

HK$’000
TET

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
TET

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generate from/(used in) operations

EEBZRERE
i‘“%%ﬁ}*i/ (6e/)

2H% 35(a) 162,084 (36,922)
Interest received BEUFIE 1,216 4,920
Interest paid ERFLE (75,021) (77,662)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEBEMER (8,298) (3,767)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BRMETER = 11
China corporate income tax refund PR EMEHRE 329 —
China corporate income tax paid ERPBPERER (1,463) (5,046)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) mEFEBHRA/ ORL)
from operating activities ZIREFEE 78,847 (118,466)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZRERE
Purchase of property, BEWE BEX
plant and equipment B (8,170) (2,452)
Proceeds received from disposals of HEWE - BERZEZ
property, plant and equipment P18 5038 35(b) 136 2,489
Capital expenditures for REME
investment properties ZERFRZ 15 (1,482) (6,040)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, WE—RFEERR
net of cash acquired (fbrPTER ) 36(c) — 47,497
Capital injection to an associate/ AET-EEE
a joint venture SRWNE] 21 (47,614) (289,590)
Net proceeds received from BN ERBAR
disposal of subsidiaries PSRRI A 36(a)/(d) 13,485 5,900
Purchases of financial assets BEARANEBEN AER
at fair value through profit or loss ZERMEE (97,754) (213,778)
Proceeds received from disposal of HERANEEFT ABE
financial assets at fair value through LEREE
profit or loss FT1S 5038 116,301 311,076
Net cash outflow from investing activities REGB RE ML TR (25,098) (144,898)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st March 2020 &ZE—

:I‘/T/\Iﬁrﬁlilbgi% (n\,\)

—EF-A=THLFE

2020 2019
—ECEf —E-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT T
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZ R0 470,768 310,369
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (334,709) (250,214)
Payment for lease liabilities (including interest) TE&ENZ(BEFL) (25,774) —
Net decrease in trust receipt EFUUEIRTTE R
bank loans 2 (178,606) (90,962)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits IR 77 508 2> 29,747 20,079
Capital (reduction)/injection from EE Rz
non-controlling interest (R&)/*& (5,917) 110,036
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ENARRHEBAZKE (12,825) (10,057)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests RAE G2 Eridids s (1,271)
Exercise of share options 1710 s e i = 344
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from MEEFBHRE (R,
financing activities MAFHE (57,316) 88,324
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents Re kReFEIFRD (3,567) (175,040)
Cash and cash equivalents, FONzRER
beginning of the year ReEE 126,775 312,766
Currency translation differences B E N =5 (3,163) (10,951)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year FRZBENBEERE 120,045 126,775

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RARME

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 18th February 1994. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel
products; trading of sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets
and engineering plastics; and property investment and
project management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
and investment properties, which are carried at
fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following
standards and amendments for the first time
for their annual reporting period commencing
1st April 2019:

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC) Int-23

Prepayment Features
with Negative
Compensation

Leases

Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in
Associates and
Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over
Income Tax
Treatments

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements

Project

2015-2017 Cycle

e ISR M R
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2.1

B ()
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B 2 FIi e R 2 0SSR ELRAR M
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B #h 2 £F [ R 45 HA S & 0 57 FB A
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EXRGHHRE BEFEAwHEZ
YERIZE 957 TR R
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#1955 FEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

211

212

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

The Group had to change its accounting
policies and make certain adjustments
following the adoption of HKFRS16, which
are disclosed in Note 2.2. The other newly
adopted standards or amendments listed
above did not have material impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and
are not expected to significantly affect the
consolidated financial statement in the
current or future period.

New and amended standards not yet adopted

The following new standards and
amendments have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning
on 1st April 2019 and have not been early
adopted:

2

TESTHRRUEE)

21 REEE(E)

2.1.1 ZXEBAERAF AT RASIEZTER
(&)
REBBRRNE BT REE
A 165 B RS rHERR RIEH
ATHAZNRKE22FHE) -
A HE AR A E RIS T B
FHEOERAZ SR EERY
2 AVWATBHERERERE
MR BRRENEATE -

2.1.2 [ RIRA Z H 5] RAZIEZTER)
T3S B2 ¥ a] R B R
RZZE-NFHOA-HRBZFK
FEMRER  TAREAEELR
AITER A -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RELT B8
ZE&REA®Z
ST HIBER

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

EEEHEAF 1R EXZEE

BB GFERAE 85 (1BE])
Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

BERETEAIE 305K - Hh et EE

BBV BREERE 75 R
BB EIwELERE 95 (E5])
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Hedge Accounting

Definition of a Business

1st January 2020
—ZE_TF—H—H

1st January 2020

—ZET-TF—HA—H

1st January 2020

BB IwE RIS 35 (1B5]) EBZEE —E_TF—H—H
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework 1st January 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting
—E-\FMBREESIER RIERT B B3R5 B R AE AR —E-TF—H—H
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1st January 2021
BB BRELERNET R RERE A —E_—F—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture
BBMBmEERE 105K REEEHBENFIREENA] BHETE

BB ERE 285 (1£7])

ZHEMEBELESTE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

22

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New and amended standards not yet adopted
(Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new
standards and amendments to existing
standards when they become effective.
The Group has already commenced
an assessment of the related impact of
adopting the above new standards and
amendments, none of which is expected to
have a significant effect on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Changes in accounting policies

The following explains the impact of the
adoption of HKFRS 16 “Leases” on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively
from 1st April 2019, but has not restated
comparatives information, as permitted under the
specific transitional provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from
the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in
the opening consolidated statement of financial
position on 1st April 2019. The new accounting
policies are disclosed in Note 2.29.

On adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group recognised
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had
previously been classified as ‘operating leases’
under the principle of HKAS 17 Leases”. These
liabilities were measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as at
1st April 2019. The weighted average lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1st April 2019 ranges from 4.5% to
5.8%.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRRUEE)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

22 EHRERz2E25(H)

Total
#zE
HK$'000
FExT
Operating lease commitments disclosed AZE—NF=A=+—H
as at 31st March 2019 RER 2 1 ST E AR 58,009
Less: Leases committed but not yet B BEEABERZE—NE
commenced as at 1st April 2019 WA —HEARMIAZHE (49)
Operating lease commitments of RZZE-NFNA—BRKZEE
leases commenced as at 1st April 2019 RS TR E R 57,960
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental RERERBEBEREABEAZ
borrowing rate at the date EEEENEKIRE
of initial application 54,169

Less: Short-term leases recognised on W LNERESREEEE

a straight-line basis as expense R A (3,894)
Lease liabilities recognised as RZZ—-NFHHA—B#ER
at 1st April 2019 HEaE 50,275
Of which: Hoh
Current portion ViEL=i¥a) 22,465
Non-current portion ERENEL 5 27,810
50,275

The associated right-of-use assets were measured

HRAZEREEECENELNE -

on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had
always been applied, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to that lease recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March
2019. In additions, land use rights are also
reclassified to right-of-use assets with amount
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31st March 2019. See
Note 17 for the amounts of right-of-use assets
recognised on 1st April 2019 upon initial adoption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#&%‘%ﬁﬁ

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRUEE)

2.2 B BEZ2E2E(E)

22 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

The following table shows the adjustment for
change in accounting policy recognised for each
individual line item. Line items that were not
affected by the changes have not been included.
As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed
cannot be recalculated from the numbers

TRISEE@EFEE BEsBRRE
MERZAE - KRXZFEHTE LR
B RBEAEAR - Et - NI fH
ZHFENAEMBEE /A R

provided.
31st March
2019 1st April 2019
—E-hEF —E-hF
=A=+—H MA—H
Consolidated statement of As originally
financial position (extract) presented HKFRS 16 Restated
BBMEHRE
R B AR 3R (R %) REARZ5 ZEHIZE 16 5% TE|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Land use right b {5 9,019 (9,019) —
Right-of-use assets EREEE — 55,393 55,393
Deferred income tax assets  iEIEFTSTEE 47,082 650 47,732
Total assets EEHE 2,996,621 47,024 3,043,645
Non-current liabilities FnBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE — 27,810 27,810
Current liabilities nEBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE — 22,465 22,465
Total liabilities EEBEE 1,883,185 50,275 1,933,460
Equity =
Reserves (G 926,223 (3,239) 922,984
Non-controlling interests FEVE SR 123,090 (12) 123,078
Total equity A 1,113,436 (3,251) 1,110,185
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

22 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(@)

(i)

Impact on segment disclosures

The non-current assets, other than financial
instruments and deferred income tax
assets, of Hong Kong and Mainland China
have increased by HK$41,733,000 and
HK$4,641,000 respectively as at 1st April
2019 as a result of the change in accounting
policy.

Practical expedients applied

In applying HKFRS 16 for the first time,
the Group has used the following practical
expedients permitted by the standard:

e the use of a single discount rate to
a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics;

° reliance on previous assessments on
whether leases are onerous;

e the accounting for operating leases with
a remaining lease term of less than 12
months as at 1st April 2019 as short-
term leases;

e the exclusion of initial direct costs for
the measurement of the right-of-use
asset at the date of initial application;
and

e the use of hindsight in determining the
lease term where the contract contains
options to extend or terminate the lease.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR
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2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

Practical expedients applied (Continued)

The Group has also elected not to reassess
whether a contract is, or contains a lease
at the date of initial application. Instead, for
contracts entered into before the transition
date the Group relied on its assessment
made applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) -
Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease”.

2.3 Subsidiaries

(a

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has right to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(i) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

2

e ISR M R

TEEHBRUEA)

22 EHRERz2E5(H)

(i) EEAZA{TRELZ ()
AEEREREBBRTEERE
TEHMHEEOECBENXED
ME - AR - LR BIE B 82 H
RIMZAEH  AEEKREBEEER
EEGHENFEI7TRLEE(H
RUBHREREZEE)REE4
RIEELXHREEEEMEE IME
HZ 7FfE -

23 MELH

(a) BHf
MEBRREAEEYEBIEHE
JER(REAEEER) - EX
SER2B-—REREHMEA
BRIRAERBRIZEERN &
BB RBEZERERNRES
FEZSORE  NAEBRYZ
EREEESE -MBRARAE
THEERINAEE L BREA
ABR - WHZEHER LA
4 IEABR o

(i) HFEEOF
REBHITERSHREA
WEE AR o BB
REIZEERERMEESE
B HWKEER ZAT#EA A
FTEEBERASEMET
AR Z AREE - T
EREBEIXAREBELHE
EZEMEESBEZAR
BE - REBE R ATIEE
A EBREEREAEZA
BERKNAEE - VTR
BZAREBERE °

2019/20 Annual Report | 4%




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

()

(1)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill
(Note 2.9). If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions - that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the aggregate fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method - net” in
the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

24

2.5

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group'’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 - Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures depending on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investments in joint ventures include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint
venture, any difference between the cost of the
joint venture and the Group's share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the
Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 TESTBRBEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Joint arrangements (Continued) 25 BETHE)
Unrealised gains on transactions between the REBEHELSZN Tﬁﬁx%,z;ﬁ“iﬁu&
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the §T§$%EAE NAEZ T AE
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. o BRI FIRHTEEE ELIRRE
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the ZBRE . BAIKREIREIE IR T ALY o
transaction provides evidence of an impairment BEANAZEABEECERFEELE
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of &) AREREAREEFEA ZBER— -
the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
2.6 Segment reporting 2.6 DW/E
Operating segments are reported in a manner EEDIUAMEE LB RRE(EES
consistent with the internal reporting provided to BRERE DIRHEAPER B2 HER
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM"), H HAELEN N CER ERRKIR
who is responsible for allocating resources and SR I AR A E RIS MR E 2 ITE
assessing performance of the operating segments, E-HREBEINBERBEZEARIT
and has been identified as the executive directors ERTEEERAREBLER WA E
that make strategic decisions. Information relating REEBR 2 WEE o
to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not separately reported to
the CODM.
2.7 Foreign currency translation 2.7 HEHBE
(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) HEERZSIEH
Items included in the financial statements of AEBEZSERZUBRERYIIE
each of the Group’s entities are measured BYNZEREEMETELE
using the currency of the primary economic REZEEAS([NEEE]) -
environment in which the entity operates SEMBERERABILER B
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated BARRNRIZNEEERAEE 2
financial statements are presented in HKS, 25|85 o

which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement within “other (losses)/gains
- net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into
the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TEEHBRUEA)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.7 HEBRER)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal (Continued)

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit
or loss.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial year in
which they are incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

2% to 20%
20% to 33%
15% to 33%
10% to 25%

5% to 20%

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements

— Furniture and equipment

— Machinery

— Motor vehicles and vessels
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B MR M

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset's
carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred over the Group’s
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of
the acquiree and the fair value of the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"), or groups of CGUs, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values
at the acquisition date. Customer contracts
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the utilisation method to
allocate the cost of customer contracts over
their estimated useful life.

2.10 Land use rights

2.1

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the costs of leasehold
land over their terms. Land use rights previously
presented as a separate item on the consolidated
statement of financial position are reclassified as
part of right-of-use assets on 1st April 2019.

Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the companies
of the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at
its cost, including related transaction costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are
carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair
values are recorded in consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRRUEE)

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

212k ERMEEZRE

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset'’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR

BN EERBRCEE(FIMEE)BA
B MASFETRERDE - E8F
GEACPITEE Ty Qe N g
BTHHIEEQETRERS - BE
AR & R AT Rl 2 8 B R
RBSRERBE - IRESESEEAL
ﬁ@ﬁzﬁ%}ﬂzﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬁ{“@ZFﬁme
F o BAHEREMNS EENEZR
Eﬁéﬁ%%lﬁﬁ/i\/ﬁé(iﬁﬁﬁiﬁu)Zﬂ—ﬂi
BR - -BEUNIIMNBREZFEREE
R EERE ALl B Bl 2B EETT
=B e

213 &REE

@ P&
AEEBESBEES AU T
E157)

s REREAAREBEEGH
AEEEEATAREE

sFAEMEESRA D SEA
#Bam) R

o IREHEKAETE -

DREBARE i%i
%fﬁﬁ‘ﬁ&fﬁ

BeRMEEL
MEZKITE MR °

HREAREBEFEZEEMS
W MERENBEmEtmEm
WA - BIFREEBE 21
@mTAREME @ EHBURRA
SEEFRERE  EEHRA

AEEFAEMEE WA ZBE



2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in the consolidated income
statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset.

The Group classifies all of its debt instruments
to be measured at amortised cost. Assets
that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “other (losses)/gains —
net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other (losses)/
gains - net” in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Impairment on bill receivables, other
receivables and deposits are measured
as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured
as lifetime ECL, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHERBME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.15 Inventories 2.15 &

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due
from customers for goods received or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
bill receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See 2.13(d) for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TEEHBRUEA)

2.19 Trade and other payables 2.19 BT BR =R % H {th P& < BR 3k

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHERBME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.21 Borrowings costs 2.21 fFER A

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current
and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to item recognised directly
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting
date in the countries where the Company's
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from initial
recognition of goodwill. The deferred income
tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally, the Group is unable
to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates and joint ventures.
Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in
the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability
in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associates and joint ventures’
undistributed profits is not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

B MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures only to the extent that it
is probable the temporary difference will
reverse in the future and there is sufficient
taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution
plan. The schemes are generally funded
through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating
to employee service in the current and prior
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a

(b)

(c)

Pension obligation (Continued)

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment
of current employees without possibility of
withdrawal. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon termination of their employment
or retirement when the employees fulfill
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s
retirement plan that are attributable to
contributions made by the Group.

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR

2

TESTHRRUEE)

2.23 BEEEF (&)

(d)

(e)

ESEZEA
BREEZERBRNETTEERHE
R BERBEHRE BHAREHR
BRERZEZFREFRABETIERE
B REBERBREDBRERN
SCHRBFJ7 7 HERR o

RARHEZ

EREENETERRBGIZE
THEARATRIEEBEERIENK
By N6 B ZAAGE S R BIR TS
ETHEBZEME MAAEZ
BEEFEREERRAREEH
RIREREAFcARENS
B IAESBRIRDRBEALE
BRAGEMEREAREHRRZ
FEIHEHR -

224 R RER 2

AEBERBZREAEREN - ARG B
Eft 2 WMEE - Bt AKEERE
B - (ERASEED T A(BRE)
2B o BIRERE R T T B (B
ERBAREBEERS/IH - T
BEWBERTZBREAEEE

):E .

BREEMTSRBEE(DINERE
ZBAE)

TEETAREMIEMERRE
BiRAF(PINAFRES ~ HEER
BENERNTERHHRT 2R
BI2®E Rk



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEERBME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued) 224 RO RER 2 (&)

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant date
and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense
during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRRUEE)

2.25 &5

2.25 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied
and service rendered, stated net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities as described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has full discretion
over channel and price to sell the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs until the products
have been shipped to the specified location,
the risk of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in
accordance with sales contracts, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products.

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to stage of
completion of the specific transaction and
assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service
to be provided.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received a consideration
(or an amount of consideration that is due)
from the customer. If a customer pays the
consideration before the Group transfers
goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRRUEE)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.26 WA FER (&)

(d) Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

2.27 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.29 Leases

As a lessee

As explained in Note 2.2, the Group has changed
its accounting policy for leases where the Group
is the lessee from 1st April 2019. The new policy
is described below and the impact of the initial
adoption is disclosed in Note 2.2.

Until 31st March 2019, leases in which a
significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership were not transferred to the Group
as lessee were classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) were charged
to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

From 1st April 2019, leases are recognised as a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at
the date at which the leased asset is available for
use by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TEEHBRUEA)

2.29 Leases (Continued) 2.29 HE (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TESTHRRUEE)

2.29 Leases (Continued) 229 HE (&)

As a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease
term on a straight-line basis. If the Company is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR

1ERFAMA (&)
RETHEEEMNEX  AEBEER R
BATEEREMNAEAZKOESZ
FZTRMEERBEIRE  WEHFE
ARLEESE=TRE AREE IR
228 -

HEMNFRAEBYEERZHER
D WHERREHRABERT N
b ERHEABEERZBHAN X%
FEE e

EAREERKATE  BEATH
18 :

s MERARBZUISHESHE:

e  RiBA A MK ZAIEL 2 A
BN REBRz2ERNEEE
=

P

o EEMBEERE: R
. {EEmE-

EREEEBAFNEEZNERFH
FEH (RBEERE) RAERE
FE - MARBEEMBETEAFITE—
HREEERE  AEREEENER
BEZAERFHANE -

HEMHEMEEEEEMERRBL
NRABRERERTHA/E -
RHAEEEEMAT —EANUTZ

HE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

Lease income where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position based
on their nature.

On 1st April 2019, the Group did not need to make
any adjustments to the accounting for assets held
as lessor as a result of initial adoption of HKFRS
16.

2.30 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central
treasury department (group treasury) under
policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk

()

Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity
price risk because certain subsidiaries
of the Group are engaged in the
trading of steel products. As at 31st
March 2019 and 2020, the Group had
certain committed sales orders for steel
products for which the selling price is
fixed, which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories. As the
prices of steel products can fluctuate
materially, the Group’s results may
be affected significantly by future
fluctuations in steel prices (Note 4(Q)).
To manage its commodity price risk
arising from committed sales orders, the
Group is closely monitoring the market
price of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.

The Group also exposed to price risk
mainly arising from investments held
by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial
position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. To manage its
price risk arising from investments,
the Group diversifies its portfolio and
managed by senior management on a
case by case basis. Diversification of
the portfolio is managed in accordance
with the internal limits set by the Group.
As at 31st March 2020, if the price of
these investments increase/decrease
by 5%, loss before income tax for
the year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$791,000 (2019: profit
before income tax for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,835,000) mainly as a result
of a fair value (loss)/gain on these
investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$”) and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments
in foreign operations, of which the
net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group’s foreign operations is
managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.

At 31st March 2020, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2019:
3%) against RMB with all other variables
held constant, loss before income
tax would have been approximately
HK$1,189,000 lower/higher (2019: profit
before income tax would have been
approximately HK$331,000 higher/
lower), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange (losses)/gains on translation
of RMB-denominated monetary assets
and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As HK$ are reasonably stable with
US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management considers the
Company’s foreign exchange risk arisen
from US$ is insignificant. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk
which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates.

At 31st March 2020, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, loss before
income tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$14,156,000 higher/
lower (2019: profit before income tax for
the year would have been approximately
HK$14,925,000 lower/higher), mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

()

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and bill receivables,
deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable with
low credit risk. The Group has not
incurred significant loss from non-
performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect so in
the future. Therefore, expected credit
loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to
be close to zero and no provision was
made as at 31st March 2020.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of sanitary wares,
kitchen cabinets, engineering plastics
and processing and distribution of
construction materials. As at 31st
March 2020, top 10 customers of the
Group accounted for approximately
22% (2019: 28%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from
them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers
saved for the debtors related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors, the overall
macro-economic environment and
whether there are any disputes with
the debtors. The Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the Directors
are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

- trade receivables;

- cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

- other financial assets measured
at amortised costs (including
deposits, other receivables and bill
receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors
consider that the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group measures the expected credit
losses on a combination of both individual
and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

The expected loss rates are based
on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 24 months before 31st
March 2019 and 31st March 2018 and
the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this year.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on the nature of customer accounts,
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

On the above individual and collective
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st
March 2020 and 2019 were determined
as follows:

MBEREE(R)
3.1 HBEMER(H)
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121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days EVE [ EVE] 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due Total
=8 1-60 H 121-180 B  181-365H 365 H £
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FTET FTET FET FTET FET FET
At 31st March 2020 R-ZB-EHF
SHEF=0F
Gross carrying amount — BREI4(E —
trade receivables JE U BR 3N 206,212 42,952 7,211 11,696 19,714 302,689
Loss allowance BERE 3) (54) — (666) (18,159) (18,905)
Net carrying amount —  BRMEF{E —
trade receivable JE W R R 206,209 42,898 7,211 11,030 1,555 283,784

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R



NOTES

TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEREIE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEEREER(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =EEE(E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (i) LEEEWEE)
(Continued)
Measurement of expected credit loss on BRI EEF R EEE
collective basis (Continued) 78 (48)

61-120 121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days days days days 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due

b0kl b0kl b0kl b0kl AHBa

2 1-60H  61-120H  121-180H  181-365H 365 H
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$OOO
TR FHET TR FHET TR FHRT TR

At 31st March 2019 R=-B-I#F

=A=t-H

Gross carrying amount — FRE42{E —

trade receivables B LB 3R 290,436 84,031 33,397 13,981 13,329 21,762 456,936
Loss allowance EEEE (72) (697) (151) (51) (4,361) (17,882) (23,214)
Net carrying amount —  BREFE —

trade receivable FE UK B 3R 290,364 83,334 33,246 13,930 8,968 3,880 433,722

Impairment losses on trade receivables LS BR SO B B 1B R A 2 m
are presented as “reversal of/(impairment Fe A4 yaﬂéém%}%{aﬁé
loss) on financial assets — net” within | (5t A) —FEE27 o
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries B UT[EiE F e 2 & 5 ?g A
of amounts previously written off are F—IEH AR

credited against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised 1B 3K AN S AR 2 B %
costs BE

Management considers that its credit 2ERXHHFREBOXRR
risk has not increased significantly BRIFERR  BIEERS
since initial recognition with reference EERRE & KRR AR
to the counterparty historical default RAMRIG N o FERE IR
rate and current financial position. The TF121IHE‘EHJHZTJ§5TE#
impairment provision is determined CHEBERET o

based on the 12-month expected credit
loss which is zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in
the operating entities of the Group and
aggregated by group finance. Group finance
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note
31) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any
of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Group’'s debt
financing plans, covenant compliance
and compliance with internal ratio of the
consolidated statement of financial position
targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities
over and above balance required for working
capital management are transferred to the
Group treasury. Group treasury invests
surplus cash in time deposits, marketable
securities, and choosing instruments with
appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to
provide sufficient head-room as determined
by the above-mentioned forecasts. At
the reporting date, the Group held cash
and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$120,045,000 (2019: HK$126,775,000)
(Note 28) and trade and bill receivables, net,
of approximately HK$358,932,000 (2019:
HK$480,523,000) (Note 26) that are expected
to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEREIE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEEREER(E)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) nEELEMEGE)

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at
the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

TREIIAEBZEREE - &
ERAZMENRERNBERES
WEm B2 THRETON -
TERBEBEZEBEREHRMHRR

N
Sra)/IT

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5

1 year years VEELS] Total
D1 E 1E25F 2254 W
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET

At 31st March 2020 R-Z-ZHF

=HA=+-—H

Trade and bill payables ERBER R 166,929 — — 166,929
Other payables b & RTER K 35,440 2,599 8,545 46,584
Borrowings BE 561,394 47,816 808,363 1,417,573
Interest payable FERT A S 70,865 45,243 59,638 175,746
Lease liabilities HEAR 24,635 3,543 — 28,178
859,263 99,201 876,546 1,835,010

At 31st March 2019 R-E—NEF

=A=+—8”
Trade and bill payables ERERR R 189,093 — — 189,093
Other payables b & RTRR K 35,354 7,740 7,506 50,600
Borrowings BE 788,145 91,593 615,420 1,495,158
Interest payable FERTFIE 74,330 37,132 75,017 186,479
1,086,922 136,465 697,943 1,921,330
3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EcRBERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

AEEERES 2 ARAREAEER
BREZRES  URBRREHB®RES
HApss i & RN - ARG —ERE
BARRBIARDEARKA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HIEEAMREE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EcEKBERE ()
In order to maintain or adjust the capital BERSGAEE RZEE  KNEBE R A
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of AEERAN ZEESEE  ROE AN TR
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to B BIOTHRGO I EBENRE

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group AERE - AEEBRBEEAEEL
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. REEFVEN o ZHRTIFBBHRIAE
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total ABRBEESD - FEBEDNUEERE
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings %E%%@%ﬁﬁiﬂTﬁﬁfﬂﬁf%b}{&fﬁ‘i\
and lease liabilities less pledged bank deposits &Eﬁfi\ﬁfﬁf & o &S MR R
and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is ﬁﬁ,ﬁ@%ﬁl%ﬁé\ (B FE IR 1t
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling $§m)j]l]ﬂﬂﬁfﬁu‘l'§°

interests), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2019 and 2020 N-E—NEN—_E-_FTF=HF=+—
were as follows: Ezéﬁfﬁﬁ{ﬁttiﬁﬂ—l— -
2020 2019
—7——\'$ :ﬁ_jlfﬁ
HK$°000 HK$ 000
THT FiExT
Total borrowings (Note 31) BEBRE(MZ31) 1,415,638 1,492,549
Total lease liabilities (Note 17) HEBBERBME17) 27,192 —
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : & RIS ZEE UK
pledged bank deposits (Note 28) ERRIRITIEIR (M2 28) (129,182) (165,659)
Net debt FET 1,313,648 1,326,890
Total equity (excluding s R
non-controlling interests) (T BiE ) 805,845 990,346
Total capital ERNCE 2,119,493 2,317,236
Gearing ratio BREFH R 62% 57%
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HIEREMREE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAEEME
The tables below analyses the Group’s financial TRBBHEEEMEGAZE DK
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March EER T NWFR-_ZE_ZTF=H
2019 and 2020, by level of the inputs to valuation =t+—HEAAEBEARZEMTA -
techniques used to measure fair value. Such &t#%)\ RARBESRADEEUT
inputs are categorised into three levels within a == :

fair value hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets ° EERMSEREB(ARALKLRARE) 2
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). EEEXBEE—E) -

* Inputs other than quoted prices included s KRERFEF BrEESEEXA
within level 1 that are observable for the B2 mEINEA - Al BEE (BN
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as mER)KEEGENREER)(F
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from —[E) -

prices) (level 2).

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not o BENABBUWIIEREBETERMS
based on observable market data (that is, gz A (BIFErE R A) (F
unobservable inputs) (level 3). =) -

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment BREEF=RB2IEEYWE  HIZA B

properties that are measured at fair value which is B2 2 HEER - F2HMFE15-

included in level 3.

The following table presents the Group’s financial TRERAEBR _ZT_ZTF=H4
assets that are measured at fair value at 31st =+—HZAAREE: T% SREE °
March 2020.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
[ E_IE =B HBE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$’ 000
FER FER TR FER

Assets BE
Financial asset at fair value RANBETA
through profit or loss ?@mZ%nﬂé{F
— Structured bank products — EBEIRITE M — 15,820 — 15,820
Financial asset at fair value 7 ’D\/ufﬁﬁﬁi\ﬁﬁﬁ
through other 2HRKAZ
comprehensive income PREE
— Shares listed on The —REBHE
Stock Exchange of RHGFBRAR
Hong Kong Limited Emz ik 62 — — 62
Total kL 62 15,820 — 15,882

2019/20 Annual Report | i @




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HBIEREKREE (&

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREEME (&)
The following table presents the Group's financial TRBERAEBRR _ZE—NLF=A
assets that are measured at fair value at 31st =+t HERAABEFEZEREE o
March 2019.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F—1E BIE 5B

HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
THET THET TR THET

Assets BE
Financial asset at fair ZARBEAER
value through profit or loss ZERMEE

— Structured bank products —EEMRTER — 36,698 — 36,698
Financial asset at fair value BANEET AR
through other comprehensive ZEHKAZ
income TRIEE
— Shares listed on The —NEBHA
Stock Exchange of RGMARAR
Hong Kong Limited it <0t 144 — — 144
Total HBE 144 36,698 = 36,842

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3
during the year.

RAFE B8 S-BRE-E2
R ¢ -

Financial instruments in level 1

RE-—EZZEBTA

The fair value of financial instruments traded in NERMBEEE ST A ARBE

active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the reporting date. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included
in level 1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example, over
the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.
Instruments included in level 2 comprises primarily
structured bank products that have been classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit of
loss.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in level 3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

e ISR M R

3 MBEREEGE)

3.3

IREEMEE (&)

RE-—EZZETA

YERERTSERE 2B T AN
BIMTETR)  EanBEERMGE
TR - ZEMEAENEER
BRTSEE(NE) - WA KEEE
ZESEME c WEFE—HERMTAZA
REBEMSZABERBGAL SAEE
g AReRIAREERE _E- 2
BEF _ETAFEBEIERER
REBEFABSZEREEZGHBIER

TTEm °

W—IBHZRERNBE AL IFREATEER
MHEEE . IZERTABREES =

o
=

EES T EERHE

RIBBEERREMEE(REERR TR
BRI (2 AR 5 2 1 B R S BF
3P -

AEERAKIEHERERER - BEREE
mibmAZ 5T HEEER D EERERSRM
[l > Tl BB S EHAH T —EHRF
BZBEERABZEASBFELERHREL
BEXERESERERE

(a)

REMENMEE

AEBEANBEREZEREYME  H
AREBEEEHRESIBEERNERY
B o MEMEZ AABENREMGES
% BEEREHSMEAAEBENT
EmEE  EPAZEEFEHERR
B THEM B RS E - HE R RE
FIEERMEE15#EE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4 EESTHEERMEGE)

(b) Recognition of deferred income tax assets (b) EELEMEHEERI

(c)

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred income
tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers it is likely
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. When the expectations are different
from the original estimates, such differences will
impact the recognition of deferred income tax
assets and income tax charges in the period in
which such estimates have been changed.

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
review internal and external sources of information
to identify indications that the property, plant and
equipment may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised may be reversed.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the
Group is required to estimate the recoverable
value, representing the greater of the asset’s fair
value less cost to sell or its value in use. Changes
in any of these estimates could result in a material
change to the assets’ carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31st March 2020, an
impairment loss of HK$20,000,000 was recognised
(2019: HK$1,181,000) for the property, plant and
equipment. If the discount rate used for the cash-
generating unit had been 5 percentage point
higher than management’s estimate; or the sales
quantity had been 5 percent lower, the impairment
charge will increase by HK$2,072,000 and
HK$3,685,000, respectively.
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B KmE AR GELERRE ©
HZEFEZBERBBBRAZICEZ
SEIN  WEEZEBFEZETHHE
NZ S BB E PTG B4 -

i 3 JE 58 7% P ) P oK 2R R Ak A A
HHEEZRYHAERE - BSERE
ETHEERRNAREA B BT
GHREE - MEMGEREBREIHEED
Al - W EFE=EBEEELEHREVEER
RRABEELREHHRAZAEH
ERBKTE -

M BERREZRERE

REREHR - AEEZRH A KSMNE
BRARIAB R - BB K& ml B
BB ST AT RE R 2 R B R R A R
B& -

i —HRETREETE - AKEARG
Al EE - BIEEZ AR BEREE
RAEEERBEARSERE) - (£
S b < SR EEHEERA
ERGFAEMBERRIENED -

HE-_ZE-_ZTFE=ZA=+—HIt#F
B EYE BEESEERRE
&5 #8 20,000,000/ ;T(— & — L 4F -
1,181,000/87C) °c WZREEELFEA
2R ERSREREAGETE 5% ¢ 3
HERNEEREGEE5% AR
B8 A5 5l 2,072,000 7T &
3,685,000 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Net realisable value of inventories

(e)

)

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and variable
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer demand and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses the estimations at each reporting date.

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when trade and other receivables are
impaired. This determination requires significant
judgement and estimation based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. In
making this judgement and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration of
receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration
of factors such as general economy measure,
changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details
of the assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(b).

Useful lives and depreciation expenses for
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives, and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in
future periods.

B HRR M

n‘/T\

4 EESTHEERMEGE)

(d) #&

(e)

(f)

5 2 Al IR FE

FEZAERFERARRGBERETZ
HEEEREETKIAR TR HES
e ZEHETDERBR TR KLEE
BUMEER BELR HAREP
ZHERBERBEFHF BREMEILITE
BEHEREL TR MARNE - EEES
REEBREEEHREHE -

R WA RR R % L At B W R RRORL (B R A

AEBEKRBE BN B REERE QWIS

5| 7 T FE U BR 3R % £ i JE UK BR SR 1R B R
B HWETRAMELNRR XTBEEE
RZBBREREBARHE LGS o (B A

b R B - AREFE(EPERE)E
WRIR AR - BRI BB AMBREE K&
Wokae ek - ARFERI R EE AR E
FRE BRERKAERER LRELE
EREHERNE - IABRKELRBAE
ZFEERMIEE 3.1(b) R ERAT ©

ME - BERRBZAERAFHR
ExH

AEEZEEBBEENE  BEER
BRI ERFEY UREENES
Ao ZMEETOIREBEEEREERLUZY

X BEAREBZERTERFEH S
ERBE -  ERKBEF L EMGEA

(B REHTR o R TSR
FHE - AR Z T E = AT
BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Onerous contract provision

As at 31st March 2020, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. If the cost of certain future
purchases to fulfil these sales orders exceeds the
contracted selling prices of the sales orders, a
provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of
purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into
account the cost of on-hand inventories and the
forecast market price of future purchases where
this can be reliably estimated.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue consists of the following:

EESEERAEE)

(9) BEZNz2HEE

R-ZF-_ZFHF=-_A=1+—H XKECD
BEZHEEEBATBRFERE®
ELZBERTERRE - MAABITILFH
BRI EZETAREERBRALLHERE
FaTHzEEBRS - HIERBEROE
h— TR - EHEETRRREA AR D
ERTHEECEESHRE  BHE
CRRTFRFEZKARIZASEHERE L
HIERE 2 S TRRIER

WA R 7 EBE
AEEZPABENT -

2020 2019

—_ 7 —= E :i—ﬂi

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Sales of goods EmiEE 2,231,275 2,780,106
Service income BlRA U A 42,038 44,375
Rental income e WA 51,718 58,124
Total revenue LONGE 2,325,031 2,882,605

The Group’s businesses are managed according to
the nature of their operations and the products and
services they provide.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the CODM that are
used to making strategic decisions. The CODM is
identified as the executive directors of the Company.
The executive directors consider the business from a
customer perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on the segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as these consolidated
financial statements. The CODM considers the Group
operates predominantly in four operating segments:

(i)  Construction materials business;

(if) Building and design solutions (“BDS") business;

(iii) Engineering plastics business; and

(iv) Property investment and project management
business.

The Group’'s CODM assesses the performance of
operating segments based on a measure of profit
before income tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets by geographical market consist
primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, right-of-use assets, intangible assets,
investments accounted for using the equity method,
prepayment, deposits and other receivables. They
exclude financial instruments and deferred income tax
assets.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to investment
properties and property, plant and equipment for the
year ended 31st March 2020.

5

e BRI

ARz EBER (&)

BEEECRBEIZLERRERMAUGE
REMEREZREETLENH - TELE
REERERBAATRTES - HITEEK
BEEAEEEXRE  WRED EHRA RS
EEAFEREDRRE - AMEEERK
AR o I FERE R F A BRRER
FA—2EFEH TELERRERR/AEHE

ERENEZEDE

(i) EREMBE

(i) FEEERRRE T R(EEER KRR
EDE L

(i) ILEBRE®: K&

(iv) BHERENEAREBEER

AEEZ 2L ERKERRAMBHANEF
Nt EFHE 2 E D 8RR -

AEELERREERNEINA - BFFE
RBEI G EMERER -

BB D 2N HEETREEME
BEN&E REDFE  ERAEEE - B
BE WERZEARZEE BAENRE &
EREMERER - @RI ANRBREMSH
BEEATERENIERB DIEE -

BE-T-THE=A=+—HILFE &4
MX BERENRENEARNE - BER
i -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

5

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for
the year ended 31st March 2020 is as follows:

WAR D EHER (&)

AREBHE-Z-F
BER D 2 EES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

FZA=+—HILEFE
SR

Property
investment
Construction Engineering and project
materials BDS plastics management
business business business business  Unallocated
BEER EHERE
BE SES) I% RiER
RIS FRER BBEK EEER RAE Fot]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER TER TEx TEx FTERT FTER
Revenue from contracts REEFPEHZ
with customers WA
- Recognised at a point in time —ER—EEER 1,864,565 275,915 90,795 — — 2,231,275
- Recognised over time —E—BRERAER - - - 42,038 — 42,038
- Rental income Bk ON 215 — - 51,503 — 51,718
1,864,780 275,915 90,795 93,541 — 2,325,031
Operating profit/(loss) MERF/ (BB) 38,526 30,250 2,020 57,852 (123,836) 4,812
Finance income BRUA 847 65 14 47 243 1,216
Finance costs B5% A (31,176) (4,210) (134) (38,615) (5,481) (79,616)
Share of results of investments FEfEAEREARZ
accounted for using REXE
the equity method - net — 38 - - - (12,947) - (12,947)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BAER AR/ (B8) 8,197 26,105 1,900 6,337 (129,074) (86,535)
Other gains/(losses) - net Hioless /(BE) — 38
— Impairment of property, W% BER
plant and equipment FRERE — — — — (20,000) (20,000)
~ Others —Hith 6,756 2,675 (1,727) 2,355 (169) 9,890
6,756 2,675 (1,727) 2,355 (20,169) (10,110)
Fair value (loss)/gain on REMEZ AAEBE
investment properties (B518),/ Wz (843) - - 755 - (88)
Capital expenditure EAREY 5,780 237 — 1,539 2,096 9,652
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH (5,735) (6,393) (248) (2,780) (50,601) (65,757)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

5

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for
the year ended 31st March 2019 is as follows:

ARz EBER (&)

AEERBE_T-NAF=ZA=1+—HLHF
BIREHDMEEINWT

Construction

materials
business

BE
MR
HK$'000

TET

BDS
business
BEEM

&
ESS ]
HK$'000

TEx

Engineering
plastics
business

I
BRXY
HK$'000

THx

Property
investment
and project
management
business

B ERE
RIEHE
EEE
HK$'000
T

Unallocated

ROE
HK$'000
TET

BH
HK$'000
TERT

Revenue from contracts REEFPEHZ

with customers WA

- Recognised at a point in time —EX-BEER 2,164,649 346,775 268,682 — — 2,780,106

- Recognised over time —E—REREAER - - - 41,911 2,464 44,375

- Rental income —HEWA = = = 58,124 — 58,124

2,164,649 346,775 268,682 100,035 2,464 2,882,605

Operating profit/(loss) SRR/ (B5E) 52,895 26,051 (6,364) 97,624 (95,938) 74,268
Finance income BBUWA 4,180 69 99 78 494 4,920
Finance costs BB (35,063) (4,252) (1,117) (35,861) (4,345) (80,638)
Share of results of investments ElE A EREAR

accounted for using ZIRBEE

the equity method - net — ¥ (1,377) — — 20,653 — 19,276
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETS R ATERF,/ (B518) 20,635 21,868 (7,382) 82,494 (99,789) 17,826
Other gains/(losses) - net Hibdess /(B8) — 38 22,339 (939) (5,979) (7,162) 4,254 12,513
Fair value gain on REWMEZR

investment properties AEERES — — — 108,865 — 108,865
Capital expenditure EARRFY 1,376 107 23 6,127 859 8,492
Depreciation and amortisation B R (6,099) (801) (80) (1,996) (35,932) (44,908)

2019/20 Annual Report | i @
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Analysis of the Group's revenue by geographical
market is as follows:

WAR D EHER (&)

AREBREL LB BE R EE

NI ST T

o REEZH

2019
—E-NF

HK$'000
THET

Hong Kong B
Mainland China B AT

1,725,744
599,287

1,837,825
1,044,780

2,325,031

2,882,605

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and
deferred income tax assets, by geographical market is
as follows:

BREmTAMELERSHEENIINZFFRE

BERMWEMS BN

2020 2019

—?—qu :E_j'bi

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong BB 405,817 437,632
Mainland China R B AT 1,333,430 1,416,577
1,739,247 1,854,209

(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract
liabilities

As at 31st March 2020, receipts in advance amounting
to HK$51,296,000 (2019: HK$27,956,000). The
following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period relates to
carried-forward receipts in advance:

(a) AEESHNAEEZVRARER

@%Ez%m ,296,000,%%57c<_ = ﬁﬁ :

27,956,000 7T ) °

TRETNRARE

HA RS A B8 HA 9] 2 TR W R IR B AR AR A B

T8

2019
“E-NF

HK$'000
THET

2020
— 7 —= ﬂi
HK$’000
TERT
Revenue recognised that was REFBE N IEKRIEL

included in the receipts in advance
at the beginning of the year

EHBR/BAZEHE

27,956

24,174

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(CONTINUED)

WAR D EHER (&)

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (b) XBITZEHEHN

The Group selected to choose a practical
expedient and omit disclosure of remaining

AEEREMBEBENAOFHRRS
—EFUT  BWEEBERAATZEED.

performance obligations as all related contracts

have a duration of one year or less.

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS - NET

o URERBEFBRBEO IR -

6. Hftb(&E) WE— FH

2020
it Y-

—=—=

HK$°000
THET

2019
—F-NF
HK$'000
TR

Realised loss on financial assets at

BARBEFABSR ISR

fair value through profit or loss BEDERER = (1,559)
Net exchange gains/(losses) FIE N W Es S (E18) 2,096 (21,155)
Impairment losses on property, plant Y - B R ERESE

and equipment (Note 14) (Hiaz 14) (20,000) (1,181)
Impairment losses on goodwill EE R EEE = (2,494)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—R B ARz WS

(Note 36(d)) (H1at 36(d)) — 5,313
Gain on bargain purchase from the e WE—REHEARZ

acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 36(c)) B e (B3t 36(c)) — 18,554
Gain on modification of lease MEBE] 2 W= 109 —
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary and HE—RHRBAR R—H

an associate /N o8

(Note 36(a) and 36(b)) (K1t 36(a) & 36(b)) (41) —
Penalty income from tenants in relation RERATKRIEAERRAR

to early termination of rental agreements A Ik ON 2,022 346
Sundry income IR 5,704 14,689

(10,110) 12,513
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n\/T\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7. RMEES 2
Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and SFATSEERA]  [HERDHEYH | [£&t
distribution expenses”, “reversal of/(impairment loss) on BEMEEERERB (GtA) — 38 1 & —#%
financial assets - net” and “general and administrative RITESZE IR - EoWT

expenses” are analysed as follows:

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET
Cost of finished goods sold UK M EH S A 1,992,552 2,533,767
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment  F&RE
of inventories (#R), s (2,229) 1,594
Reversal of provision for BERDZ
onerous contracts B E R — (40,656)
Depreciation of property, Y - REREE2ITE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (Hiat 14) 40,669 43,195
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZTE
(Note 17) (Btat 17) 23,979 —
Gain on disposals of property, LEYE - BERE#HZ
plant and equipment (Note 35(b)) Was(K1a£35(b)) (48) (1,006)
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 16) it F%E = B85 (4757 16) — 202
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH
(Note 18) (K17t 18) 1,109 1,511
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) BERAMZ L (H:78) 120,574 128,970
Expenses relating to short-term or FHARHSEEEHRE
low-value leases (Note 17) 2 (HE17) 3,125 —
Operating lease rental expenses in TEEH  HAER
respect of retail shops, offices BEREFEHEZ
and warehouses M — 44,408
Property tax for investment properties & 2 WEF 7,239 7,557
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment  FEURER % K2 =455 {E (B @)
of trade and bill receivables - net B — R
(Note 26) (Htzz26) (3,020) 4,262
Professional fee associated with B —EE & A REAE
the formation of a joint venture ZEEER — 55,368
Auditor’s remuneration ZE NN &
— Audit services —ZEBRHS 2,738 2,800
- Non-audit services — R 194 578
Legal and professional fees FERBEEXER 6,432 12,312
Freight charges g 65,983 81,542
Storage and handling charges EEREEE 8,405 7,869
Others At 42,319 45,442
Total BB 2,310,021 2,929,715
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

e BRI

8 EERMXH(BESEEZME)

2020 2019

—B-%F =F-0F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THEx FET

Salaries and allowances e MIERL 89,404 93,994

Bonus TE4L 15,264 13,504
Pension costs RIRE A

- defined contribution plans — REHAKETE 6,357 7,349

Share-based payment VAR 0 AERE 2 217 1,996 2,311

Welfare and benefits RIS Tk 7,553 11,812

120,574 128,970

The Group maintains two defined contribution pension
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme. The assets of these
schemes are held separately from those of the Group
under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at
5% (2019: 5%) of the employees’ salary. The unvested
benefits of employees who have terminated employment
could be utilised by the Group to reduce its future
contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% (2019: 5%) of the employee’s relevant income,
as defined in the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the Group’'s and the
employee’s contributions are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland
China, the Group contributes to state-sponsored
retirement plans for employees of its subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. The employees are
entitled to retirement pension calculated with reference
to their basic salaries on retirement and their length
of service in accordance with the relevant government
regulations. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond these contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to retired employees.

AEEFAMERERKSHAETEE
ZEE RMREEEREESE - UM
B8l e EEVNRARBE 2 EEL AR
VTHBIESER -

RIEAESE  AREREREASER
ZEEFH 5% (ZF—NF : 5%)M&KsT
EEEARK - RIEEAZRBREREBZH
S AN B R ER D R IR -

RigELTE ARELEREASER
FEAHNELEETEGRIIMRER%ESR
BRAWAZE5% (ZF—N5F : 5%) A&at &
EFAHK AEERERE ZHR ERY
SEA1500BT(HAREBLLANERE TR

g)-

e B A AR B ORI AR E - AR EA
SERINTEREZHEARRERM
BZRE R EIHR - BEAEESRIK
T HE2REERKE 2 EXFHS MRS
FHRBBBMERAESH - BRZFHK
Sh REBHBESTIXNERNERERAESH
BREREN - ZFEARERNGHEABER
FRKEE X N2 EERARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING 8 EERANZH(EBEEEME)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (48)

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the HE_T-ZTF=-FA=1+—HILFE &K
aggregate amount of the Group’s contributions to the EEE FMRAKRSEEL ZHEREED
aforementioned pension schemes was approximately 56,357,000/ o ( =& — 1, & : 7,349,000
HK$6,357,000 (2019: HK$7,349,000), net of forfeited HBIT) - MBRIZ WA A 223,000 B (= F
contributions of approximately HK$223,000 (2019: — N : 283,00087T)  c RZZE—NFER=
HK$283,000). As at 31st March 2019 and 2020, there TZEF-_A=+—H UEXRFHABE LK
is no unutilised forfeited contribution which could be AT AER D ANEBRK ZHI -

utilised to reduce future contributions of the Group.

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERSHREBEAEME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM2
The remuneration of every director for the year BE_E_FTF=A=1+—HItFE -
ended 31st March 2020 is set out below: BUEEHFMOT

Employer’s

Share- contribution to

Salaries  Discretionary based a retirement

and bonuses payment benefit

allowances (Note (iv)) (Noted (v)) scheme

URBA ExY

WAL Bz ft RAER
e FeREH (B=E (iv)) (B=E (v)) g (P4 o)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET TET TET TERT THET

Executive Directors HiES

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew AR A — 5,449 1,950 - 18 7,417
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu BFEEE - 1,237 102 — 61 1,400

Independent Non-executive Directors By FH{TES

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny BRIERAE 225 — - - — 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHEEE 207 - — — — 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BB 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|RE4E 180 — - - — 180

792 6,686 2,052 = 79 9,609
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director for the year

ended 31st March 2019 is set out below:

e BRI

EENaREBAEME (&)

(a)
BE

EEM= (&)
“E-NAF=A=+—RLFE"

BUEEHMOT

Employer’s

Share- contribution to

Salaries  Discretionary based a retirement

and bonuses payment benefit

allowances (Note (iv)) (Noted (v)) scheme

BRH 5 EEXY

EfETEA Bt 224 RIKER
e HEREH (BH=E (iv)) (MEE(v)  sFEZER ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TERT TERT TERT

Executive Directors BIES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PREEE 7,194 3,500 — 18 10,712
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace (Note (i) B 28 2z (B (1)) — 1,312 827 19 66 2,224
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2k 1,237 = 11 61 1,309
Independent Non-executive Directors By IEH{TESE
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EBRELE 225 — — — — 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BRHERE 207 — — — — 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy (Note (ii)) HReEE A (P EE (i) 69 — — — — 69
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike R E 701 — — — — 701
Mr. Li Yinquan (Note (iii)) 78| R 58 A (B = (Giif)) 133 = = — — 133
1,335 9,743 4,327 30 145 15,580
Notes: Bz -

(ii)

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace resigned as an executive director
on 13th December 2018. The amounts represent
emoluments payable in respect of her services as an
executive director up to the date of her resignation.

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy retired as an independent non-
executive director on 17th August 2018. The amounts
represent emoluments payable in respect of his services
as an independent non-executive director up to the date
of his retirement.

RZFE—N\F+=—A+=8 " EMAZL
BERTESHH - ZEHBEEEHE
AR EEARITEEMER ZRE M
Rz BE -

REZF-N\FNA+LR #HEELER
EBIUERTEERY - XSRAREE
HRERMREERBILIFRTERMIE
R R RN 22 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n‘/-ﬁ (=) /jﬁ&#&%m—r

9

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii) ~ Mr. Li Yinquan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 5th July 2018. The amounts
represent emoluments payable in respect of his services
as an independent non-executive director from 5th July
2018 to 31st March 2019.

(iv)  The executive directors are entitled to discretionary
bonuses which are determined with reference to their
performance and the performance of the Group.

(v) Share-based payment represents charges to the
consolidated income statement of the fair value of the
share options under the share option scheme measured
at the respective grant dates, regardless of whether the
share options would be exercised or not.

No incentive payment as an inducement for joining
the Group or compensation for loss of office was
paid to any director during the years ended 31st
March 2019 and 2020. Also, no directors waived
their emoluments during the years ended 31
March 2019 and 2020.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2019 and 2020.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31st
March 2019 and 2020.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2019 and
2020, no consideration was paid by the Company
to any third parties for making available directors’
services.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R

9 EEREREEAEME(AE)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEME (&)
GERNC)

(i) R-F-A\FLARR FIRKLEZ
EABIIENTES - REREERE S
—F-N\FLAEAE-F-NF=A

=t BERBEUFATEEMEHRZR
RN 2 -

(iv)  BITEFAREBEELEL
ARAEBRBETE °

TEA2EZEER

V) HREHAERZINHNBRESETNE
RHA P EBEINGERRERINERAXZ
BEREAABE MARBERESTET
o

b_/\ﬁi jli&— = =5 E'E ﬂ
=+ Eliifyi BED NS TEM
EEMESRMARS B BERAHE -

O WERESNBE-_FT-NFR=
E_TFE-A=t—HUEFEREHLH
& e

EERAKER
BEEENEE_T-NFR-ZE_FT
F=A=1—BLLFEC WA YE
EfERRAER o

ESRIEERER
ﬁmﬁgyai—? j-l-lqz&—?—?

F=ZA=1— B LLFEC WA WE
TR IR EER -

RERHZEERBERAE=FM
Z B

REBEE_FT-NFR_F_FTF=F
=t- EIM:$F£ MERERTECES
ARFG FUEA] 26 =77 XA HRAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e)

()

(9)

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2019 and
2020, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and any connected
entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company has a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of 31st March 2019 and 2020 or at any time during
the years ended 31st March 2019 and 2020.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with highest emoluments in
the Group include one director (2019: two) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
in Note 9(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable
to the remaining four (2019: three) individuals
during the year are as follows:

e BRI

9 EEKEREEAEME(E)

(e)

(f)

(9)

BBUES  ZZASESEFZZE
AE%&%Z%%%ZE@H?EE—%E

mAZER  EERREMRZ 2
REE-F-NAFR-_FT_FTF=]

=t- Eiﬁf BEFHENES X
REEFEBANEBRZFERTLZ

MHERAIEAZER  EERRE
R Bk

BERNRS  ZPHAEHNHZEKX
*gg

ARAWERRI NN A RREETHEX
Fﬁ?%?ﬁﬁék*»ié# CRZT— hi&:
F_BE-A=t—HERZRKV=
—NER—FB-FF=A=1+— EILtE
JE R B ) N7 2 B AN SR (B SR A5 AR R
MEARS - ZHRAK -

TEEREHFAL
rEEREEEMEATBE —UES
—ENF WAL BEZHMER E
MHFE9(a) FTFI DT AR - REED
o/ EAEBIEM (=T —NF + =f1)
AT ZBEIT

2019
—E-hE

HK$'000
TET

Salaries and allowances e KRB
Bonus 4L

7,263
1,930

4,345
1,758

9,193 6,103
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERSAEEAEME(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(g) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (9) EEBEESFAL(E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: SN FATREE -

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—BEF —E-NE
- HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 —1,000,001 & TE
2,000,000 7T 2 2
- HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 —2,000,001 & TE
3,000,000 7T 1 1
- HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 —3,000,001 & TE
4,000,000 7T 1 —
No emoluments were paid/payable to the five REFWES N FEMAERAME T RS
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join B= 3 AT AES B MDA A & [ 5 1B
the Group or as compensation for loss of office BaE(ZZE—hF : HA) °

during the year (2019: Same).

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 10 IBKWARER
2020 2019
= N i —2-h%E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finance income BRI
Interest income: FEBUTA -
____.7shortterm bank deposits TEMRGER  t2e 4920
Finance costs B E R
Interest expenses: FELZH :
- bank borrowings —RITIBEE (73,981) (74,721)
— lease liabilities —HE&E (2,147) —
Bank charges RITE M (3,488) (5,917)
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, (79,616)  (80.638)
Net finance costs FH TS B (78,400) (75,718)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit
for the year.

During the year, subsidiaries established in Mainland
China are subject to China corporate income tax at
25% (2019: 25%).

The amount of income tax expense recorded in the
consolidated income statement represents:

e BRI

11 FIEHXH

AEECREERMERRZBITRERFER
et EERBUR NG EAINE R 2 TR o

EBFEHDEEAFE G ERTRERIZ
FHE16.5%(—ZF—NF : 16.5% ) EH B -

AEE R BERHA T 2 KB AR R =X
25% (ZZE— N5 : 25%) BN R EATE
o

REEEARTIIRZAFHI LB

2020 2019
S i —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TExT

Current income tax EHEH
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNEH 2,926 7,093
— China corporate income tax — RS 808 3,465
Deferred income tax (Note 22) EIEFT SR (FTE 22) (2,118) 2,889
1,616 13,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\

11

B MR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 11 FISHXH(E)

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to

profits of the consolidated entities is as follows:

HIBWT

AEEBRBA(EER), S8 f 2 BIREKRES
ERRMERZNEFAREKAEZERE
BERER

(Loss)/profit before income tax BrRELAT(ER), A (86,535) 17,826
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REARS e AR S

applicable to profit A i R E

in the respective jurisdictions ZBiIE (14,304) 13,358
Income not subject to tax BEGRRZ A (956) (1,394)
Expenses not deductible TRIHNH 2 2

for tax purposes 6,234 9,644
Tax losses not recognised as W ERERBELEMSHEE

deferred income tax assets FRIBE 1B 10,992 10,313
Deferred income tax liabilities in HE A B A R 9 R 2 A

respect of withholding tax on Z TEH0RR

Mainland China unremitted earnings ZIBELEFSH A G (278) (307)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised & /8 %t Bl R FEFRH

tax loss M ER (72) (872)
Recognition of tax losses previously MEREAIR B HERA

not recognised TiIAE1E = (17,295)
Income tax expenses Fr8®i sz 1,616 13,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

12 DIVIDENDS 12 BRE
The Board does not recommend the payment of final EFeT Az _EF=H
dividend for the year ended 31st March 2020 (2019: =T —BUEFERNRERE(ZZE—NF :
HK2.00 cents per ordinary share). FRE BB 2.0081) -
13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE 13. BREBER (FE),BF
(a) Basic (a) EXR
Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is FREBIRER(ER), B IHRARD
calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable TIEB A (ER) S BRAREE
to owners of the Company by the weighted BETEERZ NEFLHEGTEHE -
average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners — ANAR)#EH A FE(

of the Company (HK$'000) (B8),&wH(FErT) (90,309) 13,888
Weighted average number of BETEBERZ

ordinary shares in issue (‘000) IEEFEHE(FA) 641,232 640,861
Basic (loss)/earnings per R RRER

ordinary share (HK cents) (E518), /BRI CEM) (14.08) 217
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
(CONTINUED)

13. BREBR(BR) 2R (HE)

(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is
calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company'’s dilutive potential ordinary
shares arising from share options, for which a
calculation is done to determine the number of
shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the
monetary value of the subscription rights attached

TR AIEE(B1R), BN TIEERR
HEEBEEE L BRELBERM
MR RITHEING B IR F I
AHE - ARBABEEEENEE 2 BBk
RBBEMESL - Rt ERERARITE
BREMMNRBEECEKERFL - B
NEEREBARAEBE(EESARA
Befn 2 2FFHTHIE ) KB 2 B
2R - EXFIEBHZBEMEE RER
BREETEMEHRTZRMEE FLL

to outstanding share options. The number of
shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.

AARIER ARE(BER),
@ M & FRIAEE
FEBRREE(BER),

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company and used to
determine diluted (loss)/earnings

per ordinary share (HK$'000) BMN(FET) (90,309) 13,888
Weighted average number of BETEBERZ

ordinary shares in issue ('000) InREFEIE(FAR) 641,232 640,861
Adjustment for share options ('000)  BERSHE 2 FAEE(FAR)

(Note) (K172) — 5,692
Weighted average number of G E AR

ordinary shares for diluted (EB#8),/ &F

(loss)/earnings per =il g

ordinary share ('000) FHE(TF) 641,232 646,553
Diluted (loss)/earnings per iR EERES

ordinary share (HK cents) (E518) BRI GEM) (14.08) 2.15

Note: B3

HRFEBELRREEREENE  HEE=-T
—EF=A=THUIEENTRYLBREEEE
HBEREEBREAEEBER -

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st March 2020 was
the same as basic loss per share since all potential ordinary
shares are anti-dilutive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y%  BERDE

Leasehold
improvement, Motor
furniture and vehicles and
Buildings  equipment  Machinery vessels

GEERES

15 - B
BF PEL wE  ERMHA A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TBx TER FBx

At 1st April 2018 RZZE—-N\EMA—A
Cost AN 164,118 57,125 33,417 21,144 275,804
Accumulated depreciation e (70,498) (50,018) (12,967) (11,002)  (144,485)
Net book amount REFE 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
Year ended 31st March 2019 HE-T—h#F
=RA=T—HIFE
Opening net book amount B AR F 8 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
Transfer to inventory BERE — — (3) — (3)
Additions NE — 255 103 2,094 2,452
Acquisition of a subsidiary ~ KE—FRHBAA
(Note 36(c)) (Wit 36(c)) — 3,292 25,671 204 29,167
Disposals HE (926) (79) (67) (411) (1,483)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBAR
(Note 36(d)) (Hi#36(d)) (2) — — — (2)
Depreciation e (32,474) (3,342) (5,486) (1,893) (43,195)
Impairment loss REER — — (1,181) — (1,181)
Currency translation BERER
differences =8 (65) (114) — (128) (307)
Closing net book amount HRERE S 60,153 7,119 39,487 10,008 116,767
At 31st March 2019 RZE-NF=A=1+—H
Cost 5% 162,914 60,896 59,211 19,144 302,165
Accumulated depreciation REE (102,761) (53,777) (19,724) (9,136)  (185,398)
Net book amount EEFE 60,153 7,119 39,487 10,008 116,767
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BERKRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold
improvement, Motor
furniture and vehicles and
Buildings equipment  Machinery vessels

REm=E

£ B
gF K&t wE  REREM Et
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
TER TRR TR TER TRR

Year ended 31st March 2020 HE_T_T4&

=A=T—RIL%E
Opening net book amount HER T F 5 60,153 7,119 39,487 10,008 116,767
Additions RNE = 2,701 5,194 275 8,170
Disposals HE - (14) - (74) (88)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FHMREAR
(Note 36(a)) (H:#356(a)) - (268) (7,634) (7,124) (15,026)
Depreciation & (32,445) (2,982) (4,149) (1,093) (40,669)
Impairment loss (Note) REBREN ) (20,000) — - — (20,000)
Currency translation EHEER
differences =8 — (69) — (106) (175)
Closing net book amount HREmFE 7,708 6,487 32,898 1,886 48,979
At 31st March 2020 RZZ_FF=A=1—H
Cost 5% 162,914 59,726 48,979 6,976 278,595
Accumulated depreciation 25E
and impairment PSAEN (155,206) (53,239) (16,081) (5,090) (229,616)
Net book amount REFRE 7,708 6,487 32,898 1,886 48,979
Depreciation expense of approximately HK$3,558,000 & L 43,558,000 T (—F — N F:
(2019: HK$5,208,000) was charged to “cost of sales” and 5,208,000 7T ) & #4937,111,000 (==&
approximately HK$37,111,000 (2019: HK$37,987,000) was — L : 37,987,000 70 ) 5 BN R & B
charged to “general and administrative expenses” in the FKZIEERN | R —RETEXH BB -

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Note:

During the year ended 31st March 2020, due to the adverse global
economic performance, management considered there were indicators
of impairment of the Group’s Tsing Yi plant and thus undertaken an
assessment on the impairment of the related property, plant and
equipment. Based on the latest forecast utilisation of the Group’s
Tsing Yi plant to reflect the current performance and business outlook,
the estimated recoverable amounts of certain property, plant and
equipment were below its carrying amounts and an impairment charge
of HK$20,000,000 was recognised in “other (losses)/gains — net” for the
year ended 31st March 2020.

Property, plant and equipment have been attributed to the lowest cash-
generating unit and the recoverable amount has been determined
based on value-in-use calculation of present value of expected future
cash flows. Management determined the compound annual growth rate
of revenue over the period (assuming the lease of the Tsing Yi plant
will be renewed for similar terms upon expiry) with compound annual
growth rate ranging from 2% - 5%. The discount rate of 19.2% used in
the value-in-use calculation reflected specific risks relating to the cash-
generating unit.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

e BRI

14 Y% - BE K& ()

Wik

BE-T-ZTHE-A=1+—ALTFE BHRE2RLEEXRE
T ERERAAEESKEEELEEREZHR - H
A EYE - BERREETTREN S - REAEES
KM B2 ERARURMR B AT R REBREE - &
T - BEREHE 2 GTRESERAERERE - I
ERBE-—T-_ZH=A=1+—BLFEZHM(EE)/
Wz — F FEMERME X H 20,000,000 47T ©

ME  BEEKIMEEERSNBRSELEMN - mMolKkES
BORBYPRRRSRERE FRABEENEEE - §12
BEEHEARAZEAFERR(BREXREZHE
BREMIZEEGAESR)  MEAFERENT2%E
5% FARNEREETE 2T 10.2% RFEE G EE
BAAER 2 FFE R o

15 REWHE

2020 2019
el 33 —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTET THET
At fair value RAREE

At beginning of year REH] 1,413,227 1,389,377
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HEEATETERN 1,482 6,040

Fair value (loss)/gain on KEMEZ AR
investment properties, net (B18), W F5E (88) 108,865
Currency translation differences EHEIE N AR (89,797) (91,055)
At end of year RER 1,324,824 1,413,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE(E)
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income () REEEBERTERIAZRENWESD
statement for investment properties as follows: ZHAE :
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
TET
Rental income HE WA 51,718 58,124
Direct operating expenses REEEHESIA
from properties that B
generated rental income KX (8,547) (10,716)
43,171 47,408
(ii) Non-current assets pledged as security (i) BEHFERBEE
Investment properties of approximately B Y ¥ 491,324,256,000/8 (=&
HK$1,324,256,000 (2019: HK$1,404,990,000) — JUL%F : 1,404,990,0007% 7T ) B 1E &
was pledged as collaterals for certain of the REEE TIRITIEE 4 436,942,000 %8
Group’s bank borrowings of approximately ﬁ(wg}‘sﬂ&;@wq%ﬂ’mogmo OOO
HK$436,942,000 (Note 31) and bill payables B - F: BTEED
of approximately HK$109,100,000 (2019: bank 484,616,000 7T ) 2 B mE#
borrowings of approximately HK$484,616,000).
(iii) Valuation technique (iii) fH{ER
As at 31st March 2020, investment properties RZE-_TF=A=+—0 "EYW*
of approximately HK$1,324,824,000 (2019: #71,324,824,0008 T(ZF — L% -
HK$1,413,227,000) were stated at open market 1,413,227,000/8 70 ) JIHE S H B L
value based on valuations assessed by an HELABRGEEMEGZEELAART
independent professional qualified valuer and BHREAEEREH -

reviewed by the directors.

The following table analyses the investment TRABEEDTARABEYIER &
properties carried at fair value, by valuation BYE o
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(iiif) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

e BRI

15 REWE(E)
(i) fEEHM (&)
AREEFR

Description

Fair value measurement at 31st March 2020
using
R-B-BF=A=+-8H
ERATHERETZAABERE

Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets other Significant
observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
RIER ™% BEARHAM EDN
ABREE Bz TAHE
ZHRE WARE WARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—FE) (8=F&) (B=/E)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET TET

for identical

Recurring fair KEEQNEE
value measurement =
— Commercial units — BT
— Mainland China — R B A

1,324,824

Description

Fair value measurement at 31st March 2019 using
R-ZB-NF=A=+—H
EATIIEBETZAREENE

Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets other Significant
for identical observable  unobservable
assets inputs inputs
WERME EARHAM EPN
AHEREE 8RR TABR
ZiRE [P ¢ WAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—FE) (£=FE) (F=E)
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET

Recurring fair LEHERAAREE
value measurement Hp=
— Commercial units —EETT
- Mainland China — R Y3t

= = 1,413,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 BREYE(E)
(iii) Valuation technique (Continued) (iii) fHER ()
Fair value measurement using significant HEHEATOEZEGA Z R A EEFTE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (B=F)
Mainland
China
R E] A it
HK$'000
TAET
As at 1st April 2019 RZE—NFHEA—H 1,413,227
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HeRTBrER 1,482
Fair value loss on investment properties, net  REWHEZ ARBERE - F58 (88)
Currency translation differences BEEIE N =R (89,797)
As at 31st March 2020 R-ZZE_ZTF=A=+—H 1,324,824
Total unrealised loss for the year included A-E—TF=HA=+—H
in the consolidated income statement FrE B ERAFE T AFEEEmK
for assets held at 31st March 2020 2 AEL BB (88)
As at 1st April 2018 R-ZE—-N\FEOA—H 1,389,377
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERAZBTER 6,040
Fair value gain on investment properties wEME 2 A EEYE 108,865
Currency translation differences BN =R (91,055)
As at 31st March 2019 RZZE-NF=A=+—H 1,413,227
Total unrealised gains for the year included RZE—-—NF=HA=+—8H
in the consolidated income statement s EERAFEFAGEERE
for assets held at 31st March 2019 2 AEBR IS B 108,865
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iiif) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as

e BRI

15 ®REW=E(H)
(i) fEEHM (&)

BRHAEAT TBFEBAZ A AEEE
(F=/F) (&)
BERAEREATNTEEGA(F=E)Z
ARBEFBZEHNT :

follows:

Description

I

Fair value
(GLEX)]

DAEE

(FE)

Valuation
technique

EERN

Range of
Unobservable unobservable
inputs inputs
FUBE FAUEE
BAYE BAEEE

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FUBEBABER
MARBEZER

As at 31st March 2020

Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00%  The higher the adopted
market yields, the lower
yields the fair value

BEEDS 4.00%%5.00% CERAKEEES
K= DAABEME

R=B-%f
=A=1-H
Investment properties 1,324,824 Income capitalisation
- Mainland China approach and direct
comparison
approach
REME KEERLER
—RER BELEE
As at 31st March 2019
RZZ-NF
ZRA=1+-H
Investment properties 1,413,227  Income capitalisation
- Mainland China approach and direct
comparison approach
REME KHERER
—HE R BRELBA

market yields

4.00% t0 5.00%  The higher the adopted
yields, the lower

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of each financial
year. As at 31st March 2020, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2019:
Same).

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group’s
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

the fair value
4.00%%5.00% BEAKERHES
DAEEBE
REYFZ1GERESF

RNEBMEREINE B K & BB ERE
ETREVREERBRENEZ AAE
BE-R—ZTE-_TF=A=+—H @K
SEBRBZEREVMEZ AREEERH
ROGAETMITAERARBE(ZZE— N
& R o

AEE 2P B EPIE R BERE B HPT
T BB RIEETARARIEL
ZaHh - ARAGEERERERASE
BEEEER  UpEERFREES
H B IR TTRT o BARET ©

2019/20 Annual Report | 4%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

an\ 7f ﬁ& ﬂFb?( % |Zﬁ

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iiif) Valuation technique (Continued)

Valuation processes of the investment properties

(Continued)

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is

derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

15 ®REW=E(H)
(iii) fEEHAM (&)

REWXZ 14 EESF (&)
AEBERNERSE = ER AR LT
ERT

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between
the comparables and the investment properties
in terms of location, building quality and other

Z‘“ﬂﬁm%l&/\f RSETRHER
SFRERELREHBIARBRA LR
MERRBEMERELE  BTEER
HEtEARTHER) TINEE -

factors.

16 LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent
prepaid operating lease payments in the PRC with 60
years term and their net book amounts are analysed as

follows:

16 T fEARE

78R T3 -+ 4 58 PR 2 M2 0 35 20 B
60 % 2 TN B R A HE R EEEFES
m :

2019

—E-NF

HK$'000

FExT

At beginning of year REH] 9,019 9,316
Change in accounting policy (Note 2.2) &=tBURES(f1iF2.2) (9,019) —
Amortisation B = (202)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36(d)) HE—RHMB AR (A 36(d)) — (95)
At end of year RER — 9,019

Land use rights previously presented as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position
was reclassified as right-of-use assets with effect from
1st April 2019. See Note 2.2 for adjustments recognised

on initial adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1st April 2019.

Amortisation of land use rights has been included
in “general and administrative expenses” in the

consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the
group is a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

17

e BRI

HE
AWEREHE(BEARBAEEAN)ZER -

(i) REEHMBERRRERZSHE

A MBRRREI AT RAEHEBRZ
R ¢

31st March 1st April
2020 2019*
=B=FF =l
=A=+—H MA—H*
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights T fE R 8,817 9,019
Sites, shops, offices TiHh - pH8E ~ PHAE
and warehouses rEE 23,273 46,374
32,090 55,393
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current MED 23,693 22,465
Non-current JEmED 3,499 27,810
27,192 50,275

*

See Note 2.2 for adjustments recognised on initial
adoption of HKFRS 16 on 1st April 2019.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31st March 2020 were HK$12,849,000.

BHER-T—NENA—BIBREMNES
M RE A F165RFHER 2 HE - Bt
$2.2¢

BHE_Z_ZTFE=A=+—HBIEFER
BEEFRAEEEA 12,849,000 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

17 LEASES (CONTINUED) 17 HE (&)

(i) ERRAEE

(ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the CDREANEREEER T EEERHE
following types of assets: 7

Sites, shops,

Land offices and
use rights warehouses
Tib - e -
THERAE BAERER
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET THET
At 31st March 2019 RZZE—NEF
=H=+—H — — —
Change in accounting SETHUR
policy (Note 2.2) (M¥zE2.2) 9,019 46,374 55,393
Restated total at R-ZE—HFMA—H
1st April 2019 ZE8E | dagh 9,019 46,374 55,393
Additions NE — 12,849 12,849
Depreciation e (202) (23,777) (23,979)
Modification of ME& BT
lease contracts — (11,845) (11,845)
Exchange differences e ZER — (328) (328)
At 31st March 2020 R-ZZE_TF
=H="F—H 8,817 23,273 32,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

B HRR M

an\

17 HE(E)

(iii)

REGEEREREZZEH

rE MR 2 ATERBESHEE 2K
I8 :

\

2020 2019
= =F-1F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Depreciation of right-of-use FEREEEZRE
assets
Land use rights T fE AR 202 —
Sites, shops, offices T - PE4 -
and warehouses WREREER 23,777 —
7 23,979 =
Interest expense for HEEE
lease liabilities ZMBRX 10 2,147 —
Expenses relating to BHGHEE
short-term leases 53 7 3,125 —

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31st March 2020 was HK$28,899,000.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various sites, retail shops,
offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 7
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

(iv)

HERBE-_ZT-_TF=A=+—HIt
FE 2R R #E% A 28,899,000

JC ©

FEBzHEEHRAEHARN

AEEHERETH  FMH - HAE
RE - -HEAHN—REZBETHR—Et
FRIIL °

MEGFRERNEERE B8R
T EMER R At - FH 5 199 -8 3F 8 B A0 AE
MR EHEEETSREREZR
e o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18 EEE

Distribution Customer
Goodwill rights contracts Total

[k DiEE  BFEXN mE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE#n  FEn TR AR

At 1st April 2018 RZE—N\FEA—H
Cost [B#N 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation — ZEtH#EHs
and impairment NYERIE! (10,664) (7,939) (590) (19,193)
Net book amount BREFER 2,494 — 4113 6,607
Year ended 31st March BE-_ZT—NF
2019 —A=+—HIFE
Opening net book amount  HA%IBREF5E 2,494 — 4,113 6,607
Amortisation B 5 — — (1,511) (1,511)
Impairment BIE (2,494) — — (2,494)
Closing net book amount  HiRBREFE — — 2,602 2,602
At 31st March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—AH
Cost XA 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation ~ Z&HEs
and impairment FoRE (13,158) (7,939) (2,101) (23,198)
Net book amount BREF=E — — 2,602 2,602
Year ended 31st March BT —=F
2020 ZA=Z+—HILFE
Opening net book amount  HA¥IBRMEF 58 — — 2,602 2,602
Amortisation By — — (1,109) (1,109)
Closing net book amount  HARBERME F 58 — — 1,493 1,493
At 31st March 2020 RZEZTF=H=+—H
Cost B AN 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation — ZEtEEH
and impairment YR (13,158) (7,939) (3,210) (24,307)
Net book amount BRTEFRE — — 1,493 1,493
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

Customer contracts

The customer contracts were acquired as part of
a business combination, and are recognised at
their fair value at the date of acquisition and are
subsequently amortised based on the timing of
projected cash flows of the contracts over their
estimate useful lives.

Amortisation expense of customer contracts has
been included in the “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating
unit (“CGU") of Property Investment and Project
Management Business - Fanrich Consultants
(Shanghai) Limited (“Fanrich”).

During the year ended 31st March 2019, management
has performed impairment assessments for the
CGU of Fanrich, and concluded its value-in-
use was below its carrying amount. Accordingly,
impairment of goodwill of HK$2,494,000 was
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

e ISR M R

8 BIEE(E)

()

(i)

gﬁ =] n}J

BEPAKNIERERA I —#o MK

B YRWERBMREAREBERR
E%@ﬁﬁﬁT@%i%WAﬁmﬁﬁ
EE//H,ZH—I Fﬂ%&fﬁ

BEFAABHEHEFAGRERARS
W —RITERREEER] -

[k RN EES

HESRE $EIEWF&§&EEE
f@%ﬁ% K%?ﬂﬁuu n@(i/i)ﬁﬁﬁ
UR%DWE@F&%MUE@FE?
fiz]) e

R-B-hE=A=1+—BIFER -
BB KERSELEMETTER
B TREEFEAEEERNEERRA
B - itk - BERIE2,494,000/8 T2
REREBmARPHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 19 €T ESE
Fair value
Fair value through other
Loan and through comprehensive
receivables profit or loss income
ST AHA
EXR FABREZ ZHKAZ
P R AREE ARERE ok
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TER TR TR
As at 31st March 2020 R-B-BF=A=1+-8H
Assets as per consolidated statement 448 BSIARA
of financial position 2B
Financial assets at BARBEFAEMEZE
fair value through other WAZeREE
comprehensive income = = 62 62
Trade and other receivables U R 0 e L A PR LR AR X
(excluding non-financial assets) (MEfEEEREE) 383,847 - - 383,847
Financial assets at fair value BARBERAES
through profit or loss LERBE — 15,820 — 15,820
Pledged bank deposits EEBRITER 9,137 — — 9,137
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeE 120,045 — — 120,045
Total k) 513,029 15,820 62 528,911

At amortised

cost
HK$’000
FHEx

As at 31st March 2020 R=B=-BF=HF=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement e B IEAR R A
of financial position ZB8fE

Borrowings BE 1,415,638
Trade and bill payables FERBR R R RE 166,929
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) EfEMER(TR2EEELRHEE) 46,584
Lease liabilities HERE 27,192
Total Fok ) 1,656,343

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#&%‘%ﬁﬁ

19 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 19 €T ESE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value
Fair value through other
Loan and through comprehensive
receivables  profit or loss income
T AHAM
EMR FABEZ 2HBRAZ
E’EIBZ,EE/\ AREE AREE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEr THx TEx
As at 31st March 2019 RZB-hnF=ZA=t+-8H
Assets as per consolidated statement 448 BSIARA
of financial position 2B
Financial assets at BAREE
fair value through SAHMREBA
other comprehensive income LERBE — — 144 144
Trade and other receivables M R 0 e L A FE LR AR X
(excluding non-financial assets) (MEfEEEREE) 513,037 — — 513,037
Financial assets at fair value BARBERAES
through profit or loss LERBE — 36,698 — 36,698
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER 38,884 — — 38,884
Cash and cash equivalents RekHReEE 126,775 — — 126,775
Total k) 678,696 36,698 144 715,538

At amortised

cost
b7g: Ki)DN
HK$'000
F#&T

As at 31st March 2019 R=B-AF=R=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement e B IEAR R A
of financial position ZB8fE

Borrowings BE 1,492,549
Trade and bill payables FERBR R R RE 189,093
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) EfEMER(TR2EFEELRHEE) 50,600
Total Fok ) 1,732,242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n\/T\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

20 SUBSIDIARIES 20 MiE A T

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March AT ECEF=-A=+—HZTENB AR ZFIE
2020 are as follows: wm

Particulars of
issued share capital/
registered capital
BRIREK/
EMER 2

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
S/ KL

Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
ADAEE
RARGAEAL

Principal activities
and place

of operations
FTEXK

RitaRREE REEHH

2020
—7—7$

Asia Infrastructure Resources ~ Cayman Islands, HK$0.2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong
ENEREREEARAA REHE ARALAR 0.27 REBREAR
Fanrich Consultants Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 42% 42%  Provision of investment
(Shanghai) Limited* limited liability company consultancy services
in Mainland China
KEREFALE)BRAT EA  AREEAT AR 10,000,000 R BRI R & AR
Hongkong and Shanghai Land ~ Cayman Islands, US$5 60% 60%  Fund Management outside
Capital Ltd. limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEMERNERAA REHE ARALAR 5% REBRPERBIAINE
HEHEER
Hongkong and Shanghai Land  British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong
and Mainland China
BEMESEERAA AERLESE  BREARA ES REERPERRERR
HSL Asset Management Hong Kong, HK$1 60% 60%  Provision of
(HK) Limited limited liability company management services
in Hong Kong
BREEER(FH)RRAR &% AREMLAF 1871 REBREEERS
HSL Investment Advisory Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 60%  Provision of investment
(HK) Limited limited liability company advisory services
in Hong Kong
BEREHAER)BRAT &E ARELAHA 18T REBREREHARE
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62%  Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong
and Mainland China
BHERRA AERAES  AREARA 100%7T REBRTEMHREER
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Mainland China, RMB27,500,000 80.9% 80.9%  Stockholding and
International Trading Co., Ltd.* limited liability company trading of steel in
Mainland China
LEBRERRESARAH EA  AREEAT AE# 27,500,000 RABRt R EREE @M
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20 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

20 MEAR(E)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
RUVNEWE E S

RERRRME

Particulars of

issued share capital/

registered capital
BRATRE/
EMER 2 E

Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
RARER
RAEREDL

2020
—g-%f

2019
=8-1F

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TEXH
RiEEHY

Top Bloom Group Limited British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% — Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EBRAEE  BREARA 1% REBRPERBRERR
Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) British Virgin Islands, US$6 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited (i) limited liability company in Hong Kong
RERAES  AREMARA 6ET REBREBR
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of
limited liability company and HK$10,000,000 management services
non-voting deferred in Hong Kong
EIRETARAH &% ARELAR 2,000 T EBMK REEREER RS
510,000,000 7T
ERZEETRN
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares,
Company Limited limited liability company kitchen cabinets and
kitchen cabinet
installation
in Hong Kong
BIBEREMHERAT &% ARAMLAA 2B REBEERARAREHE
DREZEER
VSC Building Products Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
(Macau) Company Limited limited liability company in Macau
EIREREMH(RM)ERAA  RFY ERELARA &P 30,0007 REFEEERRE
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 100%  Principally engaged
Solutions Limited limited liability company in the provision of
steel processing
services in Hong Kong
&% ARAMLAA 156,568,000 7T REBIRUSHE MR
VSC Plastics Company Limited  Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of engineering
limited liability company plastics in Hong Kong
EIREZBERAA &% ARELAR 28T REBEEIREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

20 MEAR(E)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment and issued share capital/  equity interest attributable  and place
kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
HMEYL/ RS BRIREK/ ADAEE TEXK
RERERLE EMER 2 F#E REEREDL REEHH
2020
— 7 —% ﬁ
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 trading of steel
non-voting deferred in Hong Kong
EIREREARAR & BERELATA 38,000 BT BiER REBFHEREEEN
520,000,000 87
ERFEETERN
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Holdings Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong,
and provision of
logistic and
management service
of steel
EIRE M MIERBRAR &4 ARRLEAT 18T REBREERRAMH
kﬁ\m/m& B @HE@W
VSC Steel Processing Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Principally engaged
limited liability company in the operation of
the land situated
in Tsing Yi
EIRERMMIERAR & BERELATA 18T FELEMNER 2L
LN BEXERAA Mainland China, limited RMB429,130,000 100% 100%  Holding property
liability company in Mainland China
PEM BRAEAF AR 429,130,000 RPBERBEEDE
HELREXERAF Mainland China, limited RMB92,835,165 100% 100%  Holding property
liability company in Mainland China
ER BREEAR AR# 92,835,165 KBRS AN E
LBREREERERLA Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 60% 60%  Provision of asset
limited liability company and investment
management services
in Mainland China
PEM BRAEAA 20,000,000 7T RPBERBREEER

REERRH

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R
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20 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

20 MEAR(E)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of

Percentage of

Principal activities

establishment and issued share capital/  equity interest attributable  and place
kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
AR/ Rt BRITRE/ ADAEE TERH
REeERNE EMERz#E REEREDL REEHH
2020
b . 22
LEMEERELLEERAR Mainland China, US$1,500,000 60% 60%  Property agent
limited liability company in Mainland China
RER AREEAR 1,500,000% 7t R AR AERE
MERERES(8)ERAE  Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
mER - EREEAF 6,500,000 7T R BN EEGAZA
EBE(LE)¥EEBRAR  Mainland China, US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of
limited liability company management service
and trading of
sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets
in Mainland China
RN EREELF 7,280,000% T RpE AR ER RS
NREEGRZAREE
PEEH(LB)RRAA Mainland China, RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of
limited liability company engineering plastics
in Mainland China
EM BREEAF AR 5,000,000 REERHEETREE
RE=SEMBRAR Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
PER BREEAR AR 10,000,000 RPEABEEERZE

Note:

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held
indirectly.

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results of the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

* For identification only

ERE

(i) Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) Limited Z i% 5 B A2
AEERE - HiKMBARZROBERS

INEMMNHEDNEERREARB L XEREEELEEY
BIMBAR  EERARIHEMHBARZFEESE

FHERIUE °

* (EXES= 03]
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21 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 21 UERZEARZEE
EQUITY METHOD

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of NTHIANEBR-_ZE-_ZEF=HA=+—H
the Group as at 31st March 2020. The entities listed ZHERNRREERNE - LAY EEER
below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary BRI IR  BAEERERES -

shares, which are held directly by the Group.

Details of the principal investments in associates and R-ZE_ZTEF=ZA=1+—HRBEZER A KA
joint ventures as at 31st March 2020 are as follows: ERNRZEEREFBUON :

Place of
business/country % of Nature
establishment/ ownership of the Measurement
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method Carrying amount
BREH SR E R BEREZEAL BELE iTEEE REE
2020 2019 2020 2019
ZB-RE ZEBR-RE “B-BE ZEB-NF
% % HK$°000 HK$'000
Aotk Bt TR TER
HSL Shanghai Office  Mainland China/ 15% 15% Joint venture Equity method 266,209 299,747
Partners | Limited British Virgin (i)
(“HSQ”) and Islands
its subsidiaries
HSL Shanghai Office R ER,/ BEDA() EmE
Partners | Limited RERLES
(THSO ) REMB A
Skyline Holdings (BVI)  British Virgin 5% — Associate (i) Equity method 47,614 =

Limited (“Skyline”) Islands
and its subsidiaries

Skyline Holdings (BVI) HEBREZES Ba 0 (i) R
Limited (['Skyline]) &
0 N
Immaterial as below:
HUTEEBTEL
China Able Limited Mainland China/ 33.33% 33.33%  Associate (iii)  Equity method = =
(“China Able”) British Virgin
Islands
FE A, BEDT i) A
RERLES

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBHA1ERBR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

21 DR

B HRR M

an\

EARZIRE(E)

Place of
business/country % of Nature
establishment/ ownership of the Measurement
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship method Carrying amount
BRER ERALER BEERZAINL BAKE Ep-9: 3 L
2020 2019 2020 2019
“ECRF ZB-NF ZECRF ZER-NE
% % HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt Ant TiEx TiEn
Changshu Baoshunchang Mainland China = 59.99%  Associate (iv) Equity method = =
Steel Processing Co., Ltd
( Changshu Baoshunchang )
EREEEAMMIERAR mElR BERT(v) BR%
(( AERE])
Total investments accounted for using the equity method
RESEAERE LR 313,823 299,747
Notes: ks

(if)

HSO and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
investment and project management business in Mainland China
and is owned as to 15% by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”)
(an indirect 62% owned subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by
Reco Wisteria Private Limited (“RECQO”) (an independent third
party). As at 31st March 2020, Plentiful has contributed capital,
aggregated to US$ 36,909,000 (2019: Same).

Skyline and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in property
investment and project management business in Mainland
China and is owned as to 95% by Apollo Skyline Holding
Limited (“Apollo”) (an independent third party) and 5% by Top
Bloom Group Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company). As at 31st March 2020, Top Bloom
has contributed capital, aggregated to US$6,086,000 (equivalent
to HK$47,614,000).

(if)

HSO R EM B AR E BN E A EEHER
BRIEBTEER  HBEWBRAR([EH] -
AR RIEEE 62% 2 HENB AR )HEE 15% & A
Reco Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] » ¥z
FE=H)HEE8% R-_TE-_TF=A=+—8 "
BB A HHE 36,909,000 (=T — 4 :
@) °

Skyline R B AR EZRF BN MK FF
ERERERERER  HHApolo Skyline
Holding Limited ([Apollo] © & & 2 & = 7 )
# 595% & HiTop Bloom Group Limited ([Top
Bloom| ' AXQRIEEZEMB AR EE 5% °
R=ZT=TF=A=+—H ' Top BloomEB & #iH
& 6,086,000 % 7T (FHE 7 47,614,000 7T) ©
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an\

21

B MR M

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

China Able was engaged in the property business. It is a
contractual joint venture which is held in equal shares among
Fit Team Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Nanyang Industrial (China) Limited, an
independent third party, and Marvel Champ Investments Limited,
another independent third party. It remains inactive since
distribution was made to shareholders in prior years. The Group
has shared the losses of this associate to the extent of the
Group’s interest in this associate.

Changshu Baoshunchang is engaged in the processing of steel.
It is a contractual joint venture established in Mainland China
with an operating period of 30 years to 2034. On 3rd December
2018, VSC (China) Investments Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired the entire issued
share capital of WS Holdings Limited at a consideration of US$1
and WS Holdings Limited holds 10% equity interest of Changshu
Baoshunchang. As such, the Company holds 59.99% equity
interest of Changshu Baoshunchang after the acquisition of WS
Holdings Limited. Management assessed the Group maintained
significant influence and no control over the operating activities
of the entity since there is no change in the composition of board
and the voting right after the acquisition of WS Holdings Limited.

During the year ended 31st March 2020, the Group disposed its
entire 59.99% equity interest of Changshu Baoshunchang. See
Note 36(b) for details.

Commitments in respect of associates and joint
ventures

21 DESZEARZKRE(R)

Fi3

(iii)

(iv)

BRAmE

()

China Able{t EFEMEXTE - HAA AR —HHE
Z2&HBARFit Team Holdings Limited © —
BUE=FRAFIEFR)AERARRS BB
% =77 Marvel Champ Investments Limited At
FAHESERMHZ —HEELE - HRNBAFHER
FRERIEH D IR E TS - AEBE BRI E AR
ZiEm DB E AR 2 B -

BEABIEEREMEMNT - ARFEAMRLZAE
E% - EEHIRAOFE_T=MF It - K=

T-N\F+ZA=8  ARREE2EEEHBR

AEIEE(PE)EEFRARWEWS Holdings
Limited ) 2 HEETRA - KRER1ET M
WS Holdings Limited 8 ® A EEE 10% K42
25 o Bt - RUBEWS Holdings Limited % » AR
A EEAEIES 59.99% KAk #E - AR UEEWS
Holdings Limited 142 S& MK AR S2AR D 48 &
B MERENMAEEEZEB LTSRS

BARME ML EIEGIRE -

REBE=Z
HEHRE
8] 36

BRI

“EFE=ZHA=+—HLFE AKEHE
ABIES 2 FTE 59.99% s - BRI
(b)

ARRAE AT A

Commitment — associate

A —
Commitment to provide funding — R
for associate’s capital

commitments, if called

A
REBER BB ERT
ZERFBRNE S

30,348 —
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 21 UERZEARZERE(E)
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

The movements of interests in associates and joint REE AT RESNR ZEREEINT
ventures are as follows:

“E-EE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
At beginning of year REH] 299,747 19,931
Share of (loss)/profit of investments FElE RS AARZIRE
accounted for using the equity (E518), %A - F5E
method, net (12,947) 19,276
Transfer to a subsidiary (Note 36(c)) R E —ENEB AR (it 36(c)) — (18,554)
Investment in HSO (Note (i) MHSO 2 & & (Kiat (i) — 289,590
Investment in Skyline (Note (ii)) 1R Skyline Z & & (K172 (ii)) 47,614 —
Currency translation differences EHEE N R (20,591) (10,496)
At end of year RER 313,823 299,747
Notes: st
(i) On 18th April 2018, the Company, Plentiful, Hongkong and (i) RZZE-N\FWA+/N\B » R"RAF - 818 - BEM
Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. (“Venture Manager”) (an indirect EBAARERAGI([RESEAl KAFZ60%MRE
60% subsidiary of the Company) and HSO entered into the EHBATF) RHSO T R RIRR R - Bt
subscription and shareholders’ agreement, pursuant to which 28 ¥4 LA 4,5003 7T R BEHSOM0.45 % A% 2+ T
Plentiful subscribed for 0.45 share of HSO at US$4,500 and RECO LA 25,500 3% 7t 33 B HSO 19 2.55 A% A 19 ([ 7%
RECO subscribed for 2.55 shares of HSO at US$25,500 (the RG] e ZRHGR_E—NENA—HEK ' HSO
“Transaction”). The Transaction was completed on 1st June FAAHER 156% M RECO #EH 85% °
2018, since then HSO is owned as to 15% by Plentiful and 85%
by RECO.
During the year ended 31st March 2019, Plentiful has contributed REE-Z—NAF=A=1t—RALEERN ' BHA
US$36,909,000 (equivalent to HK$289,590,000) to HSO. HSO # A 36,909,000 % 7 (85 289,590,000
BIT) °
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21

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

On 27th November 2019, Top Bloom, Apollo and Skyline entered
into a framework agreement (“Framework Agreement”) for the
purpose of acquiring 100% of equity interests in Shanghai
Skyway Grand Hotel Co., Ltd which held majority of the gross
floor area of Great Wall Financial Building. Pursuant to the
Framework Agreement, Apollo subscribed 95 shares and Top
Bloom subscribed 4 shares of Skyline, together with the 1 share
held by Top Bloom before the subscription, Skyline is then
owned as to 95% by Apollo and 5% by Top Bloom.

Apollo and Top Bloom committed to make a contribution to
Skyline in the form of shareholder loan of US$190 million and
US$10 million, respectively. As at 31st March 2020, Apollo and
Top Bloom have contributed aggregated of US$115,638,000
(equivalent to HK$904,661,000) and US$6,086,000 (equivalent to
HK$47,614,000) to Skyline, by way of interest-free shareholder
loans, respectively. In regards of these shareholder loans,
they are interest-free and the repayment requires a unanimous
approval of all directors of Skyline. As such, these shareholder
loans are regarded as part of the investment in the associate.

The acquisition of equity interest in Shanghai Skyway Grand
Hotel Co., Ltd was completed in June 2020.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/&E A 1ZR AR A R

21 DEREARZKRE(HE)

BifeE - ()

(if)

RZZ—NAF+—A=++tH8 Top Bloom:*
Apollo &3 Skyline 5T S AE R % ((MEZR ek 1) - A
Uk Shanghai Skyway Grand Hotel Co., Ltd
(ERFARBEMAEZ AEHELEE) Z 100%
B4 o IRIZIEZR 3% Apollo &2 Top Bloom % 7l
R & Skyline 2 95 A% Bk 0 R4 R% Bk 15 - # [ Top
Bloom AR HERIFTHF A 2 1B A& 5 + Skyline H &
% Bllea Apollo X Top Bloom # 5 95% . 5% °

Apollo# Top Bloom 7 5 9 Bl LA B% B & 3 X M)
Skyline j& 190,000,000 7t & 10,000,000 7T °
RZZZZTF=A=+—H ' Apollo& Top Bloom
B9 RlIA% EREBE R 2 [Fskyline £ & &
#3115,638,000 3 7t (18 % 7 904,661,000 7T ) &
6,086,000 % JT(H 55 72 47,614,000/8 7T ) © 25 &
RERARE - MERERESKyline 2EBEE—HF
B Bt - ZERFEFWE AR EARIREZ

—#5 -

k& Shanghai Skyway Grand Hotel Co., Ltd 2
BEER-_Z-_TFEAEX °
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 21 LI FEABEZRE(H#)
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures EENTIRBE AT EERNENE
and associates

The tables below provide summarised financial TRIEHEEAEEMSBEE 282 207K
information for the joint venture and the associate that BMENTIZHBERIRE - i E 2 EKHE
are material to the Group. The information disclosed R Z2F|RIEES & A5 RS A T B
reflects the amounts presented in the financial RAZ SR MIEAREEZEHEHE -

statements of the relevant joint venture and associate
and not the Group's share of those amounts.

HSO (Note (i) Skyline Total
HSO (& (i) Skyline fit
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

—?—?ﬁ :ﬁ—hﬁ —7—7¢ :E%—jli —v——\'ﬁ :E—ﬂﬁ
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THL  TER  TER  TEr  TAR AR

Summarised statement of ~ HBHIAHE

financial position
Cash and cash equivalents ~ BR&RkREE 9,907 10,757 717 — 10,624 10,757
Other current assets HiyRBBE 93,531 121,705 - — 93,531 121,705
Total current assets MEEERE 103,438 132,462 717 — 104,155 132,462

Financial liabilities and total ~ #BBER

current liabilities FEN K (72,317) (60,195) — - (72,317) (60,195)
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,878,510 4,112,486 951,558 — 4,830,068 4,112,486
Other non-current liabilites ~ EftIERHEE (2,134,905)  (2,186,440) - —  (2,134,905) (2,186,440)
Net assets BEFR 1,774,726 1,998,313 952,275 — 2,727,001 1,998,313
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e BRI

21 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

21 DUESZEARZKRE(R)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures

and associates (Continued)

SERQ

ARBEARMBERRE(E)

HSO (Note (i))
HSO (&E (i)

2020
S L

HK$’000
TR

2019

ZB-hE
HK$'000

FTAR

Skyline
Skyline

2020
t St 23

HK$’000
TiEn

2019
ZE-NEF
HK$'000
AL

Total

VAN
(=AY

2020
S BE

HK$’000
TiEr

2019
-
HK$'000
T

Summarised statement of ~ 2EHEZAME
comprehensive income

Revenue WA 109,505 66,207 - — 109,505 66,207
Finance income I ON 782 2,039 - — 782 2,039
Finance cost HHER (125,699) (69,669) — —  (125,699) (69,669)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRI (B8), /57 (86,791) 194,262 - — (86,791) 194,262
Income tax credit/(expense)  FiigHiER,/ (i) 478 (56,575) - — 478 (56,575)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER)/ & (86,313) 137,687 — - (86,313) 137,687
Currency translation ERELEE

differences (137,274) (69,974) - —  (137,274) (69,974)
Total comprehensive (loss))  FEzH(EER)/

income for the year WA BE (223,587) 67,713 - —  (223,587) 67,713
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21 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 21 LUEREAEZIRE(E)
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures EERQNTIRBEATKERBE (&)
and associates (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information for BEIEASERFGRBE LGz EEFHE
individually material joint venture and associate E003

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information FTERMERERNHEEAERNSZNT R
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s BtaENEl R EmE B -

interests in the joint venture and the associate.

2020 2019
—BCEF —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTHERT

Summarised financial information HEEREE

Net assets at beginning of year REY 2 BEFHE 1,998,313 —

Capital injection by shareholders &R 2 EE (B (i)

(Note (ii) 952,275 1,930,600
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER),=H (86,313) 137,687
Currency translation differences EHEIE =R (137,274) (69,974)
Net assets at end of year RERZEEFH 2,727,001 1,998,313
Investments accounted for using FREREARZESER

the equity method

— Carrying value —fREE 313,823 299,747
Notes: Kﬁﬁf .

(i) HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to (i) HSO ZEEANSIB Y & ERGEM - UEBTHR &5
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end WFEEFERREMEZ AABE R _TF=
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2020, the fair value of the A=+—8 REMEZAABEHRMSHITEE
investment properties was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle ERFBAERATET(ZE—NLF : HEA)

Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (2019: same).

(i) ~ For HSO, during the year ended 31st March 2019, Plentiful and (ii) MHSOME ' B#E_FT—NF=ZA=1+—HLF
RECO made a capital injection, totalled to US$246,060,000 EA - B ERECOZ LA £/E & 246,060,000
(equivalent to HK$1,930,600,000) to HSO on a pro rata basis. 2% 7t (48 & 7 1,930,600,000 7% 7t ) ° %t Skyline i
For Skyline, during the year ended 31st March 2020, Top Bloom S HE_ZT-_ZTHF=-A=1+—HLFE Top
and Apollo made a capital injection, totalled to US$121,724,000 Bloom K& Apollo& )£ & 121,724,000 € T (4B E
(equivalent to HK$952,275,000). 952,275,000 L) °
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21 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE = 21 LUEREABEZIRE(E)
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for joint ventures EERATIRBMEATEERME (&)
and associates (Continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information P2 2l 2 B 75 & 4 #F B 7K ZE [ M B FEE A
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests BENFGREE NG R REE 4%

in individually immaterial associates and joint venture

In addition to the interests in the joint venture and the [ R NN =R WNCIDE: A WNCIPA X
associate disclosed above, the Group also has interests Sh e REBEITNRA TERBIFEE KRB E AR K&
in a number of individually immaterial associates and ABENTEARER  WARZREAALR -

joint venture that are accounted for using the equity

method.

2020 2019
—B-%F =F-0F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THERT
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s REBERLESH
share of:
Loss for the year FEEE — (1,377)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 22 EEFBHREE (AE)
(LIABILITIES)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset ERAKEEMEHEERRBMEHAE
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset B Z B FEREI AT  URER —Fi5#
current income tax assets against current income tax AR EEREL S N EERH EEFET
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets FEMEENELEMEHRAaEBWMER -
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same HP ARSI EREEESER B
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different SR EEHBE ] EREEE - KESEN
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the T

balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as

follows:

2019
ZE-NF
HK$’'000
FET
Deferred income tax assets: FEEMSMEE
— Deferred income tax assets expected —TEEBGHN+ @A EUKE 2
to be recovered after 12 months RIEFTSIHEE 39,737 33,215
— Deferred income tax assets expected —FEHAHN+ @A AlkE~
to be recovered within 12 months BEEFSTEE 13,367 13,867
53,104 47,082
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFSHBE
— Deferred income tax liabilities —FEHER T _EARBEZ
expected to be settled after BLEMSTHAG
12 months (89,541) (92,162)
Net deferred income tax liabilities SR AEFE (36,437) (45,080)
The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are EEFT SR AaEFEEsm T
as follows:

2020 2019

ZEIEE —E-NEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At beginning of year REF] (45,080) (46,339)
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 KN BE B RS ER

(Note 2.2(a)) L16RZHEB (Nt 2.2(a)) 650 =

As 1st April, as restated R A—HB((EES)) (44,430) (46,339)

Credited/(charged) to the consolidated BER&ZRAEBREET

income statement (Note 11) SEA (R (HfaE11) 2,118 (2,889)

Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36 (d))  H&E—REHERR(#:+36(d) — (490)

Currency translation differences HHE H =58 5,875 4,638

At end of year RER (36,437) (45,080)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 22 EIEBHEE (&E8) (&)
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)
The movements in deferred income tax assets AREEBRLEFMESHEENBE(WENE—
and liabilities during the year, without taking into MIEEL AR AN &) 22 FHT

consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: REFTEREE :

Cumulative Decelerated

tax losses depreciation Others Total
Rt
BEER BT E Hit st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FHERT TET FET TET
At 1st April 2018 RZE—N\FHA—H 33,572 461 — 34,033
Credited/(charged) to EREREERERF
the consolidated A ($8)
income statement 22,790 4,188 — 26,978
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBAA
(Note 36 (d)) (Bt 36(d)) (490) — — (490)
Currency translation SHEN 5
differences (562) — — (562)
At 31st March 2019 RZZE-NAF=A=+—H 55,310 4,649 — 59,959
Effect of adoption of RN BT RS 2R
HFRS 16 (Note 2.2(a)) F16HTE
(Hi:£2.2(a)) — — 650 650
As 1st April, as restated RUA—A(&EE7) 55,310 4,649 650 60,609
(Charged)/credited to the ERiREERERT
consolidated (308R),/FA
income statement (4,574) 4,757 402 585
Currency translation SHER 5
differences (424) = = (424)
At 31st March 2020 RZE_TF=A=+—H 50,312 9,406 1,052 60,770
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

22 EEFRBHEE (&E) (&)

Deferred income tax liabilities: REFTETREE

Investment Withholding Accelerated

properties tax depreciation Total
REME BEMH EHFTE #gt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THEx THEx FBT
At st April 2018 R-ZE—N\EMA—A (77,157) (610) (2,605) (80,372)
(Charged)/credited to ERiREERERT
the consolidated (30B%),/FEA
income statement (27,216) 307 (2,958) (29,867)
Currency translation EEEY
differences =8 5,200 — — 5,200
At 31st March 2019 RZE—-hF=A=+—H (99,173) (303) (5,563) (105,039)
Credited to the consolidated ~ ER&GAEBHERP
income statement A 22 278 1,233 1,533
Currency translation G N
differences =x 6,299 — — 6,299
At 31st March 2020 R-B-TE-A=+—A (92,852) (25) (4,330) (97,207)

As at 31st March 2020, investment properties located in
Mainland China amounted to HK$1,324,824 000 (2019:
HK$1,413,227,000) are held by certain subsidiaries
with a business model to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. The
Group has measured the deferred tax relating to the
temporary differences of these investment properties
using the tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent
with the expected manner of recovery of the investment
properties.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2020, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$45,706,000 (2019: HK$47,167,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$4,606,000 (2019: HK$8,143,000) will
expire in five years from the year they were incurred.

HETHBRARBAMRPREKEZREY

4 5H1,324,824,000 T (=T — (L& :
1,413,227,000 70 ) « H EBE X 7 B &
FERAREMERANIIDLENZ - MIEBRA
MELE - AEENERSREMERTN
B ERER - (2RI E Y78 B ANk
MO ERRBE -

FEMSHEETABRBREF=ERA
RIERB A S ML ATEE 2 HIERIBE
BR - N_BE_TF=A=+—H 2#H
HEBRRIELERSH & E#X 45,706,000
BIT(ZZT— A ¢ 47,167,000 7T ) 7] LA £
R ER 4582 o &2 T 7 18 E5 18 49 4,606,000 /8 7T
(ZZ— 145 :8,143,0008 L) R EL F
EBRAFRED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

22

23

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of approximately HK$47,533,000 (2019:
HK$46,929,000) and approximately HK$7,066,000
(2019: HK$6,390,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately HK$288,076,000 (2019:
HK$284,419,000) that can be carried forward
indefinitely and approximately HK$28,263,000 (2019:
HK$25,558,000) that will be expired in five years from
the year they were incurred respectively.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

22 EEFRBHEE (&E) (&)

23

ANEE I G4 288,076,000 T(—ZE—H
F 1 284,419,000 7T ) 2 Bt 1A &5 18 FE R &Y
47,533,000/8 7t (= Z — L : 46,929,000
BID) ZIRIEFTISTREE * %S Al AER
HA 45 88 - & 4928,263,000 t(=— &F — fu
% : 255580008 L) 2 HIBEEERLD
7,066,000 ;T (= Z — /1. : 6,390,000%
T IREFTSTEE  HEREEFTERR
FRRRR

ggﬁ@ﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁ%@%xZﬁ%ﬂ

2020 2019

=t St 22 —

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT THERT

At beginning of year REF) 144 286
Change in fair value recognised in REMEEBARERZ

other comprehensive income (Note 34) RAFBEEE (K77 34) (82) (142)

At end of year RFE R 62 144

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, which is stated at fair value and denominated
in HK$, represents shares listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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25

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

e BRI

4 BAABEFARRSZSMEE

2020
—?—Ts'qz

2019
—E-NF
HK$’'000
TET

HK$’000
TET

Structured bank products, at quoted
price (Note)

RRBMRITEMRBRE(WE)

15,820 36,698

Note:

The investments in structured bank products were denominated in
RMB. Changes in fair value were recognised in “other gains — net” in
the consolidated income statement. As at 31st March 2020, structured
bank products of RMB 11,000,000 (equivalent to HK$12,001,000) (2019:
Nil) was pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

B =E -

HEEMBTERREAAREE - 2ABEEZHREG
AEHKR MY FR PR - R_E_ZTF=4
=+—HB  #BHRITERARE 11,000,000 T (HE R
12,001,000 ) (ZE—NF : B)BIEAREEENE
Bz AR mIEE I -

INVENTORIES 25 78

2019
—Z-NF
HK$'000
FET
Finished goods IFK 349,751 289,156
Work in progress ER 5,108 1,503
354,859 290,659
The costs of inventories recognised as expenses #491,992,552,0008 70 (& — j1¢ :

and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated 2,533,767,0008 L) ZIFEKAE #ER
income statement amounted to approximately Y WEEHAGERBREXY (ﬁﬁ%}iz$j

HK$1,992,552,000 (2019: HK$2,533,767,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net
realisable value. As at 31st March 2020, there is a
provision of HK$12,452,000 (2019: HK$15,035,000)
was net off with the inventories in the consolidated
statement of financial position. A reversal of provision
for impairment of inventories of HK$2,229,000 (2019:
provision for HK$1,594,000) was included in “cost of
sales” in the consolidated income statement.

oo

AEERBRTFENIEFERELETFEM
HERZREE RE_EF=A=1+—
B —HEEE12,452,00087L (ZZE—H
& : 15,035,000/ 70) MHL AT MK
FHFE - - FEREREREEZ2,229,000%
7T (ZE—NF : B41,594,00087T) B
JA%AE s [SHERA] F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRI

26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 26 EWERARAKERE
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET
Trade receivables e R K

— from third parties —REE=F 302,689 436,887

— from an associate and —REBE AT &
a joint venture &R — 20,049
Bill receivables JE U 2= 15 75,148 46,801
Less: Provision for impairment B RERE (18,905) (23,214)
Trade and bill receivables - net FEUREBR A R =45 — /558 358,932 480,523

Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open
account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice
date is as follows:

HEYUEREXAEGERZEERETNE
17 EEH—MNTFOEWQHNTSE -

EW R R EEREZEZ B ZRE ST
T

2020 2019

—g-2f =t 2SI

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TET

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 276,458 340,981
61 to 120 days 612120 H 42,819 82,306
121 to 180 days 121 £180 H 20,419 39,709
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 14,668 16,813
Over 365 days B8 365 H 23,473 23,928
377,837 503,737

Less: Provision for impairment W ORERE (18,905) (23,214)
358,932 480,523

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the aging from billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 26 BWERRRERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and FEURBR 2N N = R B EE E T

bill receivables are as follows:

2020 2019
—E-%F —EF-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
At 1st April N = 23,214 22,726
(Reversal of)/provision for B
impairment, net (Be[E),/ Btk (3,020) 4,262
Write off during the year as uncollectible 4 Afi$5 A1~ Al Ug =] (281) (2,283)
Currency translation differences BHEER =5 (1,008) (1,491)
At 31st March R=A=+—H 18,905 23,214
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables FEWER R EERE EESEEERN -
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2020. “EF=-A=+—HBZAREBEMES -
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables FEWER R ERFHE 2 RESBEUTYEE
were denominated in the following currencies: =HE :

2020 2019

i —EF-hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FET

RMB AR 158,292 238,736
HK$ BT 197,931 226,068
US$ ETT 2,654 15,719
Other HAit 55 —
358,932 480,523
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

27 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27 FENFIE - - e RHEMEWRR
RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
—?—vﬁz :i—j‘tﬂf
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THERT FTET
Prepayments for purchases AT REFIR 52,490 79,129
Prepayments for property, TERYE - BE
plant and equipment K& IR — 133
Rental and other deposits e RHAMES 14,670 16,890
Value-added tax recoverable A] U [B] 1 B 7 22,476 22,718
Compensation receivable in relation to ﬂiJ@ﬁ 49 FE I
an unfulfilled contract BE (8 FIE — 2,915
Others Eﬁﬂ 10,245 12,709
99,881 134,494
Less: Non-current B - FEBNER (18,038) (19,084)
Current BN EH 81,843 115,410
The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and FENFIE e REMEKESR ZERSE
other receivables approximated their fair values as at BHHEN - ZE-_FEF=F=+—HZARAEBE
31st March 2020 and were denominated in the following HBE LATE\Jf"jiﬁ%,ﬁr@
currencies:

2020 2019

—7—7q£ :i—ﬂi

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FET

RMB AR 95,778 86,982
HK$ BT 3,502 47,072
uss$ ETT 583 241
Others Hib 18 199
99,881 134,494
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

28 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS

28 %?ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/ﬁ%&fﬁi%

2020 2019

—E-EF —E-hE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TR

Cash on hand FEES 147 210
Cash at bank RITER 113,527 165,449
Short-term bank deposits FEHASRITRE BRI K 15,508 —
129,182 165,659

Less: Pledged bank deposits o BEIRIRITEK (9,137) (38,884)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREeEE 120,045 126,775

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in the following currencies:

EEMRTEFREREMEEF

EHE

BATIE

2020 2019

—E-EHF —E-hE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TR

HK$ BT 75,965 76,182
RMB AR 20,069 69,082
us$ ETT 33,106 20,349
Others HAit 42 46
129,182 165,659

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and DR TERLAE S RESEEZ RES
cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair HEHHERNR-_ZE_EF=—HA=1+—HZARE
values as at 31st March 2020. BRE -

RIERZERHEBEF1.75% (—=F
—NE 1.11%) - ZETFHRAFHEEB
ABt++BE (ZE—NE: +—H) -

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 1.75%
(2019: 1.11%) per annum. These deposits have an
average maturity of 17 days (2019: 11 days).

As at 31st March 2020, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$9,137,000 (2019: HK$38,884,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

RZZE-TF=A=+—H AEEHR
TERKI /9,137,000 T (ZE—NIF :
38,884,000/87T) EEMERASEENR
B2 EMm -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

28

29

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31st March 2020, pledged bank deposits and cash
and bank deposits totalling approximately HK$18,556,000
(2019: HK$63,029,000) were denominated in RMB
and kept in banks in Mainland China. These funds are
not freely convertible in the international market with
exchange rate determined by the People’s Bank of China.

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 60
days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice
date is as follows:

28

29

BEMBRITER BRERREE
& (&)
R-B_RE=A=+—H  BEMRTE

AR & RIRITIF 50 E 418,556,000/
7T (ZZF— N : 63,029,000 L) AAR
BAETFERFR B AR - & 5B TEE

BEmSERL IR REEREFHEARRT

B -
ENERRRE

B RE R 2 (TR R S BB S A E
2RI BT {5 B — B T30 E 60
AR -

FEMEBRF R RBIRIBEEZA B ZRE DT
T

2019

ZE-NF

HK$'000

FTiExT

0 to 60 days 0&E60H 166,472 188,702
61 to 120 days 61 & 120 H 185 18
121 to 180 days 121 £ 180 H 70 174
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H = 22
Over 365 days #8348 365 H 202 177
166,929 189,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

29 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 29 ENRIREE(E)
The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables ENEREREE 7 ERSEEEN ST -F
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2020. FZA=+—BZAREEREE - BNEX
They were denominated in the following currencies: FEHEUTHEEHE :
2020 2019
—E-%F —EF-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
RMB AR 95,700 114,764
HK$ BT 3,119 26,412
USH X7 68,110 47,917
166,929 189,093
30 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 30 EtEEREHMENEER
PAYABLES
2020 2019
e —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTiExT
Accrual for employee benefit expenses E:HEEEFIS 10,235 14,597
Accrual for operating expenses JEETHS & 31,908 33,875
Rental deposits received BWEERS 14,676 16,725
Value-added tax payables JERTIEETE 1,495 2,868
58,314 68,065
Less: Non-current W, JERNER (11,144) (15,246)
Current B ER 47,170 52,819
The carrying amounts of accrued liabilities and other EitaEREMEMERRZERSEEAR
payables approximated their fair values as at 31st —E-TFE=A=+—HZAREBERS -
March 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

30 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 30 BErfEERHEMEMERER(E)
PAYABLES (CONTINUED)
Accrued liabilities and other payables were denominated st EE N EMEMERTRIA T EBE

in the following currencies:

2020 2019
“E-EE —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
HK$ BT 25,117 29,075
RMB AR 28,379 32,954
US$ T 4,818 6,036
58,314 68,065
31 BORROWINGS 31 B8
2020 2019
ZEZEE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTiExT
Current BNHA
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) —(EFEBIRRITE () 480,312 658,918
— Short-term bank loans (i) — R HRERITE R (i) 22,911 90,818
— Current portion of long-term — AN REASRITE K
bank loans, secured (ii) B EA (i) 57,332 37,974
560,555 787,710
Non-current JERNER
- Long-term bank loans, secured (ii) —RHRITER - HEME () 855,083 704,839
Total borrowings Ep-Eak 1,415,638 1,492,549
Notes: Bt sE
(i) As at 31st March 2020 and 2019, trust receipts bank loans and (i) R-E_ZTER_FT-NE=ZA=1+—8 ' 252l
short-term bank loans were secured by corporate guarantee. ERITER N EHIRTER AR TIERERR -
(i) As at 31st March 2020, the long-term bank loans of (i) R-ZE_ZTF=F=+—H ' £436,942,000/%
approximately HK$436,942,000 (2019: HK$484,616,000) were TL(=ZZ— N5 : 484,616,000 7T) 2 RHIRTE
secured by the pledge of the Group’s investment property of R AN EIR A Y E4)1,317,928,0008 (=&
approximately HK$1,317,928,000 (2019: HK$1,404,990,000) — L4 1 1,404,990,000% 7T ) fEE R (FT3E15) &
(Note 15) and corporate guarantee. The remaining long- R o F£42 475,473,000 T(ZT—h4E :
term bank loans of approximately HK$475,473,000 (2019: 258,197,000 L) 2 REAIRITERA L EER K
HK$258,197,000) were secured by corporate guarantee and MAEEREFHB AT RREZSVERRT -

Group’s equity interests in certain subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31 BE (&)
The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance NEBEEERNEFERR 2B ER @
with the repayment schedule: T

2020 2019
—?—vﬁz :ﬁ—j‘tf‘f
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Within one year 1R 560,555 787,710
Between one and two years 1224 47,300 91,158
Between two and five years 2FE5F 807,783 613,681
1,415,638 1,492,549

Borrowings were denominated in the following EELATYEEE :

currencies:

2020 2019
—?—qu :E—j‘tf‘i
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TEx FHERT
HK$ BT 710,716 822,565
RMB AR 459,853 554,516
US$ ETT 244,361 115,468
Others HAh 708 —
1,415,638 1,492,549

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) REH - EE2ERANER(EE)WOT

at the reporting dates are as follows:

RMB AREE 5.9% 5.8%
HK$ BT 4.3% 4.5%
Uss$ ETT 4.5% 4.0%
All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2020 are R-_E-_TEEFE=F=+—H' ' A&EBZMHAE
on floating rate basis and the carrying amounts of the ==y i’jﬁ;,;@ﬂw};ﬁ,%&1 EvEmS%EHE
borrowings approximated their fair values. HARBERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31 BE(&)

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn REBEUTARERZFEEERE :
borrowing facilities:

2020 2019
—E-%F —EF-hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FiExT
— expiring within one year ——F AR 745,445 451,468
— expiring beyond one year ——F&EH 60,820 250,755
806,265 702,223
32 SHARE CAPITAL 32 &K

Issued and fully paid
Authorised (Ordinary (Ordinary shares of
shares of HK$0.10 each) HK$0.10 each)
EE ERITRAE
(BR0.10BRTZEER) (B8R0.10BRT2EER)

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal

shares value shares value

gng 4= H{E R 8 E HE

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

F B FHExT FB& FExT

As at 31st March 2018 R-ZZE—N\F=HA=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,547 64,055

Exercise of share options 77 iE A% #E — — 685 68
As at 31st March 2019 RZE-—NEFR

and 2020 —ZET-TF=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 641,232 64,123
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has two share option schemes in which
the share option scheme adopted since 12th November
2001 (the “2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated
on 11th August 2011 and the other share option scheme
was adopted since 11th August 2011 (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”). Upon termination of the 2001 Share
Option Scheme, no further options will be granted
thereunder but in all other respects the provisions of the
2001 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and all
options granted prior to such termination shall continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance therewith.
The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date (i.e. 11th August 2011) and will expire
on 10th August 2021. The 2011 Share Option Scheme
may grant options to any person being an employee,
agent, consultant or representative (including executive
directors and non-executive directors) of the Group
to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time, excluding for the shares
issued on the exercise of options. The exercise price
will be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors
and must be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on the date of grant
of the options, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing prices of the Company’s shares quoted
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each.

33

e BRI

B

AARIZAMIBERETS  ERR=ZZTZ
—F+—A+_BRHAZERETE(=
T -FEREFIDERZZE——FN
A+—H&IL mME—EERESE(==
——FEREFE DR =_FE——FNA+—
BEM  — T —FREREEIKILEE B
TeBE_STT—FTEREBEFEREER
B EEAEAMERIDAETR - MR
SR IERTE N 2 T B BRI A B R A&
ERITEE - —F —— TR 8 2 B %
BEEMBEBHEIZZE—FNANA+—H)E
i BBt E YER_ZE-_—FN\A+H
JEW o —E——FHEREFE - HAIETE
MATEIARE ZES - RKEBA - BRI
R(BEWNTESRIERTES) BREIUR
BAQRZKRGD  BHRZAEADATEDEH
IR 2 30% + EFRA TN BERITERBRER
BIT2RG - TEEBBEARRESEET
s BELTIGESEBE  ()ARFK
MRELBREBH(MEAEXB)ESRD
BARZPABRARMFZWHE : (i) AR
ARMREBEERLEREABAAEZ XA
EBEBBAERZBR A FH 2 FHKH
B R(i)ARaRMNDEESRKR0.10ETT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 33 EIRE(E)
Movements of share options for the year ended 31st NEZE— EFE=HA=+—HItFEE#E
March 2020 were as follows: fo“m@mj—r
Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price per price 1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period share  per share (i) 2019 Granted lapsed  Exercised
BHE R-B-NE
BTES By BRTERE SROER() mA-A BY  #H/&¥ Bfif
HK$ HK$ 000 000 000 000
B B TR TR TR TR
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 0.928 0.928 3,100 = (1,000) = 2,100
19th January 2025
—T-1% “Z-af-AZTRZE
—A=1H “ZZRf-AThA
27th November 27th November 2013 to 1.300 1.043 1,246 = = = 1,246
2013 26th November 2023
“E-CF “E3-CHT-A-TtHZ
T-A=ftA ZERIZET-ACRA
16th November 16th November 2012 to 0.670 0.537 2,344 = = = 2,344
2012 15th November 2022
—Z-CF Sl e R
+-A+~A ZEZZET-ATHA
13th October 13th October 2009 to 0.504 0.404 12,206 = (12,206) = =
2009 12th October 2019
“EENE “EENETATZAE
TAT=H “E-NETATZH
18th September 18th September 2009 to 0.586 0.470 625 = (625) = =
2009 17th September 2019
—EENE “EENFNAT/\RE
NATNE “E-NEhATEA
19,521 = (13,831) = 5,690
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

33 BkE(E)

Movements of share options for the year ended 31st REE-_ZE—hE=F=+—HIEFEZE
March 2019 were as follows: Hﬂé@@bﬁDT :
Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price per price st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period share  per share (i) 2018 lapsed  Exercised 2019
LRE WZE-N\E R=B-NE
ETRE B BROEE() Iﬁ A a8/ RN 27ff =ZA=t-H
HK$ '000 '000 '000 '000
B T T TR’ T
20th January 20th January 2015 to 0.928 0.928 10,800 = (7,700) = 3,100
2015 19th January 2025
—Z-R% “Z-nE-A=-tHE
—A=tH _q_ﬂﬁ A+hA
27th November 27th November 2013 to 1.300 1.043 9,474 = (8,228) = 1,246
2013 26th November 2023
3% “E-ZE+-A-TtBZ
+—A-+tB —E-=E+-FA-fKEH
16th November ~ 16th November 2012 to 0.670 0.537 8,078 = (5,360) (374) 2,344
2012 15th November 2022
S t:3 “E-HT-AT/RAZE
+—A+xA “E-—#+-A+7A
13th October 13th October 2009 to 0.504 0.404 12,206 = = = 12,206
2009 12th October 2019
ZETNE Z2ENFTATZRE
TA+=R ZE-NETHATZH
18th September  18th September 2009 to 0.586 0.470 937 = = (312) 625
2009 17th September 2019
ZEENE “EENENATNBE
hATNA E-NENATER
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to 0.780 0.626 1,247 = (1,247) = =
18th June 2018
“ZTNE “ZZ\EXATNAZE
~ATRA —“Z-\E~ATNA
42742 = (22,535) (686) 19,521
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬁ

33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 33 BRE(E)

Note: Bt

(i) The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior (i) BE_ZZT—FERENIR - ——FHERE
to 17th December 2014 under the 2001 Share Option Scheme ZN T —FE+ - A+t HA MR 2 BIREH
and 2011 Share Option Scheme were adjusted for the open offer BIIEEER T —NF+-ATKAREEEL
completed in December 2014. FHEE o

No options were exercised and 13,831,000 share REBEE_ZE_ZEF=A=+—HLEFERN "

options were lapsed during the year ended 31st BEEREEITE ﬁﬁ13 831,000 17 i &

March 2020. During the year ended 31st March 2019, HERM - REBEZE-_E—NhF=A=+—H

options exercised resulted in approximately 685,000 IEEER - Efﬂiﬁﬁﬂxﬁ%%ﬁi’JBBS 000 fi%

shares being issued, at weighted average exercise R LA NBEF 51T E R E®EAX0.58 T

price of HK$0.5 per ordinary share with total proceeds (T TS RRIBAEEE 54)344,0008 7T © 17

of approximately HK$344,000. The related weighted FEREENEIESTEEA£068BIT - RN

average price at the time of exercise was HK$0.68. HE_ZT—NF=ZA=+—BLFER &

During the year ended 31st March 2019, approximately 22,535,000 1 BB AR E B K%K -

22,535,000 share options were lapsed.

No share options were granted during the year ended BE_ T ZTF-_A=+—HItFE #H&=
31st March 2020 (2019: Nil). REERBRE(CZ—NF : &) -
34 RESERVES 34 f#fe

Financial

through

other

Share Capna\ )
Share option edemptio Statutory Capital Other f n Retained
premium Teserve eserve (i) est Teserve Teserve Teserve eamings

ERpd
BhERE ) HERE() B i Efag
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$1000
Thn B £ BT B TEn
At 1st April 2018 425,869 10232 80,624 16,748 58,355 (15,703) (203) 66,874 346,180 988,976
Loss for the year = = = = = = = = 13,688 13,688
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - (69,029) - (69,029)
Change in financial assets
atfair value through other
comprehensive income
(Note 23) - - - - - - (142 - - (142)
Appropriation of statutory
1ESENVes = = = 1275 = = = = (1,275) =
Share-based payment ‘,Mﬂ«% 5G] - 2311 - - - - - - - 231
Exercise of share options fiieEhE 34 (108) - - - - - - - 276
Lapse of share options X - (5,244) - - - - - - 5,244 -
Dividends paid to owners of
the Company = = = = = = - = (10,067) (10,087)
At 31st March 2019 RZF-NE=A=1-A 426,253 7191 80,624 18,023 58,355 (16,703) (345) (2,155) 353,980 926,223
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

34 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 34 f#E(E)

Financial
assets at
fair value
through
other
comprehensive Cumulative
income foreign
Share Capital fair currency
Share option redemption Statutory Capital Other value translation Retained
premium reserve reserve (i reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
RAREE
FARE
hAzER
& BE20M 2t
B BERRE  HERE®)  ZEER() Bxdk RHRE A Eisg @A ]
HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
T TR Tin T T TR Tin T TAn Tin

At 1st April 2019 426,253 7,191 80,624 18,028 58,355 (15,703) (345) (2,155) 353,080 926,223
Changes in accounting
policy (Note 2.2) - - - - - - - - (3,239) (3,289)
Restated balance as at
1st April 2019 426,253 7,191 80,624 18,023 58,355 (15,703) (345) (2,155) 350,741 922,984
Loss for the year = = = = = = - = (90,309) (90,309)
Currency translation differences - - - - - - - (80,042) - (80,042)
Change in financial assets
at fair value through other
comprehensive income
(Note 23) - = - = = = (82) - = (82)
Appropriation of statutory
TESEIVes - - - 4 - - - - (45) -
Share-based payment - 1,996 - - - - - - - 1,99
Lapse of share options - (1,336) - - - - - - 1,336 -
Dividends paid to owners of
the Company - - - - - - - (12,825) (12,825)
At 31st March 2020 426,253 7,851 80,624 18,068 58,355 (15,703) (427) (62,197) 248,808 41,722
Notes: Ptz
(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund (i) EEREINARPERNME THB AT R 2D
and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in BHEBES R —RERES - IBPEAMERET
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, B R BRI R &L 2 B AT BERERT
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are BRI B A EREER ) BRE RO TN EBRE
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after BEES R —MREBHES HEXITHEEAESSE
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve T o —MEEED T AEEEERRIEMRAE - m
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their EEREEES A B EZ ML o

respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may
be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.

(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established upon (i) BANIE O B B AR D B AR ST o
repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

35 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35 RERERER
FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income (@) FRFTSBIAI(ERE) IRFIELE T
tax to net cash generated from/(used in) B (A 2RSS TEHEENT :

operations is as follows:

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETEHAT(BE) SRR (86,535) 17,826
Share of results of investments JEIE IR R A BR
accounted for using the equity 2B EE
method - net — 55 12,947 (19,276)
Interest income 2 WA (1,216) (4,920)
Interest expenses B X H 79,616 80,638
Depreciation of property, VI - BRE R
plant and equipment ZIE 40,669 43,195
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZITE 23,979 —
Gain on bargain purchase arising DREEWKE—ENE AR
from the acquisition of a subsidiary  E4£ 2 WERBWZE — (18,554)
Gain on disposals of property, HEME - BER&E
plant and equipment 2 Wz (48) (1,008)
Gain on modification of lease MEE 2 K= (109) —
Unrealised exchange (gain)/loss BIRMEH (W), B8 (2,963) 16,860
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiary HEKE AR ZEE, (k) 41 (5,313)
Impairment losses of goodwill EEREEE = 2,494
Impairment losses of property, VI - BB R
plant and equipment ZRIERE 20,000 1,181
Amortisation of land use rights 3 {6 PR 2 8 8 = 202
Amortisation of intangible assets B E N 1,109 1,511
Fair value loss/(gain) KEYEZ AAEE
on investment properties BB () 88 (108,865)
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment J& U8Rz & SRR E (B )),~
of trade and bill receivables - net B — 58 (3,020) 4,262
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment 17 & & (&),
of inventories - net B — 58 (2,229) 1,594
Share-based payment VAR 15 B BB 2 ST A~ 1,996 2,311
Reversal of provision for BERY
onerous contracts 2 B AR E — (40,656)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

35 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35 MEBREREK(E)

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income (@) BRFIEHAI(EHE) RFELE T
tax to net cash generated from/(used in) B (R ZRSSEYEERAOT :
operations is as follows: (Continued) (&)

2019
—E-NE
HK$'000
FET
Operating profit/(loss) before EEESEBAIZKE
working capital changes Wi (Ea) 84,325 (26,516)
— Inventories —FE (67,303) (2,627)
— Trade and bill receivables — R ER R R 88 111,405 30,459
— Prepayments, deposits and —JERFIE - Be Rk
other receivables H b e U BR 3R 34,613 66,200
— Amounts due from joint ventures —EUE E R RFRIA — (2,403)
— Trade and bill payables —ERERREE (14,467) (116,810)
- Receipts in advance —JaU FRIA 23,340 3,782
— Accrued liabilities and —EErEER
other payables H Ath FE A BR 5K (9,829) 10,993
Net cash generate from/ BERE (A2
(used in) operations RE&FE 162,084 (36,922)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REFEEHERERT » HEWXE -

proceeds from disposals of property, plant and BMERZEZFESHRIERRE

equipment comprise:

2020 2019

—ECEHE —E-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FET

Net book amount (Note 14) BREDFERE (ML 14) 88 1,483

Gain on disposals of property, plant HE&EME  BMEMEEZ

and equipment (Note 7) Wk (Hiat7) 48 1,006
Sales proceeds of disposals of HEME - KEREZHES

property, plant and equipment $HE TS IR 136 2,489
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

35 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35 RERERER(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) METBZEEHE
activities

Liabilities from financing activities
RMETHEE
Borrowing  Borrowing
due within due after Lease

1 year 1 year liabilities Total

—F R —F&
BBz ER  EIHIZER AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FET

Net debt as at R-ZE—NF

1st April 2018 WA—BZ#ER 947,565 611,292 — 1,558,857
Proceeds from RITIEE

bank borrowings FriS3k18 55,997 254,372 — 310,369
Repayment of BIRIRTT

bank borrowings ge (120,531)  (129,683) —  (250,214)
Net decreased in trust  EsEWIERITER

receipt bank loans FER (90,962) — — (90,962)
Other non-cash HIER &

movements BE) 3,621 2,759 — 6,380
Foreign exchange SNGE

adjustments FEE (7,980) (33,901) — (41,881)
Net debt as at RZZE—NF

31st March 2019 —A=+—HZFE® 787,710 704,839 — 1,492,549

Recognised on adoption RERANEEHHRE
of HKFRS 16 (Note 2.2) 8|5 16 3z FER
(FFsE2.2) — — 50,275 50,275
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

35 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 35 RERERER(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) METB2EEHER(E)

activities (Continued)

Liabilities from financing activities
METHEE
Borrowing Borrowing
due within  due after Lease

1 year 1 year liabilities
—FR —F#%
AR DMZER HEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THERT FHEx

Net debt as at RZE—NF
1st April 2019 M A— B2 FER 787,710 704,839 50,275 1,542,824
Proceeds from bank RITIEE
borrowings Fr13 308 24,002 446,766 — 470,768
Repayment of bank EEIRTT
borrowings Te (87,469) (247,240) —  (334,709)
Net decreased in trust EEUWIRIEITER
receipt bank loans RERR (178,606) — —  (178,606)
Additions NE =S = 12,849 12,849
Interest expenses HEaE
on lease liabilities MEZ — — 2,147 2,147
Payment for lease HEAE
liabilities L — — (25,774) (25,774)
Other non-cash HEfmIERE
movements b 20,504 (19,634) (11,954) (11,084)
Foreign exchange SNEE
adjustments Bk (5,586)  (29,648) (351)  (35,585)
Net debt as at RZE_TF
31st March 2020 =A=+—BZ%&E% 560,555 855,083 27,192 1,442,830
(d) In the consolidated statement of cash flow, (d) REGERERER  HEMBIT 2
proceeds from modification of a lease BHIEEIE
comprise:
2020
g 323
HK$’000
THET
Carrying amount of respective HEEREEE
right-of-use assets REE 11,845
Carrying amount of respective EEEEERE
lease liabilities REE (11,954)
Net gain on modification of a lease  FAEE:] = Wk F4E (109)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL 36 WERHE

(a) Disposal of He Tai Steel Co., Limited (“He Tai”) (a) HEM=HBAER QT (M=)

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE#&EA

On 17th April 2019, Green Success Global Limited
(“Green Success”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and an independent
third party entered into a sales and purchase
agreement pursuant to which the independent
third party agreed to acquire and Green Success
agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of
He Tai, which is principally engaged in trading of
recycling steel in Hong Kong, at a consideration
of HK$15,000,000. A loss on disposal of He Tai
of HK$41,000 was recognised for the year ended
31st March 2020.

Upon completion of the transfer of shares of He
Tai from Green Success to the independent third
party on 30th April 2019, He Tai ceased to be an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

An analysis on loss on disposal of He Tai is as
follows:

RZE—NAFEOA+ERH &
ARAIZEEE2ZENBAAGreen
Success Global Limited ( [Green
Success| ) BBV E=FFIVEE
Wz Bt BUYE=HEREWKE
MGreen Success/iE R E HEME
(FERBARZTEELWEHE) 2
e #TRA - KER15,000,000/8
JC o ME MK ZEEA1,0008 TER
BE_ZE_ZF=-A=+—HLEE

B Green Success®—Z— N M A
—t+tRAERBMEZRHEZEIE L
FE=FH1% MELBARNAFZEE
2EMEAR -

HEMRZEBEITOT

HK$'000
FiExT
Consideration received as at disposal date: REERPZBEKRRE :
— Cash received —BlR% 15,000
— Direct expenses —BEXH (15)
14,985
Assets: BE -

— Property, plant and equipment —WE - BB R (15,026)
Total identifiable net assets disposed BEEMHBIEERE (15,026)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BIBRR &S (41)
An analysis on net cash flows arising A EEANBSRFEINAT

from the disposal:

Net cash consideration REFERE 15,000
Less: Ve

Deposit received Blize (1,500)

Direct expenses paid EfEESZH (15)
Net cash inflow from the disposal HE—HRBARZESRAFHE

of a subsidiary 13,485

ERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL (CONTINUED)

(b) Disposal of Changshu Baoshungchang

(c)

Steel Processing Co., Ltd. (“Changshu
Baoshungchang”)

On 26th July 2019 and 30th September 2019,
WS Holdings Limited, VSC (China) Investments
Limited, indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, and Shanghai Bao Shun Chang
International Trading Co., Ltd, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company (together as “Vendors”)
and a third party and a director of a subsidiary
of the Company (together as “Buyers”) entered
into sales and purchase agreements pursuant
to which the Buyer agreed to acquire and the
Vendors agreed to sell an aggregate of 59.99%
equity interests in Changshu Baoshunchang Steel
Processing Co., Ltd., an associate of the Group,
at consideration of US$2 and RMB1 respectively.
The carrying amount of the investment in this
associate as at 31st March 2019 was nil. The
transfer of 59.99% equity interest in this associate
was completed on 8th November 2019.

Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited

On 30th April 2018, NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd.
(“NatSteel”), VSC Steel Processing Limited (“VSC
Processing”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company), VSC Steel Processing Holdings
Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), the Company and VSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited (“VSC Construction”,
previously known as TVSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited) entered into an agreement
for certain arrangement in relation to VSC
Construction, among others:

e ISR M R

36 WBEREEGE)

(b)

(c)

HEFREIRERMM NI ARLF
([HRHEIEE )

RZE—hhFLtAZZF+A~ABEZ_ZF
—NLFENLA=+H WS Holdings
Limited - BIEE (FE) BREBAR
AE (BARAREEZ2ENBAR)
FEBBIEEHBRESERARF (&
ApalzEERBAR) (KiE (&
Al ) BE—Z2F =K ZHEA
AWNES (i [BEX] ) sTVEE
W Bt BERAREWRE MEA
BEHERERABIBEMMMNIA
RAar (AAEBEZBEAR) &4
59.99% 2 kAR - RERHAHIR2
ETRAREIT - RZE—NF=H
=t+—H ZBERARIZKEEREEAE
BT o BRI S NR)259.99%
ERZZE-NAFET+—HANBTK -

588 VSC construction Steel Solutions
Limited

R—ZZF— \FWMAH=+H ' NatSteel
Holdings Pte. Ltd.([NatSteel]) -
SIEE#MM N THR AR EIEE
MIMI) ARG sHEZERBA
7)) BIEE MM I TIERBRAE (A
RElZHEZEMBAR)  XAF
K VSC Construction Steel Solutions
Limited ([VSC Construction] - B8
TVSC Construction Steel Solutions
Limited) 57 32 # 3% * W& & BVSC
Construction 2 & T& 5 - EF81F :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/-ﬁ

B MR M

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL (CONTINUED)

() Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel

Solutions Limited (Continued)

(i) each of NatSteel and VSC Processing has
agreed to subscribe for 45,000,000 shares
of VSC Construction at HK$1 per share
respectively (the “Share Subscriptions”); and

(i) following the completion of the Share
Subscriptions, NatSteel transferred the legal
and beneficial interests of all its shares of
VSC Construction held or owned by NatSteel
at a nominal consideration of HK$1 payable
by VSC Processing.

The Group satisfied the Share Subscription of
HK$45,000,000 through the conversion of amount
due from a joint venture into capital contribution
and such conversion formed a part of the
investment in VSC Construction as at 31st March
2019.

The transfer of shares from NatSteel to VSC
Processing was completed on 9th May 2018, since
then VSC Construction has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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36 WERHEGE)

(c)

18 VSC construction Steel Solutions
Limited (&)

(i) NatSteel R BIEEHM T & B
BAEDERER1ETREVSC
Construction Z 45,000,000 A% A% {7
(TR REWEIR]) - &

(i) MR REEFEIBETKIEZ  NatSteel
R EAFTRIS B < TB VSC
Construction i 17 2 /= & & B &=
Exm o BIEERMMIESZ SR
BHERE1ET -

AEEZEBRBHER —FEE<ERQF
45,000,000/ 7T Z X H
BB HRBRESEE-
R-ZZE—NAF=ZA= + EI
Construction & & 2 — &% °

NatSteel A =& — /\F 5 A N B T E
ZRMGTEIEEMMINT - B#VSC
Construction i X B4R A& 2 EEZ= &K
BARa -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL (CONTINUED) 36 WERHE(E)

(c) Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel (c) UEEVSC construction Steel Solutions
Solutions Limited (Continued) Limited (&)
The following table summarises the consideration TRBEMNUEE B BE U 2 R (E -
paid for the acquisition, the fair value of assets kB EE MFTREABHEASANE
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition B -
date.
HK$'000
FiExT
Consideration: RKE :
— Cash paid —BffRE —
— Fair value of 50% shares held — AR BT 50% I’ 2
by the Company AAfEE 18,699
18,699
Less: Net assets acquired at fair value of: B BARBEYE Y
FEERR -
— Property, plant and equipment —WE - BB R 29,167
— Trade and other receivables, — R RAEMEWERR - 2R
deposits and prepayments TR RIE 10,643
— Cash and cash equivalents -BRekREEE 47,497
- Pledged bank deposits — BEHEFRITIER 1,156
— Inventories —FE 6,804
— Trade and other payables — N R E AT AR K (32,710)
— Borrowings — &8 (5,308)
— Amount due to the Group —ERNASERR (19,996)
37 253
Gain on bargain purchase I E 2 e 18,554
An analysis on net cash flows arising HIERWEEIEES 2
from the step acquisition: BWe DT
Net cash consideration RENBEFHE —
Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired e FrEReE RS 47,497
Net cash acquired from the acquisition of WiE—FHB AR 2 FTERS
a subsidiary T R 47,497
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R AR M R

36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Acquisition of VSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited (Continued)

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HK$114,237,000 and net loss of HK$36,123,000 to
the Company for the period from 10th May 2018 to
31st March 2019. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1st April 2018, the consolidated revenue and
consolidated profit after tax of the Company for
the year ended 31st March 2019 would have been
HK$2,884,447,000 and HK$3,003,000 respectively.

Disposal of Vantage Godown Company Limited
(“Vantage”™)

On 30th November 2018, the Group disposed
of its 100% equity interest of Vantage to an
independent third party at a consideration of
approximately HK$5,900,000.

Vantage is principally engaged in provision of
warehousing services in Hong Kong.

An analysis on gain on disposal of a subsidiary is
as follows:

36 WERLEE)

(c)

(d)

18 VSC construction Steel Solutions
Limited (&)

FrkEEBEN _ZE—NEFRATHEE
—E-NF=ZA=+—BHEAEAR
7 B Bt U A 114,237,000 7T & &5 18
7H%836,123,000/8 7T © i W& E B RN
—E-N\FMOA—BELE ARARH
E-T-NEF=ZA=+—HILEEFEZ
BRI BEERARLEE RTIED B A
2,884,447,000 % 7t & 3,003,000 7T ©

HEIEXEERRAT([NES])

RZZE—N\F+—A=+H ' ~&£H
ER—2BYFEF="FTHEERIER 2
100% f&#E + 1B A%75,900,000 8T °

IB% E ZRNEBLERHAERY -

HE—FMNBARZ a2z 2T

HK$'000

FET

Consideration received as at disposal date REE A2 B E 5,900
Assets and liabilities: BERARE:

- Land use rights — T b fsF R 95

- Property and equipment e/ EY &L 2

- Deferred tax asset —BEMRIAEE 490

Total identifiable net assets disposed BEEN#AEEFEERE 587

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary mE—RHKTB ARz WaE 5,313
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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36 ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL (CONTINUED) 36 WERHE(E)

(d) Disposal of Vantage Godown Company Limited (d) HEEZHSEERAB(IESR])
(“Vantage”) (Continued) (%)
An analysis on net cash flows arising from the EHEEEEMRSMFEIFAT :
disposal:
HK$'000
FTET
Net cash consideration REFERE 5,900
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed W EERERAEEE —
Net cash inflow from the & —fHK B AR
disposal of a subsidiary ZEREBMA SR 5,900
37 COMMITMENTS 37 EiE
(@) Commitments under operating leases (a) EXEHEERE
(i) Lessor () HHEA
The Group leases investment properties AREERBERARE 2 ZEEMRD
under non-cancellable operating lease B EME - BYAEHGE
agreements. The lease agreements are B ATTISEEELS -
renewable at the end of the lease period at
market rate.
Total commitments receivable under various SRR EME] N 2 %150 A
non-cancellable operating lease agreements HEEHE 2RI AERLTE DN
in respect of rented premises are analysed R
as follows:

2020 2019

—ECEHE —E-hEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FTHET

Not later than one year RE1E 22,493 30,829

(i) Lessee (i) FEHEA

The Group leases various retail shops, AREERBERNARE 2 ZEERLY
offices, warehouses and sites under non- AEZEEE HAE BEEK
cancellable operating lease agreements. The THb o KEFH 4 n] £ 18 8 /@ m
majority of lease agreements are renewable BUATEHEEZESE B=-ZE—
at the end of the lease period at market FOA—HE  ANEBEDERZ
rate. From 1st April 2019, the Group has EHECFHREEE ERHH
recognised right-of-use assets for these ERRIN o E—HER BT -

leases, except for short-term leases. See
Note 17 for further information.
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37 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 37 AIE(E)

(@) Commitments under operating leases (a) &XHBEERE(E)
(Continued)

(i) Lessee (Continued) (i) A (&)
Total commitments payable under various TEBALMEBEERE(ZZE— N
non-cancellable operating lease agreements FpEEFHE BIAE B8
in respect of short-term and low-value leases N THb) &l S22 & 15 1S Al s
(2019: in respect of retail shops, offices, SEMHAZENAERLTE ST
warehouses and site) are analysed as TR @
follows:

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FiExT
Not later than one year Rign1F 54 28,258
Later than one year and not later #1145 KRAK#5F
than five years — 29,751
54 58,009
(b) Capital commitments (b) EAXEIE
Significant commitment contracted for at the end RMERARSFTNERRERBBEK
of the reporting period but not recognised as mEE S N afEE 2 BRI A 2 B RKEYE
liabilities or capital contribution to the associate is NN
as follows:

2020 2019
g g 2:3 —Z-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THERT
Contracted but not provided for: ERTAE AR -
- renovation work for an investment  — — A EYEZBE TR
property 62 1,403
Commitment to provide funding for  IRERNEEL D FEAR
associate’s capital commitments, FE 2R
if called 30,348 —
30,410 1,403
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) Transactions
The following is a summary of significant related

party transactions, which were carried out in the
normal course of the Group's business:

38

B HRR M

an\

HEBRIZRS
@) X5

RAKBELEEEHBREDE
BALRZHEWT ¢

E1T 2 EXEA

2020 2019
HK$ 000 HK$'000
F#&T FET
Management fee income for RERETEE
services provided to joint ventures ~ RAFIZEEBUA (i) 35,703 40,800
Sales of goods to: HEEmT :
— a joint venture ——M&&E AT (i) — 3,256
— an associate il AN (iii) 6,365 76,489
6,365 79,745
Purchase of goods from: BEERAE -
— a joint venture ——fEAERAT (iv) — 189
— an associate ——MBEAR (v) 15,178 56,856
15,178 57,045
Rental expense paid to NHF—HEEeE
a joint venture NI i k- (vi) 1,045 191
Notes: fEzE -
(i) During the year ended 31st March 2020, management 0) BE-_ZT_ZF=-A=+—HLFE ' A

services were provided by Hongkong and Shanghai Land
Capital Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, to
a joint venture at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

During the year ended 31st March 2019, management
services were provided by Hongkong and Shanghai
Land Capital Limited and VSC Steel Processing Holdings
Limited, indirect subsidiaries of the Company, to joint
ventures at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

(i) Goods were sold by VSC Steel Company Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company to VSC
Construction, a joint venture of the Company, at prices
mutually agreed by both parties. The Company acquired
the remaining 50% equity interest of VSC Construction
and it becomes an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company upon completion of the acquisition on 30th April
2019. See Note 36(c) for details.

ARBN—HEEZEHNEAREEBBEERAR
ERAARESTAEZBRA—MaER
AR 2 B R

RBE-Z-NF=A=+—HLLFE"
EEZK’/}TE’]%?&W%QT/E/’éi@5§$ﬁ
BRAREEIRSHMM M ITZERBERA
ETRBEZERMAERARRMRZE EEHE
& o

(ii) AARRMN—BHEZENBAREIES
WEBRARHEE TARR —BEEQF
VSC Construction 2 EfmiZEHRE &
FEULER o A2 R E Y g VSC Construction
BT 50% Mz - MEAER-ZE—NFHEA
_JrEHﬁZ@%%ﬁWéEW%ZK’AET%ﬁ%EW
BAw - 715 RMEE36(c) °
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38 EHEE K 2R 5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Transactions (Continued) (a) XHB(&\)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : (&)
(i)  Goods were sold by Shanghai Bao Shun Chang (iiiy ZARQFIH—HEENBARLESEIEER
International Trading Co., Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of WESERATIAEFREZ BRAEE
the Company, to an associate at prices mutually agreed NRIEEEY -

by both parties.

(iv)  VSC Steel Company Limited and He Tai Steel Co., Limited, (iv) AARMHEEZEHEAMBAREIESH
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, HAEBR AT RMNZMEBER A ANE@BE
purchased goods from a joint venture at prices mutually FREZEBRA—THEEARIEBESR -

agreed by the relevant parties.

(v)  Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International Trading Co., Ltd., (v) ARAEm—HEREMNBEARLEEIEEHR
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, purchased goods BESARATNEFRE ZBERR—RE
from an associate at prices mutually agreed by both BME N NTEEER -
parties.

(vi) Rental expenses were paid by FBRESEEEGRA (vi) HBARFNEENBARLERELRET
A, EBFBEEMELLERAR and XEREZH (LF) BARAR . LEFEEHESLERA
BPRAR], indirect subsidiaries of the Company, to a joint AR KERELRAN EB)ERARAXMNTF
venture, for providing rental service at prices mutually —Me&RazHeYH  BEAHREZ
agreed by both parties. ERRERERS

(b) Key management compensation (b) FEEHEE RN
2020 2019
—BCEF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FTET

Salaries and allowances e KoER 13,527 14,282

Bonus 4L 3,659 5,483

Pension costs - defined RIREKA—-RE

contribution schemes HRET & 343 315

Share-based payment VAR 0 R B i 2 ST A = 33

17,529 20,113
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39 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39 HAREE

In carrying out the ordinary course of business, MRBFESBRESR  ANEEEYEEKER
the Group is subject to the risk of being named as FiA RERFEMAABEES 2R o HA
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in EEREEZEAEEFHEETEQEAEFIR
connection with its business activities. The nature TRIEEMRITHBIEEZEERRZ - KEH
of the legal proceedings initiated against the Group EIERER - MBEB RIS &R &
mainly includes claims for compensation by the ERAEFMZEHREB 2 IR BERENREE
Group’s existing or former employees for work related BFR _ZE-_ZTF=ZA=+—H(CZZ—Hh
injuries. The Group maintains insurance cover and, F R RS T e ARNEEERKEANREH
in the opinion of the directors, based on current B2 o

available evidence, any such existing claims and legal

proceedings against the Group are not expected to

have significant adverse financial impact to the Group

as at 31st March 2020 (2019: Same).

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

RARMBRRE R EEEE

2020 2019
—_ 7 —= ﬂi :i_ﬂi
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FERT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR ZKE 642,820 657,564
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and B FIE ~ e REA
other receivables JE W AR 3R 92 66
Cash and cash equivalents BekReE 1,094 802
1,186 868
Total assets WEE 644,006 658,432
Equity s
Capital and reserves attributable to  &NATAFEEABERAK F#E
owners of the Company
Share capital A% 7R 64,123 64,123
Reserves i 579,151 593,456
Total equity ERBE 643,274 657,579
Liabilities =K
Current liabilities REBAE
Accrued liabilities and other payables — FET & &R EMERERER 732 853
Total equity and liabilities ERRAEHESE 644,006 658,432
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40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 40 KAATBBRRERRFEEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (48)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) AAFBEEH
Capital
Share Share  redemption Contributed Retained
premium option reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
ROEE  BRERE SXRORE NS REEF it
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TARL TARL TERL TR TR TR
Note (i) Note (ii)
M (1) M (i)
At 1st April 2018 RZE-N\¥ 425,869 7,691 80,624 53,986 38,189 606,359
MA—A
Loss for the year FEER = — — — (3,178) (3,178)
Share-hased AR R ERE
payment S - 56 - - - 56
Exercise of share {7 HMkIE
option 384 (108) = = = 276
Lapse of share option EEMRERM — (5,244) — — 5,244 —
Dividends paid BERkRE = = — — (10,057) (10,057)
At 31st March 2019 RZZ—NF 426,253 2,395 80,624 53,986 30,198 593,456
=RA=t+-H
Loss for the year ~ FEES - - - - (1,480) (1,480)
Lapse of share BREXN - (1,336) - - 1,336 -
option
Dividends paid BRRE = - - - (12,825) (12,825)
At 31st March 2020 WZT=FF 426,253 1,059 80,624 53,986 17,229 579,151
=R=1+-H
Notes: BHEE
(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established (i) BB O FHED R AR DR -

upon repurchase of shares.

(i)  The contributed surplus of the Company represents the (i)  AABBABRBRIERUE B BKERE D
difference between the aggregate of the nominal values a2 D EE AR AN A A 31T A
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of TR EEMEE =5

acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies BERBHEMNI BIBEEREE—NAN—FQ
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus FERIEET) » MARBIFA 5D T B%
is also available for distribution to shareholders. However, B oo SR () AR BT EE R BRE K
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make TRESZ MBI ZEBE (i) AR A 27 &
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) the Company WEEERAREABNMDBITRALKG
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its WERzMAE  BARKAT T EEEARG
liabilities as they become due; or (i) the realisable value R EIRSR RS SFEE DK ©

of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.
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